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Continuous ExpansionContinuous Expansion

Year after year, Ultrapar has been reaching new levels, ensuring its leadership position 

obtained through a sense of opportunity, differentiation, management excellence and 

credibility. 

Ultrapar has walked along a path paved with major achievements, result of an 

entrepreneurial spirit, a pioneering approach, and above all, a focus on continuous 

improvement. Each new action is the result of a previous step, with such a link that 

contributes to maintaining the company financially sound, prepared to face a more 

challenging economic environment, keeping its trajectory of sustainable growth and value 

creation to all stakeholders.

Ultrapar begins 2009 ready to capture the benefits from the strategic investments 

made during the past few years that positioned the company among the most solid 

conglomerates in Brazil. 

By preserving the culture of leadership in its businesses, keeping alive the values and ethical 

principles in its way of doing business, Ultrapar is proud of its history of value, accomplished 

expansions and consistency of results. Ultrapar is also proud of its soundness, derived from 

past and present actions, that supports the view to the future.
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UltraparUltrapar
ultrapar

With a track record of over 70 years, Ultrapar is one of the most solid business 

groups in Brazil, with leading positions in the markets in which it is present. The 

company operates in the fuel distribution business through Ipiranga and Ultragaz, 

in chemicals through Oxiteno, and in logistics through Ultracargo. 

Ultrapar operates throughout the Brazilian territory. Outside Brazil, Oxiteno has 

industrial units in Mexico and Venezuela and commercial offices in the United 

States, Argentina, and Belgium. Approximately 10,000 employees work for Ultrapar 

in Brazil and abroad.

Since 1999, Ultrapar’s shares have been traded on the São Paulo Stock Exchange 

(BM&FBovespa), under the ticker UGPA4, and its ADRs (American Depositary 

Receipts) have been traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), under the 

ticker UGP. The company’s sound financial position allows it to be assigned a Baa3 

credit rating by Moody’s, equivalent to the investment grade.
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In 2008, we concluded an important cycle in Ultrapar’s 

continuous and sustainable growth process. Following 

the strategy of expanding the scale and increasing 

competitiveness in the sectors in which we operate, we 

carried out acquisitions and completed expansion projects 

that were carefully conceived and developed over the past 

few years. 

MEssagE froM thE ManagEMEnt
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As a result, at the end of 2008 Ultrapar was stronger and better positioned to explore 
market opportunities. Focusing on value generation since the beginning of our history, 
we have strengthened our leading position in the markets in which we operate while 
maintaining our prudent financial management.

We consolidated our position as the largest private fuel distribution company in Brazil 
through the agreement for the acquisition of Texaco’s fuel distribution business in 
the country. The transaction is part of Ultrapar’s expansion strategy for its distribution 
business, initiated in 2007 with the acquisition of Ipiranga’s brand and fuel distribution 
business in the South and Southeast regions of Brazil. With the acquisition of Texaco, we 
achieve nationwide coverage by expanding our operations to the Mid-West, Northeast 
and North of Brazil, regions with growth rates above the Brazilian average. 

MEssagE froM thE ManagEMEnt

MEssagE froM thE ManagEMEnt

From left to right: Pedro Wongtschowski and Paulo G. A. Cunha.
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extracted from the palm seed. This new unit, with capacity 
to process approximately 100,000 tons per year, allows 
Oxiteno to advance in the process of replacing imported 
raw materials with an important additional component: the 
use of renewable raw materials instead of oil derivatives, a 
more biodegradable product with reduced environmental 
impact, addressing society’s increasing demand for 
sustainability.

Leader in the LPG (liquefied petroleum gas, or cooking 
gas) distribution segment in Brazil, Ultragaz has kept its 
focus on the strategy of constant improvement of its 
operational efficiency, optimization of costs and expenses, 
and growth in market niches. In addition, in line with the 
planning designed in 2007, Ultragaz started in 2008 its 
expansion to new markets where growth rates are higher 
than the national average, in the Brazilian states of Pará and 
Maranhão.

With the acquisitions and investments in organic expansion, 
we ended 2008 among the largest business groups in Brazil, 
with net sales of R$ 28 billion, 42% higher than in 2007. 
Consequence of its bold operational strategy of taking 
advantage of expansion opportunities, Ultrapar has already 
become the largest company in the wholesale sector in 
Brazil. New investments made both in organic expansion 
and acquisitions positioned Ultrapar to continue its path of 
growth over the coming years.

The organic investments carried out in 2008 amounted to 
R$ 978 million, as part of the expansion investment plan 
aiming at reinforcing the scale growth of all Ultrapar’s 
businesses. In Ipiranga, R$ 229 million were invested 
especially in the expansion of the company’s distribution 
network through the opening of new service stations 
and conversion of unbranded service stations. In Oxiteno, 
we invested R$ 516 million mainly in the expansion of 
its production capacity. In Ultracargo, in addition to the 
acquisition of União Terminais for R$ 519 million, we 
invested R$ 56 million in the expansion and maintenance of 

The expanded distribution network will have more than 5 
thousand service stations, with approximately 22% market 
share, allowing important benefits from operational and 
administrative economies of scale, in addition to new 
commercial opportunities resulting from the nationwide 
coverage. The combination of Ipiranga and Texaco allows 
a better positioning to grow and stronger competitiveness 
through the larger operational scale. The acquisition of 
Texaco should allow, for example, improved efficiency and 
competitiveness in sales and distribution processes, dilution 
of advertising, marketing and new products development 
expenses, and economies of scale in administrative functions. 
Through these elements, Ultrapar aims at generating 
profitability in the combined business at least at the current 
levels of Ipiranga.

In the logistics segment, we completed in November 
the acquisition of União Terminais. This is a milestone in 
Ultracargo’s history: the acquisition doubled its size in terms 
of EBITDA, consolidating its position as the largest company 
of terminals for liquids in Brazil, strengthening its operational 
scale and increasing its opportunities for growth. With this 
acquisition, we expanded our presence in the port of Santos, 
the largest Brazilian port, and we are now strategically 
positioned in the ports of de Rio de Janeiro and Paranaguá, in 
which we did not have operations. 

We also made significant investments in the organic 
expansion of our businesses. In the chemicals business, we 
started up in 2008 new units and expanded capacities at 
Oxiteno, which significantly increased its production capacity, 
thus ensuring Oxiteno’s leadership in Brazil and deepening its 
growth strategy in the specialty chemicals segment. Oxiteno 
is already the leader in its segments in Mexico and Venezuela 
as well, its first operations outside Brazil. 

Combining a pioneering approach with innovation and 
sustainability, in 2008 Oxiteno started up its oleochemical unit. 
This is the first Latin American plant of this kind, producing 
fatty alcohols and their by-products from palm kernel oil, 
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Additionally, we distributed dividends of R$ 238 million for 
the fiscal year of 2008, representing 61% of the consolidated 
net earnings for the year.

The investment plan for 2009, excluding acquisitions, 
amounts to R$ 528 million, R$ 239 million of which to be 
invested in Ipiranga, R$ 175 million in Oxiteno, R$ 36 million 
in Ultracargo, and R$ 69 million in Ultragaz. At Ultragaz 
investments will be mainly allocated to the renewal of LPG 
bottles and tanks and the strengthening of its operations 
in the North and Northeast regions of Brazil. At Ipiranga 
investments will be mainly allocated to expansion and 
renewal of its fuel distribution network, operational 
improvements, and the Texaco brand switching in a portion 
of the acquired network. Investments at Oxiteno consider 
basically the expansion of ethylene oxide production 
capacity at Camaçari and modernization of its facilities. At 
Ultracargo investments will be directed towards operational 
improvements and expansion of its terminals.

During 2009 we will be focusing on capturing the benefits 
of the acquisitions of Texaco and União Terminais and 
of capacity expansions at Oxiteno, through increased 
operational and financial scale and a widened range 
of products and services offered, which will generate 
significant growth and value creation. Reliability and 
adherence to the strategic planning, strengthening of the 
capacity to generate value-added revenues and soundness 
are fundamentals that permeate Ultrapar’s management. 
We are stronger to face a more challenging macroeconomic 
environment than that of the past few years and we are in a 
privileged position to move forward in the path of growth 
we have been following throughout the more than 70 years 
of our history. 

PAULO G. A. CUNhA
Chairman of the Board of Directors

PEDRO WONGTSChOWSkI
Chief Executive Officer

the existing terminals. In Ultragaz we invested R$ 167 million, 
mainly in the expansion of its LPG bulk distribution system 
(UltraSystem) to commercial and industrial sectors.

Ultrapar’s EBITDA amounted to R$ 1,079 million in 2008, 
up 38% on 2007, as a consequence of the consolidation of 
Ipiranga’s EBITDA from 2Q07, the growth in Ipiranga and 
Oxiteno, and the consolidation of União Terminais from 
4Q08. Net earnings amounted to R$ 390 million in 2008, 
more than double the amount of 2007, as a consequence of 
the growth in Ultrapar’s EBITDA and the temporary effects 
on net debt and minority interest related to the acquisition 
of Ipiranga in 2007.

The gains of scale and size that we provided to our 
shareholders were obtained without changing the prudent 
financial management that has characterized the DNA of 
Ultrapar. All acquisitions and all organic growth projects were 
conducted in strict compliance with careful evaluations of 
return on investment. At the end of a cycle of acquisitions and 
significant investments, the company continues to present 
a comfortable indebtedness level, which is reflected in its 
investment grade rating assigned by Moody’s. 
 
In addition to our financial soundness and to our size, we have 
resilient businesses, allowing us a differentiated position in 
a more challenging environment. Ultragaz distributes LPG, 
a good of first necessity. The growth prospects of Ipiranga 
in 2009 are based on an additional demand derived from 
the enlargement of the Brazilian fleet that already occurred 
throughout 2008. Oxiteno benefits from the combination of a 
depreciated Brazilian Real and lower international oil prices in 
these times of weaker economy. 

The resilience of our businesses to an economic slowdown 
and the privileged position for earnings growth, consequence 
of the initiatives implemented in the past few years, reflected 
in the trajectory of Ultrapar shares throughout 2008. While the 
Ibovespa index depreciated by 41% in 2008, Ultrapar shares 
fell by 19%, a relative performance 22% above the Ibovespa. 
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KEy indiCators and highlights

ACQUISITIONS

•	 Agreement	for	the	acquisition	of	Texaco’s	fuel	
distribution business in Brazil for R$ 1.2 billion, 
continuing the expansion in this segment started with 
the acquisition of Ipiranga in 2007.

•	 Acquisition	of	União	Terminais	for	R$	519	million,	
which includes the assumption of R$ 32 million in net 
debt. The acquisition doubles the size of Ultracargo, 
making it South America’s leading company in the 
liquid bulk storage, strengthening its operational and 
financial scale, and increasing Ultracargo’s presence in 
Brazilian ports.

ORGANIC ExPANSION 

•	 Completion	of	the	capacity	expansion	projects	at	
Oxiteno enables sales volume growth and the capture 
of gains from increased scale, as well as enriches the 
company’s product mix.

•	 Start	up	of	the	new	oleochemical	unit	marks	a	
pioneering step in the production of fatty alcohols 
from palm kernel oil in South America.

•	 Ultragaz	expands	its	activities	in	Pará	and	Maranhão,	
taking advantage of the benefits of LPG consumption 
growth in the North and Northeast regions of Brazil.

•	 Number	of	unbranded	service	stations	converted	/	
new stations at Ipiranga grew 29% on 2007 and 144% 
on 2006.

RESULTS

•	 Ultrapar’s	net	revenues	increase	five	times	over	two	years,	
as a result of a strategy of acquisitions and investments in 
organic expansion.

•	 Ultrapar’s	EBITDA	increases	38%	compared	to	2007,	
reaching R$ 1,079 million, surpassing the R$ 1 billion mark 
for the first time.

•	 Ultrapar’s	net	earnings	amount	to	R$	390	million,	up	115%	
compared to the previous year.

CAPITAL MARkETS

•	 Ultrapar’s	free-float	increases	from	39%	to	64%	of	its	 
total capital.

•	 Average	daily	trading	volume	rises	from	R$	12	million	in	
2007 to R$ 26 million in 2008, an increase of 125%.

•	 New	level	of	share	liquidity	enables	Ultrapar	to	become	
part of the Ibovespa and the MSCI indexes. 

FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS

•	 Moody’s	assigns	its	Baa3	credit	rating	to	Ultrapar,	
equivalent to investment grade. 

•	 Standard	&	Poor’s	reaffirms	its	credit	rating	of	BB+	for	
Ultrapar, just one notch below investment grade, and 
changes its outlook from stable to positive.
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kEY INDICATORS
	Information	about	the	impacts	of	the	adoption	of	Law	11,638/07	and	Provisional	Measure	449/08,	and	the	effects	of	the	acquisitions	of	
Ipiranga and União Terminais on the economic and financial information throughout this report can be found on page 92.

R$ million (1) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Ultrapar (2)         

Net sales 1,878 2,285 2,995 4,000 4,784 4,694 4,794 19,921 28,268

EBITDA 304 373 487 498 737 546 516 779 1,079

Net earnings 128 132 222 246 414 299 282 182 390

Investments (3) 179 208 413 404 284 219 320 2,687 1,516

Dividends declared 49 212 65 72 164 157 144 241 238

Earnings per share (R$) 2.42 2.49 3.62 3.54 5.95 3.73 3.47 2.19 2.87

Dividends per preferred share (R$) 0.98 4.28 1.09 1.11 2.36 1.94 1.78 1.78 1.78

Number of employees (end of the year) 5,602 5,748 5,876 6,465 6,724 6,994 6,885 9,653 9,496

Ipiranga (4)         

Sales volume (‘000 m3) - - - - - - 10,521 11,170 12,074

Net sales - - - - - - 19,027 19,394 22,676

EBITDA - - - - - - 351 417 603

Investments (3) - - - - - - 148 166 229

Productivity	(EBITDA	R$/m3) - - - - - - 33 37 50

Oxiteno         

Sales volume (‘000 ton) 428 446 434 474 518 525 544 656 567

Net sales 686 832 956 1,238 1,663 1,610 1,550 1,765 1,926

EBITDA 132 177 233 243 421 300 192 157 210

Investments (3) 51 43 249 90 86 94 179 476 470

Productivity	(EBITDA	US$/ton)	 169	 169	 184	 167	 278	 235	 162	 123	 202

Ultracargo         

Effective storage (‘000 m3) 189 186 184 196 204 221 240 279 335

Net sales 94 105 131 177 197 234 226 229 283

EBITDA 26 28 29 40 41 44 38 43 51

Investments (3) 11 25 36 40 92 41 35 52 534

Ultragaz         

Sales volume (´000 ton) 1,288 1,345 1,303 1,362 1,549 1,531 1,544 1,572 1,601

Net sales 1,126 1,381 1,943 2,623 2,968 2,902 3,067 3,113 3,339

EBITDA 141 163 220 208 269 195 281 252 211

Investments (3) 117 140 127 272 99 83 105 129 167

Productivity	(EBITDA	R$/ton)	 109	 121	 169	 153	 174	 127	 182	 160	 132

Capital markets         

 Number of shares (‘000) (4) 53,000 53,000 69,691 69,691 69,691 81,325 81,325 136,096 136,096

 Average daily trading volume (R$ 000) (5) 981 787 1,233 1,586 3,731 5,524 4,591 11,780 26,476

	Price	at	BM&FBovespa	(R$/share)	(4) 18.50 18.70 24.90 37.29 51.00 32.50 48.99 63.00 50.82

	Price	at	NYSE	(US$/ADR) (4) (6) 8.38 7.70 6.70 12.73 19.81 13.93 23.00 34.64 22.49

(1) Except where otherwise indicated.
(2) Except where otherwise indicated, Ultrapar’s figures in this report include the consolidation, from April 2007, of the assets acquired from Ipiranga.
(3) Total investments including acquisitions.
(4) End of period figures, adjusted for a reverse stock-split that took place in August 2005.
(5) Considers the combined trading on the BM&FBOVESPA and the NYSE.
(6) 1 ADR = 1 preferred share.

ultrapar annual rEport 2008
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Ultrapar’s growth and value generation strategy is based 

on the expansion of operational scale with differentiation, 

combined with a sound financial position. 

ManagEMEnt ModEl and stratEgy
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Behind the business strength achieved by Ultrapar over decades of activity is the 
perception that the continuous progress of its businesses and the strengthening of its 
business environment depend on the sustainable value generation for the company’s 
stakeholders. This is a permanent focus, which guarantees the future of the company and 
whose regular practice makes Ultrapar a business group recognized for its reliability.

Ultrapar adopts a flexible and efficient management model supported by two guidelines: 
(i) centralization of the strategic directives and long-term planning and (ii) autonomy of 
the business units to conduct their operations.

ManagEMEnt ModEl and stratEgy

ManagEMEnt ModEl and stratEgy
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ManagEMEnt ModEl and stratEgy
This model, combined with a lean organizational 
structure, gives the company agility in its decision making 
process and, at the same time, assures that the initiatives 
taken are fully consistent with the characteristics of 
each business segment in which Ultrapar operates. Its 
deployment allows Ultrapar to generate value to all its 
stakeholders and reach increasingly higher, sustainable 
standards of operational, technological, administrative, 
and financial excellence.

For decision making, the company is supported by 
management tools with recognized results. Ultrapar uses 
the EVA®, which allows it to view the gains from value-
added generation and aligns variable compensation of 
its executives to its growth targets. It also uses Balanced 
Scorecard®, a tool that translates strategy designed 
for the company into operational goals, divided into 
financial, market, internal process, learning and growth 
goals. 

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE



21 >

Based on these tools, Ultrapar’s business units have 
distinct management structures suited to the specific 
business models of their activity areas. Processes and 
programs are also designed and conducted according to 
the characteristics of each segment. 

Ultragaz, a pioneer in introducing marketing processes 
and commercial initiatives into the LPG market, adopts 
decentralized commercial management in order to allow 
a better fit to the different regional characteristics. The 
same principles are applied to Ipiranga.

The management of Oxiteno is based on functional 
cells providing improved interaction among the 
development and commercial areas, an interaction 
essential to maintain its leadership in a segment 
marked by technological development and 
innovation. 

Ultracargo, in turn, has dedicated teams to 
provide services to each market where it operates, 
developing expertise to offer customized services 
with a high degree of specialization.

ManagEMEnt ModEl and stratEgy

STRATEGIES OF ThE BUSINESS UNITS 

Ipiranga

•	 Economies	of	scale,	through	acquisitions	and	
conversion of unbranded service stations, to 
improve profitability and competitiveness

•	 Investments	in	the	resellers	network	to	differentiate	
itself from competitors by improving the quality of 
services

•	 Investments	in	marketing	and	advertising	to	
strengthen Ipiranga’s brand

Oxiteno

•	 Investments	in	technological	development	and	
innovation

•	 Focus	on	expanding	the	production	capacity	and	
enhancing the company’s product mix

•	 Internationalization

Ultracargo

•	 Gains	of	scale	through	acquisitions
•	 Expand	presence	in	markets	with	high	growth	

potential and resistant to economic fluctuations
•	 Increase	operations	at	the	Brazilian	ports

Ultragaz

•	 Positioning	in	regions	with	greater	potential	for	
consumption expansion

•	 Focus	on	continuous	improvement	in	operational	
efficiency

•	 Differentiation	from	competition	through	the	
quality of its services 
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The pioneering approach in adopting differentiated corporate 

governance practices is an important part of Ultrapar’s 

strategy, and has its origins in the quest to align interests of 

shareholders and executives, aiming at the sustainability and 

longevity of the company. 

CorporatE govErnanCE
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In 2008, the company, which was already part of the Level 1 of Corporate Governance on the 
BM&FBovespa, decided to join the Level 2, thus reinforcing the company’s commitment to the 
capital market and recognizing the substantial expansion of its shareholder base, due to the 
consolidation of all listed companies of the former Ipiranga Group into Ultrapar. Notwithstanding the 
levels adopted, Ultrapar has governance practices that exceed requirements for the BM&FBovespa’s 
Levels 1 and 2, particularly the tag along rights to all shareholders at 100% of the price offered.

Since 1999, the preferred shares of Ultrapar have been traded on the BM&FBovespa and its Level III 
ADRs have been traded on the NYSE. In addition to complying with the requirements of Brazilian 
regulatory agencies, Ultrapar discloses its financial statements in accordance with the United States 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (USGAAP).

CorporatE govErnanCE

CorporatE govErnanCE
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CorporatE govErnanCE
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors 
at Ultrapar were separated. As a result, Paulo Cunha 
became exclusively the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and Pedro Wongtschowski took over as the 
CEO of Ultrapar.

Ultrapar has the philosophy of making its executives 
shareholders of the company. Through a stock ownership 
program, whereby some executives are vested with the 
beneficial ownership of preferred shares held in treasury 
and are entitled to all rights inherent in such shares. 
Ownership of the shares is retained by the company for 
a pre-set period and once it elapses, ownership of the 
shares is then transferred to the executive.

The Board of Directors, in charge of guiding the business, 
has been composed since 2008 of eight members, five 
of them independent. During the year of 2008, the Board 
of Directors held 14 meetings, 9 of which were devoted 
to discussing exclusively company’s strategic matters. 
The Executive Board, composed of the Chief Executive 
Officer, the Chief Financial and Investor Relations Officer 
and the Chief Executive Officers of Ipiranga, Oxiteno and 
Ultragaz, carries out the integrated management of the 
businesses in accordance with the guidelines defined 
by the Board of Directors. Ultrapar has a permanent 
Fiscal Council, which also performs the functions of an 
audit committee. It is composed of five members, two 
of them representatives of minority shareholders – one 
of them representing preferred shareholders – and three 
representatives of the controlling shareholders.

Since its IPO in 1999, Ultrapar has maintained regular 
contacts with its public in appropriate forums, including 
conference calls to discuss quarterly results and 
participation in conferences and roadshows for investors 
and analysts in Brazil and abroad. The company also 
makes information available at its Investor Relations 
website.

The company is also compliant with the requirements of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOx), which regulates mechanisms that 
guarantee the transparency of companies listed in the United 
States. Since 2007 Ultrapar has obtained the SOx certification 
under section 404, attesting to the efficiency of its internal 
controls with regard to the company’s financial information.

An example of Ultrapar’s pioneering approach in adopting 
good corporate governance practices is the guarantee of 
100% tag along rights to all shareholders, provision that 
ensures equal treatment to all shareholders in the event of 
change of control of the company. This practice was adopted 
by Ultrapar in 2000, just one year after its IPO and before 
tag along rights became mandatory by the new Brazilian 
Corporate Law, which is limited to shareholders with voting 
rights and restricted to 80% of the agreed offer value (law 
implemented in 2001). 

Ultrapar is also a pioneer in granting preferred shareholders 
the right to be represented in the Board of Directors since 
2002 – one of the requirements of Level 2 of Corporate 
Governance on the BM&FBovespa. In the same year, 
Ultrapar anticipated the decision of the Brazilian Securities 
Commission (CVM) by voluntarily introducing rotation of 
independent auditors.

The company’s relationship with its stakeholders is governed 
by a Code of Ethics. Such document drives the professional 
conduct of the employees of the companies that constitute 
Ultrapar. It sets a clear standard of internal and external 
relationship, thus reducing the degree of subjectivity in the 
interpretations of ethical principles. In 2008, the Code of Ethics 
was also adopted by all the employees of Ipiranga, which was 
acquired by Ultrapar in 2007 and had not yet formally adopted 
this tool of alignment of values within the company. 

The history of good corporate governance practices 
also includes professionalization of its management, a 
process initiated in the 70’s. In 2007, the roles of Chief 
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Constant evolution in corporate governance standards has 
led Ultrapar to be awarded several prizes and recognitions, 
both in Brazil and abroad, attesting its continuing quest 
to align interests and its commitment to the rights of all 
shareholders, as well as transparency in the disclosure of 
information. Among the market recognitions, we highlight 
the title of Second Most Shareholder-Friendly Company by 
Institutional Investor Magazine. The market recognitions 
were also extended to Ultrapar’s Executive Board: in 2008, 
Pedro Wongtschowski, Ultrapar’s Chief Executive Officer, 
was elected for the second consecutive year by Institutional 
Investor Magazine number two in the ranking of Best CEO 
in the Oil & Chemicals category and André Covre, Ultrapar’s 

Chief Financial and Investor Relations Officer, was elected 
the Best CFO in the same category. Pedro Wongtschowski 
also received the Executive of Value Award in the Chemical 
and Petrochemical Sector, granted by the newspaper 
Valor Econômico, and sector leader in the Chemical and 
Petrochemical Sector, granted by the International Leaders 
Forum. In 2008 André Covre was elected chairman of the Latin 
American Corporate Governance Roundtable’s Companies 
Circle, a study group sponsored by the Organization for 
Economic Co-operation and Development – OECD, in 
cooperation with the IFC (International Finance Corporation) 
and the BM&FBovespa, aiming at developing corporate 
governance in Latin America.

Total capital | Voting capital

OWNERShIP STRUCTURE
  Common shares % Preferred shares % Total % 

Ultra S.A. 32,646,694 66% 12 0% 32,646,706 24%

Others 16,783,203 34% - 0% 16,783,203 12%

Free float - 0% 86,666,090 100% 86,666,090 64% 

Total 49,429,897 100% 86,666,102 100% 136,095,999 100% 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chairman
Paulo Guilherme Aguiar Cunha
Vice-President
Lucio de Castro Andrade Filho
Board members
Ana Maria Levy Villela Igel
Luiz Carlos Teixeira
Nildemar Secches
Olavo Egydio Monteiro de Carvalho
Paulo Vieira Belotti
Renato Ochman

FISCAL COUNCIL
President
Flavio César Maia Luz
Members
Edson Pena Júnior
Mário Probst
Raul Murgel Braga
Wolfgang Eberhard Rohrbach

ExECUTIVE BOARD – ULTRAPAR
Chief Executive Officer
Pedro Wongtschowski
Officers
André Covre
João Benjamin Parolin
Leocádio de Almeida Antunes Filho
Pedro Jorge Filho

FINANCIAL BOARD
Chief Financial and Investor Relations Officer
André Covre
Director of Treasury and Information Technology 
Marcello De Simone
Corporate Controller
Roberto kutschat Neto

ManagEMEnt
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Corporate governanCe

ExEcutivE Board – ultracargo
Chief Executive Officer  
ricardo isaac catran
Controller
João Marcos cazula

ExEcutivE Board – ultragaz
Chief Executive Officer  
Pedro Jorge Filho
Controller
Julio cesar Nogueira
Regional Sales Director 
ivan luis Bonini
leandro del corona
oswaldo Francesconi
Director of Operations
Plínio laerte Brás

ExEcutivE Board – iPiraNga
Chief Executive Officer  
leocádio de almeida antunes Filho
Marketing Director
ricardo carvalho Maia 
Director of Operations
José augusto dutra Nogueira 
Controller
José Manuel alves Borges

ExEcutivE Board – oxitENo
Chief Executive Officer 
João Benjamin Parolin
Industrial Director
Flávio do couto Bezerra cavalcanti
Commercial Director
rubens Marcilio Júnior 

From left to right: João Benjamin Parolin, andré covre, Pedro Jorge Filho, leocádio de almeida antunes Filho and Pedro Wongtschowski.
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Ultrapar adopts a continuous and integrated risk management 

process in order to protect employees, the environment, 

business partners and its assets, ensuring the value creation for 

its shareholders and directly contributing to the sustainability 

of the business. The process of risk management aims at 

identifying, preventing and monitoring the risks that may 

impact the activities of the company.

risK ManagEMEnt
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risK ManagEMEnt

Financial discipline and sober and careful management regarding risks and costs 
are characteristics on which all decisions taken by Ultrapar are based. As part of its 
risk management, Ultrapar has a series of internal controls aligned to international 
standards through the compliance with the requirements of SOx. Decisions on new 
investments are carefully analyzed using management tools adopted by the company, 
specially the EVA®, and are shared among the company’s departments.
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suppliers, the main raw material used in its processes. 
Ultragaz and Ipiranga have contracts with Petrobras for their 
fuel supply.

Ultrapar’s business units adopt high standards of operational 
safety and environmental quality control in its facilities. 
Both Oxiteno and Ultracargo are signatories of ABIQUIM’s 
(Brazilian Chemical Industry Association) Responsible Care 
Program® for chemical industries and their partners. The 
program defines standards to be followed in the supply 
chain management, safety and environmental issues. 
Ipiranga was the first fuel distributor in Latin America to 
obtain the ISO 14001 certification back in 1998 and Ultragaz 
implemented a system for managing environmental risk that 
is based on the requirements of ISO 14001.

In addition to the policies and operational procedures 
adopted, Ultrapar commonly hires insurance companies 
to mitigate risks. The criteria for hiring insurance policies is 
defined by a management action matrix, which considers 
the probability of occurring each event and the possible 
outcome, helping to establish appropriate protection 
measures.

The lean and close-to-operations management structure 
contributes to keeping the development of activities 
and projects consistent with the applicable planning and 
policies. Ultrapar’s business portfolio itself – fuel distribution, 
logistics and chemicals business – is a factor that mitigates 
operational and economic-financial risks. Such division 
substantially reduces Ultrapar’s exposure to sector variations 
and macroeconomic instabilities.

Ultrapar maintains a Risk Management and Financial 
Investment Committee, composed of the Chief Financial 
Officer and the Executive Officers of each business. Such 
committee guides the activity of the company’s treasury, 
which operates centrally and aims at supporting the 
operations of each business unit. The committee has 
been in place for more than 10 years and meets regularly 
to discuss exposure limits, risks inherent to financial 
activities and new financial products, among other issues.

Ultrapar’s financial management philosophy privileges 
liquidity and credit quality, having its cash invested in 
financial institutions with track record of sound credit 
position. Its foreign exchange hedge instruments are 
made with the sole purpose of protecting the company’s 
exposure to foreign exchange risks. As a consequence, 
the volume of foreign exchange hedges is compatible 
with the company’s net foreign exchange rate exposure, 
which includes its assets and liabilities in foreign currency 
and the short-term sales of Oxiteno in dollars. In 2008, 
aiming at formalizing the directives adopted by the 
company for many years, the Board of Directors ratified 
Ultrapar’s Risk and Financial Investment Policy.

Regarding its operations, Ultrapar has risk management 
policies that consider relevant factors intrinsic to the 
markets in which the company operates, in addition to 
macroeconomic variables.

Ultrapar has supply contracts with its key suppliers as 
a way to mitigate the feedstock shortage risk. Oxiteno, 
for example, has long-term contracts with its ethylene 

risK ManagEMEnt
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During its more than seven decades of existence, Ultrapar 

has developed strong links with its strategic stakeholders 

and based its actions on ethical principles and transparency. 

The continuous effort in pursuing corporate excellence, with 

sustainability and social responsibility, is a prime example of 

the company’s purpose of enhancing its relationship with 

interested parties.

rElationship with staKEholdErs
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Ultrapar has reached its outstanding position in the sectors in which it operates 
through its permanent focus on value generation for those involved in its value 
chain.

Therefore, the objective is to consolidate pillars in order to maintain a sustainable 
network of relationships, through initiatives such as its human resources and 
supplier relationship policies, the offering of conditions for the development 
of products and services, capturing, on the other hand, productivity, efficiency, 
and excellence in products and services. The links with customers were built on 
mutual respect and reliability through a constant improvement process guided 
by quality and excellence.

rElationship with staKEholdErs

rElationship with staKEholdErs
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of innovation and internationalization. Another 
program developed by Oxiteno is the Individual 
Development Plan, which encourages its employees to 
promote a deeper reflection about their careers. This 
program is part of the DNA Project, an internal skill-
management program.

Ultracargo has implemented the in-company 
development program Formação de Líderes (Forming 
Leaders), with the primary goal of training the 
company’s new leaders in matters related to strategy, 
people and process management, safety and the 
environment. The program uses experienced internal 
instructors and accredited external training institutions, 
such as IMAN (“Instituto Manoel Alves Novaes”).

One of the examples of its focus on professional 
training is Ultragaz Academy, which is based on the 
concept of a corporate university, through partnerships 
with Fundação Getúlio Vargas (FGV) and the University 
of São Paulo (USP). It offers training programs to the 
areas of business management, strategic planning, 
consumer services, controlling and marketing.

In order to align objectives, recognize good 
performance, and retain its talents, Ultrapar’s business 
units offer variable compensation plans based on the 
achievement of performance indicators defined by the 
Balanced Scorecard® and measured by EVA®. 

Ultrapar offers to its employees a private pension plan 
– Ultraprev. In September 2008, Ipiranga’s employees 
started to participate in Ultraprev. During the year, 
Ultrapar’s business units’ and employees’ contribution 
to Ultraprev amounted to R$ 7.6 million and R$ 10 
million, respectively. Technical reserves for the pension 
plan, combining net worth and contingency reserves, 
amounted to R$ 146.2 million by the end of 2008.

rElationship with staKEholdErs
PEOPLE MANAGEMENT
Ultrapar would not have achieved the success 
over its more than 70 years of growth and market 
leadership if it did not have talented and skilled 
professionals, willing to deal with the challenges that 
have arisen over the course of the company’s history. 
The capability of Ultrapar’s workforce is the result of 
both the efforts of its staff and the human resources 
policy based on valuing its employees, encouraging 
professional growth and seeking to achieve alignment 
in terms of the company’s values and strategies. 
The fact that many of the professionals sitting in the 
Executive Board started their careers in internship or 
traineeship programs at Utrapar evidences in practice 
the success of such policy.

Ultrapar has always based the relationship with its 
employees and all other stakeholders on ethical 
conduct. At the end of 2008, Ultrapar had 9,496 
employees working at Ipiranga, Oxiteno, Ultracargo 
and Ultragaz throughout Brazil and also at Oxiteno’s 
offices and industrial units in Argentina, Belgium, 
United States, Mexico, and Venezuela. Ultrapar had 399 
employees working outside Brazil at that time.

Ipiranga annually sponsors its Programa Geral de 

Treinamento – PGT (General Training Program), which 
offers in-company training in line with the company’s 
strategy and needs, together with scholarships for 
post-graduate and language courses. In 2008, the PGT 
reached approximately 65% of its staff.

In 2007, Oxiteno created the Programa de Formação em 

Gestão Estratégica da Inovação Tecnológica (Program of 
Education in Strategic Management of Technological 
Innovation), together with Fundação Dom Cabral, 
which grants scholarships to employees aiming at 
developing and strengthening the company’s culture 
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SUPPLIERS AND DEALERS
The relationship of Ultrapar with its suppliers and dealers 
is governed by ethical principles, good relationship 
practices, sharing of its entrepreneurial view and practices 
to promote sustainable development. The alignment 
between Ultrapar and its partners, supported by these 
principles, contributes to mutual development and shared 
value generation, thus creating a prosperity chain around 
the company.

In addition to maintaining quality standards in its 
processes, products, and services, Ultrapar’s suppliers 
must comply with strict requirements to act in 
partnership with the company, such as the requirement 
to maintain environmental impact management plans 
and prohibition of hiring employees under the age 
of 16, except as apprentices. In exchange, Ultrapar’s 
business units encourage and invest directly in the 
development of their suppliers.

rElationship with staKEholdErs
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thanks to the high standards of quality of its products and 
services. It is part of Ultrapar’s culture to seek the maximized 
fit of its supply to meet the specific needs of its clients.

Ipiranga differentiates itself from competition through 
the supply of additional services to its resellers and its 
large consumers, such as transportation companies and 
specialized resellers. It offers its clients, among other 
features, the possibility of installation and operation of 
in-house fuel stations.

Oxiteno maintains, at its Mauá plant, a Technology 
Center focused on developing solutions and products 
suited to the customer demand, such as the catalysts 
LTS and hTS-Ox for Petrobras, a notable product 
development.

Customized operations are also part of the market 
approach methods adopted by Ultracargo, which seeks 
to increase its tailor-made services by providing clients 
with internal logistics management for their processes. 
The acquisition of Petrolog in 2007, specialized in 
in-house logistics operations, was a significant move 
towards this strategy. In 2008, another significant step 
was its geographic expansion, through the acquisition 
of União Terminais, thus providing its customers with 
greater flexibility and availability of liquid bulk storage 
services.

Ultragaz was pioneer in the implementation of 
UltraSystem in Brazil, a business model that, among other 
benefits, ensures partnerships with its clients based on the 
reliability of its services. The system consists of installing 
stationary tanks at the costumer’s premises with supply 
remotely controlled by Ultragaz.

As an example of such practices, aiming at making its 
service stations network more competitive, Ipiranga 
adopts the Programa Gestão da Revenda – PGR 
(Management Program for Resellers), which offers training 
in marketing, finance, tax matters and environmental 
issues to resellers. With the same objective, Ipiranga 
extends to the service station attendants the training 
program Vendedores Ipiranga de Pista – VIPs (Ipiranga 
Pump Sales Attendants). This training program is given in 
a classroom in a minibus, allowing pump attendants to be 
trained on the service station itself.
 
Oxiteno annually awards the best performers among its 
transportation suppliers. The purpose of this award is to 
encourage transportation suppliers to continuously improve 
their services. 

Ultracargo also includes outsourced companies in its 
training sessions in transportation and handling of 
dangerous products in order to disseminate good practices 
in this matter.

Ultragaz extends training at Ultragaz Academy to its 
network of dealers. It also develops the program Soluções 

de Marketing Aplicadas à Revenda – SOMAR (Marketing 
Solutions Applied to Resellers), which evaluates operational 
procedures and seeks to increase profitability throughout 
its chain by improving efficiency. Carreta Ultragaz (Ultragaz 
Coach), a moving home built in a trailer truck, with a training 
area and experimental kitchen, is used to train the dealers’ 
employees.

CLIENTS
Throughout its history, Ultrapar has built a solid relationship of 
partnership with its clients, based on confidence and respect, 
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Ultrapar conducts its relationship with the communities adjacent 

to its units and with the society by acting as a transforming agent 

through initiatives that contribute to disseminating culture, 

education, and social inclusion. 

soCio-EnvironMEntal pErforManCE
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The efficiency of environmental management is part of this careful view that prioritizes 
improvement of productivity and efficiency, with a focus on innovation not only of its 
operations but also of its practices related to social and environmental aspects that benefit 
the society in general. 

Ultrapar’s actions are guided by a broader concept of sustainability, based on the belief 
that its development is not sustainable without the environmental conscience and without 
contributing to the development of the society.

soCio-EnvironMEntal pErforManCE

soCio-EnvironMEntal pErforManCE
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soCio-EnvironMEntal pErforManCE
the Cinema to You”, which consists of a traveling cinema, 
installed on a truck, that traveled across nine Brazilian states 
in 2008. This initiative received the Top Social prize 2008 
from Associação dos Dirigentes de Vendas e Marketing – ADVB 
(Association of Sales and Marketing Managers) and Social 
Responsibility Marketing Best prize, awarded by Editora 
Referência and from Madia Marketing School.

ThE ENVIRONMENT AND SAFETY
The respect for the environment in all its activities is one of 
the main characteristics of Ultrapar’s corporate culture and 
part of its differentiation strategy. The quest to exceed the 
federal, state and municipal environmental requirements and 
the compliance with international standards for monitoring 
its units evidence Ultrapar’s commitment to the communities 
with which it relates and to the society as a whole.

Ultrapar’s business units adopt a significant set of programs 
and projects designed for environmental protection, 
involving, for example, reduction and control of emissions 
of waste and pollutants, rational use of raw materials and 
natural resources, and dissemination of recycling and 
environmental protection and conservation practices. Many 
of the operational sites of Ultrapar’s business units have ISO 
14001 certification, which ensures their compliance with the 
best standard of environmental conservation and protection 
practices.

Ipiranga was the first fuel distributor in Latin America to 
obtain ISO 14001 certification back in 1998, and currently 
adopts an environmental policy called SIGA (Ipiranga 
Environmental Management System), a system that focus on 
the efficiency in the use of resources, the recycling of residues 
and the adoption of preventive measures to minimize the 
risks in its business. Ipiranga is also one of the founders of the 

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE
Ultrapar focuses its social activity on the development of 
programs based on the promotion and dissemination of 
education, culture and professionalization. It understands 
that this approach contributes to sustainable social inclusion 
of the company’s stakeholders.

Among the several educational projects that the company 
sponsors, one of the most important is Ultra Formare, a free 
school for professional training, based at the company’s 
headquarters building in São Paulo, aimed at the professional 
training of young students from the public education 
network. The program reproduces a work environment for its 
students to put theories learned into practice. More than 80 
employees of Ultrapar voluntarily participate as teachers and 
mentors of the project, which graduated its seventh class in 
2008. The students have access to several benefits during the 
course. At graduation, youngsters receive a certificate that is 
recognized by the Ministry of Education.

In 2008, Ipiranga sponsored the 20th Bienal do Livro (Book 
Fair) in São Paulo and the initiative, promoted by the 
Brazilian Book Chamber and the State Government of São 
Paulo, called Livro de Todos (Everyone’s Book). This initiative 
consisted in the creation of a book that was written by 173 
people with free participation via Internet and had more than 
14,000 website visits during the 30 days it remained open.

For its apprenticeship program, Oxiteno was awarded a 
Certificate of Corporate Citizen by the Regional Labor Office 
of the State of Bahia.

Ultragaz sponsors the Ultragaz Cultural Program, with a series 
of initiatives to promote culture. Among the various projects 
sponsored in 2008 stands out “Ultragaz Cultural – Taking 
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Brazilian Corporate Council for Sustainable Development 
(CEBDS), an entity that develops and implements 
initiatives of the business community towards sustainable 
development. 

In its service stations network, Ipiranga maintains the 
Jogue Limpo program, which includes the collection and 
recycling of lubricant packages and used oil. An example of 
the alignment between respect for the environment and 
the differentiation strategy, in 2008 Ipiranga completed 
one year of an innovative commercial initiative related to 
the environment, the Ipiranga Zero Carbon Card, which 
combines environmental benefits with client loyalty. By 
the end of 2008, more than 80,000 cards had been issued, 
confirming the success of the initiative, with 7,000 tons of 
carbon emissions neutralized. Also in relation to carbon 

emissions, other actions were taken by Ipiranga in 2008, 
such as (i) creating an eco-efficient fuel service station in 
Porto Alegre, built using advanced technology available for 
environmental conservation, including the reuse of water 
and the use of renewable energy sources, (ii) introducing 
the emission auditing at its facilities, with a focus on the 
implementation of emission reduction targets and (iii) joining 
the B5 Program of the bus fleet in the state of Rio de Janeiro, 
with the aim of supplying this state’s bus fleet with a mixture 
of 5% biodiesel (B5), 5 years ahead of the legal mandatory 
requirement.

Oxiteno’s Mauá unit is a pioneer in the use of natural gas 
in lieu of diesel, revealing a choice of a cleaner fuel with 
reduction of pollutant emissions. In Camaçari (Bahia) and 
Mauá (São Paulo), Oxiteno has electricity cogeneration plants 
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that allows it to generate electricity using the steam derived 
from the industrial processes. Instead of being released 
into the atmosphere, the carbon dioxide resulting from 
the ethylene oxide production process at Camaçari is sold 
and injected into oil wells. Oxiteno’s deployment of the Six 
Sigma methodology has also resulted in the development 
of programs for the reduction of water consumption and of 
residues generation.

One of Ultrapar’s main values is to promote occupational 
safety, given that it operates in segments that involve 
handling of hazardous products. Oxiteno, for example, 
was the first chemical company in Brazil to comply with 
the SA 8000 standard developed by Social Accountability 
International (SAI). The certification attests the adoption 
of good occupational health and safety practices for 
the employees and labor relations. Thanks to awareness 
programs, Oxiteno’s mineral oil unit at Camaçari completed 
11 years without any occupational injury leave in April 2008. 

Ultracargo, as a result of the nature of its activities of logistics 

for products that require special handling, adopted several 
programs to ensure the safety of its operations. Ultracargo 
was the first company in its segment to obtain ABIQUIM’s 
SASSMAQ (System for the Evaluation of Safety, health, 
Quality and the Environment) in 2001. The Paulínia terminal 
was the first to obtain ISO 14001 certification in 2004 and 
underwent re-certification process in 2006 in accordance 
with the ISO 14001:2004 standards, while the Aratu unit was 
certified according to the same standard in 2007. The Santos 
terminal was also designed and built in order to meet the 
highest safety and environmental standards.

In 2008, Ultracargo celebrated three years of operations and 
1 million kilometers traveled without serious road accidents 
in the CNG (Compressed Natural Gas) operation.

At Ultragaz, the concern with the environment is reflected in 
the Fator Azul Operacional (Operational Blue Factor) program, 
which sets environmental guidelines of quality and safety for 
all of its units. At Ultragaz’s filling plants, effluent treatment 
stations were implemented to increase the reuse of water in 
bottle painting cabins, thus saving that resource. 
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SOCIAL BALANCE ShEET

	 	 	 	 December/08
    Amount (‘000 R$)

1) Calculation base   

 Net sales   28,267,983

 Operating profit   555,798

 Gross payroll   409,495

  Amount % of gross % of net
   (‘000 R$)  payroll sales

2) Internal social indicators   

 Food  42,953  10.5% 0.2%

 Compulsory social charges  152,095  37.1% 0.5%

 Private pension  9,624  2.4% 0.0%

 health  46,183  11.3% 0.2%

 Safety and medicine in the work place  5,067  1.2% 0.0%

 Education  1,371  0.3% 0.0%

 Training and professional development  6,906  1.7% 0.0%

 Employee profit sharing  80,338  19.6% 0.3%

 Others  29,479  7.2% 0.1%

Total – internal social indicators 374,016 91.3% 1.3%

  Amount % of gross % of net
   (‘000 R$)  payroll sales

3) External social indicators   

Total contributions to society  11,256  2.0% 0.0%

 Taxes (excluding social charges)  606,217  109.1% 2.1%

Total – external social indicators  617,473  111.1% 2.1%

  Amount % of gross % of net
   (‘000 R$)  payroll sales

4) Enviromental indicators   

 Related company operations  22,458  4.0% 0.1%

Total investment in the enviroment  22,458  4.0% 0.1%

soCio-EnvironMEntal pErforManCE
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ipiranga

In its second year under Ultrapar management, Ipiranga kept 

a strong growth track. In 2008, Ipiranga recorded net sales of 

R$ 22.7 billion, which represented a 17% increase compared 

to Pro-forma net sales recorded for the same period of 2007. 

Ipiranga’s EBITDA for the period amounted to R$ 603 million, 

up 45% on the same period of 2007. 
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ipiranga

ipiranga

Ipiranga’s sales volume totaled 12.1 million cubic meters in 2008, 8% higher than that in 
2007. This result was influenced by the expansion of the vehicle fleet during the period, with 
an accumulated 14% increase in the number of vehicles licensed in the period. Another 
factor that has favored sales are the measures adopted to improve the legislation and to 
intensify the inspection in the sector. 

In 2009, the combination with Texaco will create a nationwide fuel distribution business, 
with a network of more than 5 thousand service stations and approximately 22% market 
share, enhancing its positioning to grow and strengthening its competitiveness through 
the larger operational scale. With the acquisition, Ipiranga consolidated its position as the 
second largest fuels distributor in Brazil and the largest private company in the sector. 
Together, Ipiranga and Texaco account for 24% of total diesel sales in Brazil, 21% of gasoline 
sales, and 17% of ethanol sales.
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ipiranga

Integration of Texaco 
•	Expansion	to	the	Mid-West,	Northeast	and	North	–	recent	growth	rates	higher	than	the	national	average.
•	Gains	of	scale	and	productivity.
•	Extension	of	Ipiranga´s	market	positioning	and	relationship	model	to	the	expanded	service	stations	network.
•	Estimated	synergy	gains	in	2	years.

INCREASED OPERATING AND 
FINANCIAL SCALE

ExPANSION TO ThE MID-WEST, NORThEAST 
AND NORTh REGIONS OF BRAZIL

RATIONALE AND BENEFITS OF TExACO’S ACQUISITION
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To ensure a gradual and organized brand switching process, the 
transaction terms include the license, already considered in the 
acquisition value, to use Texaco’s brand names family for up to 
3 years in the South and Southeast regions and up to 5 years in 
Mid-West, Northeast and North regions of Brazil.

The transaction will result in efficiency gains to Ipiranga, 
through a better positioning to grow and a stronger 
competitiveness through the larger operational scale. The 
acquisition of Texaco should allow, for example, improved 
efficiency and competitiveness in the distribution and sales 
processes, dilution of advertising, marketing and products 
development expenses, and gains of scale in the management 
of the business.

The transaction will also allow Ipiranga to operate in 
practically the entire Brazilian territory, except for the state 
of Roraima. In the South and Southeast of Brazil, the most 
important markets in terms of income and population, 
market shares will be 35% and 26%, respectively. 

Ipiranga will begin to operate in the Mid-West, North, and 
Northeast, with significant market shares of 10%, 11%, 
and 7%, respectively. The entrance into these markets will 
position Ipiranga in regions with higher fuel consumption 
growth rates, 14% on average in 2008, above the Brazilian 
average of 11% and the Southeast average of 9%. In 
addition, it brings new commercial opportunities arising 
from the national coverage.
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ipiranga

In addition to increasing its size and scale through the 
acquisition of Texaco, Ipiranga continued in 2008 its process 
of differentiating customer service, another essential factor 
to ensure a good performance in the fuels distribution 
business. Following its retail strategy, Ipiranga has enlarged 
its range of products and services linked to fuel sales upon 
the launch of Ipirangashop.com, a service that explore 
the business potential from the large flow of consumers 
in its fuel service stations. Ipirangashop.com combines 
two sales channels: sales of car-related products at its fuel 
service stations and the offering of some 18,000 items at an 
e-commerce website. 

The quest for differentiation is also based on a broad and 
diverse marketing strategy, which is aimed at attracting the 
various consumption segments served by Ipiranga through 
outstanding products and specific tools. As part of this 
strategy, promotional initiatives were implemented in 2008, 
like the one that sponsored the trips of three customers 
of	am/pm	convenience	stores	to	see	Rock’n	Rio	Madrid,	
a rock’n roll festival held in the Spanish capital. Another 
promotion was X-Games Brasil, which awarded a customer 
who had F1 Master lubricant changed at Jet Oil units with 
a trip to Los Angeles (USA) to watch the x-Games, a radical 
sports competition.

Also with a view to differentiate the services of its network, 
Ipiranga adopts specific incentive programs for dealers and 
pump attendants. These programs include Clube do Milhão 

(Million Club), which awards with international trips resellers 
with the best commercial performances, Clube Vip (VIP Club), 
which recognizes with awards the performance of Ipiranga’s 
pump attendants, and the Rally de Vendas (Sales Rally), 
program which awards the best lubricant dealers.

To support its service stations network, Ipiranga adopts 
the Programa Gestão de Revenda – PGR (Management 
Program for Resellers), which, after a diagnosis of points 
of improvement, offers suggestions for management 
enhancement. Other initiatives that contributed to 
improving resellers management is the Programa Assessores 

de Negócio (Business Advice Program), whereby the resellers 
are supported by a group of 250 qualified professionals, 
and Solução de Automação Ipiranga (Ipiranga Automation 
Solution), program which aims at facilitating service station 
management. 

In the operational field, Ipiranga offers the Programa de 

Manutenção (Maintenance Program), which maintains the 
quality of equipment and operation, in addition to taking 
care of the service station image.
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IPIRANGA – MARkET POSITIONING AND DIFFERENTIATING FACTORS 
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ipiranga

ipiranga opErational infra-struCturE
OIL DERIVATIVES

EThANOL

PRIMARY BASE
It receives the product directly from the refinery, or

imported via ship, without passing through another base.

SECONDARY BASE
It receives the product from another

base (either primary or secondary base).
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In 2008 Oxiteno continued its investments to expand its 

production capacity with focus on obtaining geographic and 

product sales mix with higher added value. These expansions 

are strategically important to capture gains of scale and retain 

achieved markets and products.
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The oleochemical unit, the first Latin American plant to produce fatty alcohols, started 
operations in Camaçari at the end of 2008. During the year, the expansion of the ethylene 
oxide unit at Mauá unit was also completed, with the addition of 38,000 tons per year. 
The expanded capacity of ethoxylates and ethanolamines have also started, with an 
increase of 120,000 tons per year.

The oleochemical unit, with a processing capacity of approximately 100,000 tons per year, 
allows Oxiteno to advance the process of replacing raw materials. This unit uses palm 
kernel oil, extracted from the palm seed, as its basic raw material.
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Oxiteno took new steps in the internationalization process that 
it has been conducting over the past few years, consolidating 
its leadership in the specialty chemicals market in Mexico and 
Venezuela.

In addition to having offices in Argentina and the United States, 
opened in 2006 and 2007, it started in July 2008 the activities 
of Oxiteno Europe by opening an office in Brussels, Belgium. 
This office will give Oxiteno greater proximity to customers 
in Europe, Africa, and the Middle East. Oxiteno Europe will 
also allow a revaluation of the business unit’s sales network 
for expanding exports. It will also allow adapting Oxiteno’s 
products to the REACh, the European Union regulation on 
chemicals.

The year of 2008 was marked by a substantial growth in 
Oxiteno’s results. In 2008, net sales amounted to R$ 1,926 
million, representing a 9% increase on 2007. Oxiteno’s EBITDA 
for the year was R$ 210 million, up 33% over the previous year. 

In 2008, Oxiteno’s sales volume was 567,000 tons, down 14% 
over the same period of 2007, due to scheduled stoppages 
in its production units for maintenance and expansion. The 

The oleochemical unit reaffirms the commitment of Ultrapar 
to sustainable projects and aligns the company to the 
worldwide trend of replacing oil by natural and renewable 
raw materials. This project also reinforces Oxiteno’s strategy of 
strengthening its position in the surfactants market, expanding 
the supply to the growing personal care and house cleaning 
markets with the introduction of a new range of products.

Another important fact of the year was the completion of the 
integration process of Empresa Carioca de Produtos Químicos 
(EMCA), which was part of the Ipiranga Group. This integration 
allowed gains of synergies, with products complementary to 
those of Oxiteno’s line. EMCA started to benefit from a greater 
negotiation power by using Oxiteno’s logistics and marketing 
infrastructure.

In July 2008, Oxiteno announced R$ 51 million investments 
in a new acetate unit in Mauá, designed to consolidate its 
outstanding position in the solvent production in Mercosur. In 
addition to increasing the acetate production by 40,000 tons, 
more than double its current production, the new unit will 
enlarge Oxiteno’s product portfolio. The new unit is expected 
to start in late 2009.

oxitEno
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effects of lower production availability were more than 
compensated by a significant improvement in the sales 
mix, depreciation of the Brazilian Real and commercial 
initiatives conducted over the last months, resulting in a 
33% growth in EBITDA.

Among the management programs adopted by Oxiteno 
is Excelência e Crescimento Oxiteno – ECO (Excellence and 
Growth at Oxiteno), based on the use of the management 
tool Balanced Scorecard®, which sets operational targets for 
the company. ECO’s guidelines aligns the enhancement of 
innovation process through greater integration between 
the areas involved and identification of improvement 
opportunities throughout the value chain, based always on 
the customer needs.

Oxiteno also adopts the Six Sigma program, which, upon 
review of the process performance, identifies opportunities 
for loss reduction and cost optimization. The program 
is implemented by black belts, the name given to 
experienced employees trained to develop the initiatives 
for operational improvements. An example of excellence 

brought by the program was the increase in the production 
capacity of the Tremembé sulfatation unit, resulting from 
the elimination of bottlenecks identified by a black belt.

Oxiteno’s leadership in the markets it operates in Brazil and 
abroad is consequence of investments in technological 
development and innovation, resulting in differentiated 
products. More than 2% of Oxiteno’s annual revenues 
is spent on research and development of products and 
processes, allowing it not only to offer new products 
but also to customize solutions for clients. In the quest 
for innovation, Oxiteno has built partnerships with 
renowned research institutions, such as Centro de Pesquisas 

e Desenvolvimento da Petrobras – CENPES (Petrobras 
Research and Development Center), Instituto de Pesquisas 

Tecnológicas – IPT (Technological Research Institute), Instituto 

de Tecnologia de Alimentos – ITAL (Food Technology Institute) 
and the Fundação Coordenação de Projetos, Pesquisas e 

Estudos Tecnológicos da Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro 

– COPPETEC (Foundation for Coordination of Technological 
Projects, Research and Studies of the Federal University of 
Rio de Janeiro).
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oxitEno – position in thE pEtroChEMiCal Chain...

...BROAD COVERAGE OF MARkETS AND APPLICATIONS OF EThYLENE OxIDE AND DERIVATIVES
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Leader in the segment of storage terminals for liquid bulk, 

Ultracargo practically doubled its size in terms of EBITDA with 

the acquisition of União Terminais, closed at the end of 2008. 

The transaction allowed Ultracargo to reach approximately 

30% market share of the total storage capacity for liquids in 

Brazil, as well as the leading position in liquid bulk segment in 

the Southern Cone. 
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With União Terminais incorporated, Ultracargo expanded its presence in the Brazilian 
ports. The combined operations of Ultracargo and União Terminais in the port of 
Santos, the most important in Brazil, had the equivalent of 33% of the space offered by 
this port in 2008. The acquisition also allowed Ultracargo to start operating in the ports 
of Rio de Janeiro and Paranaguá. The consolidation of the results of União Terminais’ 
operations in the ports of Santos, Rio de Janeiro, and Paranaguá started in the fourth 
quarter of 2008. 

ultraCargo

ultraCargo
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ultraCargo
The operational performance influenced the achievement 
of net sales of R$ 283 million in 2008, up 24% compared to 
the previous year. EBITDA was R$ 51 million, representing 
an 18% increase on 2007, due to the consolidation of União 
Terminais from 4Q08 on and increased handling in the 
terminals of Aratu and Santos, in addition to the revenues 
from new businesses in initial phases of operations.

Ultracargo bases its activities on the quest to meet specific 
customers’ needs. An example is Ultracargo Gourmet, a 
logistics solution for food transportation that avoids any 
manual contact with the product and does not require the 
use of bags and big bags, thus reducing the contamination 
risk. This service allows the loading of bulk wheat flour and 
sugar from mills, the transportation in special trucks and the 
unloading in silos installed in the clients’ plants.

As part of the in-house logistics services, Ultracargo is 
responsible for structuring, managing, controlling, and 
operating services such as the handling, packaging and 
storage performed in the customer’s facilities. In 2008, 
Ultracargo started to provide these services to Braskem 
Paulínia, in addition to its responsibility for the transportation 
of the company’s raw materials and finished products.

Ultracargo is recognized for the excellence of the 
operational management of its terminals. Among the 
procedures it adopts, the alignment with the International 
Ship and Port Facility Security Code (ISPS Code) standards 
stands out. This is an international cooperation protocol, 
which involves the shipping and port sectors as well as 
federal governments, adopted after the terrorist attacks of 
September 11, 2001. Its rules include procedures to detect 
and dissuade terrorist acts.

Two port terminals for storage and handling of liquid bulk, 
Santos and Rio de Janeiro, have been incorporated. The 
Santos terminal has 123,000 m3 of capacity mainly used 
to store fuels, ethanol and chemicals. The terminal located 
in Rio de Janeiro has 17,000 m3 of capacity to store 
chemicals and lubricants, and it is the only independent 
terminal for liquid bulk in that port.

With the acquisition, Ultracargo also incorporated a port 
terminal of 60,000 m3 storage capacity in Paranaguá, for 
the handling of vegetable oils and chemicals, through 
the	50%	controlling	stake	União	Terminais	held	in	União/
Vopak Ltda.

Ultracargo has terminals in Suape (liquids), Aratu (liquids 
and gas), Montes Claros (liquids), Paulínia (liquids, solid 
bulk, and solid packaged), Rio de Janeiro (liquids), and 
Santos (liquids and gas), in addition to the 50% stake in 
União/Vopak	in	Paranaguá	(liquids).

In 2008, the company reported a 20% increase in the 
average storage, which amounted to 335,000 m3, 
compared to 2007. The drivers of such performance 
were the consolidation of União Terminais in the 4Q08, 
expansion of the Aratu terminal, increased handling 
of ethanol and chemicals in the Santos terminal, and 
new integrated logistics operations. In 2008, Ultracargo 
captured the benefits from the investments in expansion 
made in previous years, such as the acquisition of 
Petrolog, an in-house logistics company, that occurred 
in May 2007. Maintaining its strategic decision to 
concentrate its transport operation in differentiated 
services, Ultracargo had a 1% increase in the number of 
kilometers traveled.
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ACQUISITION OF UNIãO TERMINAIS - NEW STRATEGIC ASSETS ADDED TO ULTRACARGO
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Pioneer in the distribution of liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) in 

Brazil, Ultragaz launched in 2008 its new market positioning: 

“Ultragaz – specialist in what it does”, reflecting its concern 

with technical quality, that through its pioneering approach, 

performance and emphasis on the importance of its staff, has 

distinguished Ultragaz throughout its history. 
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The company has continued to enjoy a market leading position since 2003, especially in 
the segment that it opened in 1995 upon the introduction of UltraSystem, an LPG bulk 
supply system through the installation of stationary tanks in the customer’s facilities, 
where supply is provided by the company’s trucks.

In order to provide residential customers greater convenience, Ultragaz expanded the 
use of multi-brand mobile terminals for electronic payments. The terminals allow the 
customer to pay for the purchase of bottles using all credit cards. Payment is made upon 
delivery to the customer’s house.

ultragaz

ultragaz
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the search for excellence in prospecting new customers 
through proper segmentation, and the management 
enhancement of the current customer base, with 
verticalizations, proper post-sales structure, pricing, and 
focus on relationship. In 2008, UltraFlex was launched in the 
Araucária market, starting the coverage of the South region. 

In 2008, the Brazilian LPG market grew by 2% over 2007, 
according to data published by the Brazilian National Oil 
Agency. Ultragaz’s sales volume grew in line with the market, 
amounting to a total of 1,601,000 tons of LPG sold, with a 3% 
growth seen in the bottled segment, basically as a result of 
commercial initiatives developed by the company.

Ultragaz net sales was R$ 3,339 million in 2008, a 7% 
increase on 2007. EBITDA was R$ 211 million, a 16% 
reduction compared to the previous year, due to a more 
competitive market in the LPG bottled segment seen 
during the period between 3Q07 and the first half of 2008, 
partially offset by the larger sales volume. 

Pursuing continuous improvement, the company 
continued to develop two prioritary projects: UltraLevel, 
a business model adopted for the residential segment, 
and UltraFlex, designed for the corporate segment, to be 
implemented until 2010. UltraLevel consists of providing 
tools to increase profitability in the residential segment, 
for example, through improved product availability and 
enhanced pricing strategy. In 2008, one of the initiatives 
under UltraLevel was to include a new tool to help 
improving the commercial performance, the Sistema de 

Gestão e Planejamento (Management and Planning System 
– Sigep Maps). A system internally developed, it allows the 
market share analysis of each distributor, providing support 
for strategic decision making.

The purpose of UltraFlex is to strengthen Ultragaz’s 
operations in the corporate segment, in which UltraSystem 
is its flagship. It allows a comprehensive review of the sales 
processes and the identification and implementation of 
improvements. The project is based on two basic points: 

ultragaz
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lpg distriBution in Brazil
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The year 2008 crowned the investments carried out by Ultrapar 

in the last years. The conclusion of organic expansions and the 

acquisitions of significant strategic value allowed Ultrapar to 

reach a new level of size and scale.

Earnings rEviEw
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As occurred with the acquisition of Ipiranga in 2007, the acquisition of Texaco together 
with the acquisition of União Terminais and the new capacities of Oxiteno will allow 
important gains over the coming years, mainly as a result of operational improvement, 
increase of scale and capture of synergies, strengthening Ultrapar’s sound financial 
position and resilience.
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industry reached in 2008 the highest number of 
vehicles sold in one year and foreign direct investment 
in Brazil peaked the record level of US$ 45 billion, 
significantly increasing capital inflow, contributing to the 
appreciation of the Brazilian Real until September and to 
the assignment of the investment-grade rating to Brazil 
in April. however, from mid-September on the real estate 
crisis in the United States and a sharp tightening in credit 
markets spread rapidly around the world, also reflecting 
in Brazil. Despite the governments’ initiatives to minimize 
the crisis effects and restore consumer confidence, the 
strong slowdown in global economic growth resulted 
in reduced investment and consumption, leading to a 
drop in commodities prices, particularly oil, which ended 
the	year	at	US$	42/barrel	after	having	reached	the	record	

CONSIDERATIONS ON ThE FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION
Information about the impacts of the adoption of Law 
11,638/07	and	Provisional	Measure	449/08,	and	effects	of	the	
acquisitions of Ipiranga and União Terminais on the economic 
and financial information can be found on the page 92.

MACROECONOMIC SCENARIO
The economic and operational environment in 2008 was 
marked by two distinct moments. In the first three quarters 
of 2008, Brazilian Gross Domestic Product (GDP) recorded a 
strong growth of 6.4% compared to the same period of 2007, 
with emphasis on the performances of the real estate sector 
and automotive industry. As a result of the strong economic 
activity during the first three quarters, the automotive 

  2008 3  2007

         Ipiranga
(R$ million) Ultrapar1 Ultragaz Ipiranga Oxiteno Ultracargo1 Ultrapar2 Ultragaz Pro-forma Oxiteno Ultracargo

Net sales  28,268   3,339 22,676 1,926 283   19,921   3,113  19,394 1,765 229  

 Cost of products
  and services  (26,152) (2,898) (21,492) (1,527) (187) (18,224) (2,644) (18,349) (1,422) (145)

Gross profit  2,116 441 1,184 399 96 1,697 469 1,045 343 84 

 Sales, general and
 administrative 
 expenses  (1,424) (348) (682) (246) (92) (1,223) (338) (723) (238) (70)

 Other operational 
 results 22 (5) 14 1 3 12 1 12 3 1

EBIT 713 88 516 154 7 486 132 334 108 15

EBITDA  1,079  211 603 210 51 779 252 417 157 43 

Depreciation and 
amortization 376 123 97 56 43 301 119 90 49 28

Statutory interest 9 - 9 - - 7 - 7  -   -

The financial information of Ultragaz, Ipiranga, Oxiteno and Ultracargo is presented without eliminating the transactions carried out between the companies.
1 Considers União Terminais’ results since 4Q08.
2 Considers Ipiranga’s results since 2Q07.
3	Figures	according	to	the	alterations	introduced	by	Law	11,638/07	and	Provisional	Measure	449/08,	as	well	as	the	CVM	rules,	instructions	and	guidelines,	which	regulate	them.
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NET SALES AND SERVICES
Ultrapar net sales and services amounted to R$ 28,268 million 
in 2008, up 42% on 2007, basically as a consequence of the 
consolidation of net sales from Ipiranga from 2Q07, and 
the growth seen in all the company’s business units. Net 
sales at Ipiranga totaled R$ 22,676 million in 2008, up 17% 
compared to Pro-forma sales in 2007, as a consequence of 
an 8% increase in sales volume, and a rise in diesel costs in 
2008. Oxiteno reported net sales of R$ 1,926 million, up 9% 
on 2007, as a consequence of a 34% recovery in average 
prices in dollar terms, result of the improved sales mix and 
commercial initiatives introduced by the company over 
the last 12 months. This improvement in average price was 
partially offset by a 6% appreciation in the Brazilian Real, and 
a 14% drop in sales volume. Ultracargo’s net sales amounted 
to R$ 283 million, 24% higher than in 2007, basically as 
a consequence of increased storage volumes and new 
integrated transport and in-house logistics operations. Net 
sales at Ultragaz amounted to R$ 3,339 million, 7% higher 
than in 2007, as a result of the 2% increase in sales volume 
and the rise in the cost of LPG used in the bulk segment in 
2008, partially offset by a more competitive market during 
the 1h08.

COST OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 
Ultrapar’s cost of products and services amounted to R$ 
26,152 million in 2008, an increase of 44% on the previous 
year, basically as a consequence of the consolidation of 
Ipiranga’s cost of products sold from 2Q07, the rise in 
the cost of diesel and the higher cost of LPG for the bulk 
segment. Ipiranga’s cost of products sold totaled R$ 21,492 
million, up 17% compared to Pro-forma figures for 2007, 
as a consequence of an 8% increase in sales volume, the 
increase in the diesel cost, derived from the increase in the 
ex-refinery price in May 2008 and the obligatory increase 
in the percentage of biodiesel added to diesel. The cost 
of products sold at Oxiteno totaled R$ 1,527 million, an 

level	of	US$	150/barrel.	The	worsening	in	the	crisis	also	led	
to a sharp reduction in the flow of capital to Brazil in the 
fourth quarter, and a reversal trend in the appreciation of the 
Brazilian Real in place since 2003. The exchange rate at the 
end	of	2008	was	R$/US$	2.34,	32%	higher	than	that	at	the	
end of 2007.
 
OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 
In 2008 Ipiranga’s sales volume increased 8% compared to 
Pro-forma volume in 2007, in line with the growth in the 
market in the regions where the company has operations 
(South and Southeast of Brazil). Fuel sales volume for 
passenger vehicles (gasoline, ethanol and NGV) grew by 
11% as a consequence of the 14% increase in the sale of 
light vehicles and of measures to improve legislation and 
inspection implemented in the sector. Diesel sales volume 
was up by 7%, basically as a result of the good performance 
in the economy. At Oxiteno, total sales amounted to 
567,000 tons in 2008, 14% lower than in 2007, as a result 
of (i) scheduled maintenance and expansion stoppages by 
the company during 2008 and (ii) higher glycols sales in 
2007, taking advantage of the restriction in the international 
supply of this product at that time. The sales mix also saw a 
substantial improvement, with sales of specialty chemicals 
rising from 77% of total sales in 2007 to 89% in 2008. Sales 
volume in Oxiteno’s operations abroad increased by 64% in 
2008, as a result of the 33% increase in the sales volume of 
Oxiteno Mexico and the acquisition of Oxiteno Andina in 
3Q07. At Ultracargo, effective storage showed an increase of 
20%, as a result of expansion at the Aratu terminal, a higher 
occupancy rate at the Santos terminal and consolidation 
of União Terminais from 4Q08. In 2008, the Brazilian LPG 
market increased by 2% compared to 2007. Sales volume at 
Ultragaz grew in line with the market, amounting to a total of 
1,601,000 tons of LPG sold, highlighting the 3% growth seen 
in the bottled segment, basically as a result of commercial 
initiatives developed by the company.
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Ipirangashop.com and incentive programs such as Clube VIP 
and Clube do Milhão and (iv) higher personnel expenses as a 
result of annual collective wage agreements and the increase 
in variable compensation in line with the improvement in 
earnings. Oxiteno’s sales, general and administrative expenses 
amounted to R$ 246 million in 2008, up 3% on the previous 
year, as a result of higher freight expenses due to the 
increase in diesel prices and the rise in personnel expenses, 
as a result of annual collective wage agreement and higher 
variable compensation, in line with the improvement in the 
company’s results. Sales, general and administrative expenses 
at Ultracargo totaled R$ 92 million in 2008, 31% higher than 
in 2007, as a result of the impact of inflation on expenses, 
the goodwill amortization related to the acquisition of União 
Terminais, of R$ 8 million, and the addition of sales, general 
and administrative expenses from União Terminais from 
4Q08. Ultragaz’s sales, general and administrative expenses 
totaled R$ 348 million, 3% higher than in 2007, despite the 
2% increase in sales volume and the effects of inflation on 
personnel costs, as a consequence of expense reduction 
initiatives implemented during 2008 and higher advertising 
and marketing expenses related to the company’s 70th 
anniversary institutional campaign in 2007.

Effects of the changes in legislation: Ultrapar’s sales, 
general and administrative expenses in 2008 were R$ 7 
million lower than the result that would have been obtained 
without the changes in legislation, due to a reduction of 
R$ 16 million in administrative expenses and an increase of 
R$ 9 million in depreciation as a result of the consolidation 

increase of 7% compared to 2007, basically due to higher 
raw material unit costs in dollar, as a consequence of higher 
average oil prices, and the cost of R$ 18 million as a result of 
the scheduled maintenance stoppages at the production 
units during 2008. Ultracargo’s cost of services provided 
amounted to R$ 187 million, an increase of 29% on 2007, as 
a result of a rise in storage volume, new integrated transport 
and in-house logistics operations, and the increase in diesel 
prices. Ultragaz’s cost of products sold amounted to a total of 
R$ 2,898 million, a 10% increase compared to 2007, basically 
as a consequence of higher sales volume and the successive 
increases in the ex-refinery price for use in the bulk segment 
in 2008.

SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE ExPENSES 
Ultrapar’s sales, general and administrative expenses totaled 
R$ 1,424 million in 2008, up 16% compared to 2007, basically 
as a result of (i) the impact of inflation on expenses, (ii) the 
consolidation of sales, general and administrative expenses 
from Ipiranga from 2Q07, (iii) the increase in the cost of 
diesel, which had an impact on freight expenses and (iv) an 
8% increase in sales volume at Ipiranga. Sales, general and 
administrative expenses at Ipiranga totaled R$ 682 million, 
down 6% compared to Pro-forma figures for 2007, a result 
of organizational optimization implemented since the 
acquisition and the end of CPMF tax, partially offset by (i) an 
8% increase in sales volume, (ii) an increase in diesel costs, 
with an impact on freight expenses, (iii) higher expenses 
with advertising and marketing, including those related to 
the campaign of the Texaco acquisition and the launch of 
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Ultragaz’s EBITDA totaled R$ 211 million, 16% down on 
the previous year, basically due to a more competitive 
market in the bottled gas segment in the first half of 
2008.

Effects of the changes in legislation:  Ultrapar’s 
EBITDA in 2008 was R$ 16 million higher than the result 
that would have been obtained without the changes 
in legislation, as a consequence of the increase of the 
financial leasing and the beginning of the consolidation 
of the company SERMA in the results of the company, 
both mentioned in the sales, general and administrative 
expenses.

The EBITDA is a commonly used measure, similar to 
the operational result. Including EBITDA information 
aims to represent our capacity to generate cash from 
our operations. Among other uses, the EBITDA is used 
as a measurement of Ultrapar’s commitments related 
to financings, according to the note number 16 in the 
company’s financial statements. The EBITDA should not 
be considered separately, or as an alternative to net 
income, as a measure of operational performance, or 
as an alternative to the operational net cash flow, as a 
liquidity measure. 

FINANCIAL RESULT
Ultrapar reported net financial expenses of R$ 169 million 
in 2008, R$ 49 million higher than that of 2007. The 
increase in net financial expenses in 2008 mainly reflects 

of	the	company	SERMA	and	of	the	CVM	Resolution	534/08,	
which refers to leasing. As a consequence of this rule, certain 
Ipiranga’s contracts started to be treated as financial leasing, 
resulting in (i) the inclusion of its remaining balance in the 
company debt, (ii) the booking of the leased goods as fixed 
assets, and (iii) the appropriation of financial charges from the 
leasing to the company’s results. 

EBITDA – EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAxES, 
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Ultrapar’s consolidated EBITDA amounted to R$ 1,079 
million in 2008, up 39% compared to 2007, basically as a 
consequence of EBITDA growth at Ipiranga and Oxiteno, 
as well as the consolidation of the results of Ipiranga 
and União Terminais, respectively, from 2Q07 and 4Q08. 
Ipiranga reported EBITDA of R$ 603 million in 2008, up 45% 
compared to Pro-forma EBITDA for 2007, as a result of the 
8% increase in sales volume, with a consequent increase in 
operational leverage, and a 6% reduction in sales, general 
and administrative expenses. Oxiteno reported EBITDA of 
R$ 210 million, up 33% compared to 2007, as a result of a 
recovery in average prices in dollars, as a consequence of an 
improved sales mix and commercial initiatives developed 
by the company over the last 12 months, as well as the 
depreciation in the Brazilian Real in the last quarter of the 
year. EBITDA at Ultracargo amounted to R$ 51 million, up 
18% compared to 2007, basically as a consequence of the 
expansion to the Aratu terminal, an increase in the volumes 
of products handled at the Santos terminal, and the addition 
of the volume from União Terminais’ operations from 4Q08. 

Earnings rEviEw



ultrapar annual rEport 2008

80 >

Effect of the changes in legislation: Ultrapar’s net earnings 
in 2008 were R$ 2 million higher than the figure that would 
have been obtained without the changes in legislation, as a 
consequence of the effects mentioned in the paragraphs of 
the financial result and the sales, general and administrative 
expenses.

INDEBTEDNESS 
Ultrapar ended the financial year 2008 with a gross debt 
position of R$ 3,672 million, resulting in a net debt of R$ 
1,538 million, 7% higher than the company’s net debt 
position at the end of 2007.

Effects of the changes in legislation: Ultrapar’s net debt at 
the end of 2008 was R$ 14 million higher than it would have 
been without the changes in legislation, basically due to (i) 
the effect of leasing on debt mentioned in the sales, general 
and administrative expenses paragraph, (ii) transaction 
costs associated with the issuance of securities and (iii) the 
marking to market of certain financial instruments, both 
mentioned in the paragraph of the company’s financial 
results.

the increase of Ultrapar’s average net debt, higher interest 
rates and the 32% Brazilian Real depreciation during 2008, 
compared to an appreciation of 17% during 2007.

Effects of the changes in legislation: Ultrapar’s net 
financial expenses in 2008 were R$ 3 million higher than 
the result that would have been obtained without the 
changes in legislation, as a consequence of increases of 
R$ 8 million related to monetary translation of foreign 
investments	(CVM	Resolution	534/08)	and	R$	3	million	
related to leasing, partially offset by reductions of R$ 8 
million referring to the marking to market of financial 
instruments	(CVM	Resolution	566/08)	and	R$	1	million	
referring to the booking of the transaction costs associated 
with	the	issuance	of	securities	(CVM	Resolution	556/08).

NET EARNINGS 
Consolidated net earnings amounted to R$ 390 million 
2008, 115% higher than that reported in 2007, as a 
consequence of the 38% rise in EBITDA at Ultrapar and 
the transitory effects of minority interest related to the 
acquisition of Ipiranga in 2007.
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Summary of the changeS reSulting from the implementation of law 11,638/07 and 
proviSional meaSure 449/08.  
the table below shows the main effects of the application of law 11,638/07 and provisional measure 449/08 on 2008 financial 
statements. additional information about the changes resulting from the new legislation is available in notes 2 and 3 of the attached 
financial statements.

Earnings rEviEw

effectS from the implementation of law 11,638/07 and proviSional meaSure 449/08 on the buSineS unitS’ 
ebitda (r$ million)
   ipiranga ultragaz oxiteno ultracargo others/elim. ultrapar

EBITDA before the implementation of Law 
11,638/07 and Provisional Measure 449/08   592.8  210.7 210.0  50.6 (0.3) 1,063.9 

contracts for financial leasing operations 
recognized as property, plant & equipment cvm 554 /
and debt cpc 06 10.4 - - - 0.1 10.5 

consolidation of the results of the company cvm 565 / 
Serma* on the financial statements cpc 13 - - - - 5.1 5.1 

Total effects  10.4 - - - 5.1 15.5 

EBITDA according to audited financial 
statements on December 31, 2008 (after the
implementation of Law 11,638/07 and the 
Provisional Measure 449/08)   603.2 210.7 210.0 50.6 4.9 1,079.4 

main effectS from the implementation of law 11,638/07 and proviSional meaSure 449/08 on the conSolidated 
financial StatementS (r$ million)
    financial net  long term Shareholder’s 
   ebitda results  earnings net debt assets equity

Figures before the implementation of Law
11,638/07 and Provisional Measure 449/08 1,063.9  (166.3) 388.0  1,524.3  3,726.3  4,646.1 

contracts of financial leasing operations cvm 554 /
recognized as fixed assets and debt cpc 06  10.5 (2.9) 2.4  25.4  29.0  2.4 

consolidation of the company Serma* and
equity in income and affiliated companies cvm 565 /
of metalplus** in the financial statements cpc 13 5.1 (0.2)  -  (0.2)  14.9   (0.3)

currency translation impact of the net 
investment on some foreign subsidiaries 
recorded directly in the account 
accumulated translation adjustment  cvm 534 /
in the Shareholder’s equity cpc 02  -  (8.3) (8.3) - - - 

marking to market of financial and
foreign exchange and interest  cvm 566 /
hedging instruments  cpc 14  -  7.7  7.3   (1.6)  -    1.1

transaction costs and premiums
in the issuance of securities and  cvm 556 /
securities recognized as debt reducer cpc 08 - 1.2  0.9  (9.6) -  0.9

adjustment at present value of credit
balances of icmS on the purchase cvm 564 /
of fixed assets (ciap) cpc 12  -   -   -   -   5.5   - 

Total effects   15.5  (2.6) 2.3  14.0   49.5   4.0

Figures according to audited financial statements
on December 31, 2008 (after the implementation
of Law 11,638/07 and Provisional Measure 449/08)  1,079.4 (168.8) 390.3 1,538.3 3,775.7  4,650.1 

* Serma - association of users of data processing equipment and related services (responsible for it services for ultrapar).

** metalúrgica plus S/a - former producer of gas cylinders, not currently operating.
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In 2008, Ultrapar reported a significant 

improvement of 125% in its shares’ trading 

liquidity in the capital markets. 

Capital MarKEt
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In December 2007, the shares exchange of the listed companies of the Ipiranga Group 
was concluded by Ultrapar, resulting in (i) greater alignment of interests of all company’s 
shareholders, (ii) an increase in the liquidity of the company’s shares, due to the 
expansion of the shareholder base, as a result of the concentration of the shareholders 
of the listed companies of the Ipiranga Group into one company, Ultrapar, with shares 
traded on BM&FBovespa and NYSE, and (iii) extension of Ultrapar’s recognized corporate 
governance standards to all shareholders of Refinaria de Petróleo Riograndense S.A. (RPR, 
former Refinaria de Petróleo Ipiranga S.A.), Distribuidora de Produtos de Petróleo Ipiranga 
S.A. (DPPI), and Companhia Brasileira de Petróleo Ipiranga (CBPI), notably regarding the 
100% tag along rights for preferred shareholders.

Capital MarKEt

Capital MarKEt
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and a dividend yield of 3% on the average price in 2008. 
Ultrapar constantly evaluates its immediate capital needs for 
investment in assets and acquisitions and, having ensured 
the maintenance of its sound financial position, distributes 
the resources to its shareholders in the form of dividends.

Ultrapar continued, during the first months of 2008, its share 
buyback plan approved in August 2007. Under this plan, 1.8 
million shares were purchased, corresponding to 80% of the 
total limit approved.

In 2008 Moody’s Investors Service assigned its Baa3 
credit rating to Ultrapar, equivalent to investment grade. 
According to Moody’s, the Baa3 rating reflects Ultrapar’s 
track record of cost-focused management and the 
company’s leading market position in sectors in which 
it operates, supported by continuous investments in 
its strong fuel distribution brands and in research and 
development for specialty chemicals. Additionally, the 
credit rating agency S&P has changed its outlook for 
Ultrapar’s rating from “stable” to “positive”. The investment 
grade rating highlights Ultrapar’s businesses cash 
generation capacity and sound financial management and 
corporate governance, reinforcing its strategy focused on 
value creation.

With its commitment to transparency and widespread 
distribution of its relevant information, Ultrapar regularly 
holds meetings with its investing public. In 2008 Ultrapar 
held more than 400 meetings with capital market 
institutions both in Brazil and abroad, 30% more than in 
2007, including participation in conferences and roadshows 
with investors and analysts.

Capital MarKEt
The shares exchange of the Ipiranga Group resulted in 
the issuance of 55 million Ultrapar’s preferred shares, 
increasing its free float from 32 million shares to 87 million 
shares, an increase of 172%, with the free float reaching 
64% of the company’s total capital. Such increase enabled 
Ultrapar to become part of Ibovespa and IVBx-2 indexes 
of BM&FBovespa and of the MSCI index, which is widely 
recognized in international financial markets.

Ultrapar’s shares have reached a new level of liquidity in the 
equity markets, reporting a significant growth of 125% in 
the daily average trading volume, reaching a daily average 
volume of R$ 26 million, higher than the combined historic 
average of Ultrapar, RPR, CBPI and DPPI. With the liquidity 
increase in capital markets, the daily average trading volume 
increased 148% on 2007, considering the combined trading 
in BM&FBovespa and NYSE.

From 3Q08 on, the worsening of the real estate crisis in 
the United States culminated in the bankruptcy of some 
financial institutions, tighter liquidity in credit markets and a 
slowdown in the global economy, led to a sharp fall on stock 
exchanges around the world, resulting in the depreciation 
of the Ibovespa index by 41% in 2008. Over the same 
period, Ultrapar’s shares dropped by 19% on BM&FBovespa, 
reflecting the resilience of Ultrapar’s businesses to slower 
economic growth and the company’s positioning in terms of 
potential earnings growth based on the investments already 
made. Ultrapar ended 2008 with a market capitalization of 
R$ 7 billion.

Dividends of R$ 238 million were declared for the fiscal 
year 2008, representing 61% of consolidated net earnings 
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In 2008, Ultrapar continued a major cycle of 

investments started in 2006, which will enable the 

growth and profitability of its businesses over the 

coming years.

invEstMEnts and outlooK
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INVESTMENTS 
Continuing its strategy of expanding its scale and improving the competitiveness of its 
businesses, Ultrapar carried out important acquisitions in the fuel distribution segment 
through the acquisition of Texaco’s network in Brazil, and logistics segment, through 
União Terminais, and concluded major expansion projects at Oxiteno.

In 2008 Ultrapar invested R$ 1,516 million, R$ 978 million of which spent in organic 
investment, aiming at consolidating its differentiated position in the markets in which it 
operates and reinforcing its growth through increased scale, technological differentiation, 
and optimization of costs and expenses. 
 

invEstMEnts and outlooK
invEstMEnts and outlooK
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raw materials, with a processing capacity of approximately 
100,000 tons; (ii) the expansion of the ethylene oxide unit 
at Mauá, adding 38,000 tons to the production capacity of 
this product, which now amounts to 90,000 tons; and (iii) 
the expansion of the ethoxylate and ethanolamine units at 
Camaçari, adding 120,000 tons to the production capacity 
of these products. These expansions aim at meeting the 
demand in the cosmetics, detergents, agrochemicals, paints 
and varnishes markets, mainly through imports replacement. 
Such expansions will enable a larger sales volume, 
improvement in the sales mix in terms of products and 
markets, maintenance of markets, and significant operational 
leverage.
 
In addition to investing in the organic growth of its operations, 
Ultrapar also considers acquisitions to be an important way of 
increasing value generation for its shareholders.

Regarding organic investments, a total of R$ 167 million was 
invested in Ultragaz, with a focus on the expansion of its 
LPG bulk distribution system (UltraSystem), the geographical 
expansion, and the purchase and renewal of LPG bottles 
and tanks. Investments in Ipiranga’s operation totaled R$ 
229 million and were mainly spent on the expansion of the 
company’s distribution network, the renewal of contracts, and 
improvements in service stations and distribution terminals. 
At Oxiteno, total investment amounted to R$ 516 million, 
mostly concentrated on expanding production capacity. At 
Ultracargo, investments totaled R$ 56 million, basically on 
expansion and maintenance of its terminals.

The capacity expansion projects at Oxiteno that came 
on stream in the fourth quarter of 2008 include: (i) the 
operational start-up of the oleochemical unit, the first plant 
in Latin America to produce fatty alcohols from renewable 

INITIATIVES	IMPLEMENTED	IN	IPIRANGA	SINCE	ITS	ACqUISITIoN	IN	APRIL/07

Simplification of shareholding and management structure  

	 •	 Alignment	of	interests,	decision	making	process	simpler	and	faster
	 •	 Adequacy	of	support	structures	 							
	 •	 Centralization	of	the	finance	functions	of	Ipiranga	in	Ultrapar	 	
	 •	 Elimination	of	common	structures	between	CBPI	and	DPPI	

Increased investment capacity 

	 •	Number	of	unbranded	service	stations	converted	and	new	stations	at	Ipiranga	grew	29%	on	2007																												
and 144% on 2006              

	 •	 Acquisitions	as	part	of	strategy	

Implementation of EVA® as management tool 

	 •	 Variable	compensation	linked	to	EVA®	growth	targets	 	
	 •	 Alignment	of	interests	between	executives	and	shareholders	 	
	 •	 Value	creation	for	all	shareholders	 	

invEstMEnts and outlooK
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company in South America, strengthening its operating scale, 
expanding its market share in the agribusiness segment, 
especially biofuels, vegetable oils and liquid fertilizers, as well 
as in the handling of chemicals. Ultracargo has increased and 
strengthened its presence in the Brazilian ports, allowing 
increased operations at the port of Santos and the entrance to 
the ports of Rio de Janeiro and Paranaguá.

ESTIMATED INVESTMENTS FOR 2009
In 2009, Ultrapar will continue its strategy of investing in the 
expansion, renewal, and operational improvements of its 
business units, investments carefully planned based on the 
expected value generation and synergies. Ultrapar’s investment 
plan for 2009 amounts to R$ 528 million, excluding acquisitions. 

Out of the total estimated investments, R$ 239 million will be 
invested at Ipiranga in the expansion and renewal of its fuel 
distribution network, operational improvements, and Texaco 
brand-name switching in part of the acquired network.

At Ultragaz R$ 69 million will be invested mainly in the 
renewal of LPG bottles and tanks and the strengthening of its 
operations in the North and Northeast of Brazil, markets with 
higher growth potential. 

Investments of R$ 175 million are planned at Oxiteno, basically 
for the expansion of ethylene oxide production capacity at 
Camaçari and the modernization of its facilities. 

At Ultracargo, R$ 36 million will be invested in operational 
improvements and expansion of its terminals in Santos and 
Aratu.

OUTLOOk
Ultrapar reached a new level of results in 2008: net sales above 
R$ 28 billion and EBITDA superior to R$ 1 billion. The enhanced 
size, that reinforces Ultrapar’s leading position in the segments 
in which it operates, place the company among the ten largest 
private business groups in Brazil in terms of revenue.

In August, Ultrapar entered into an agreement with Chevron 
Latin America Marketing LLC and Chevron Amazonas LLC to 
acquire Texaco-branded fuels distribution business in Brazil for 
R$ 1.161 billion, whose closing was on March 31, 2009. 

Since the acquisition of Ipiranga in 2007, Ultrapar 
implemented a set of initiatives aiming at aligning interests 
and simplifying the shareholding and management 
structures, enabling higher operational and administrative 
efficiency, strengthened investment capacity and enlarged 
business perspective. The acquisition of Texaco is part of 
Ultrapar’s strategy to increase its operational scale in the fuels 
marketing business and expand its operations to the Mid-
West, Northeast, and North regions of Brazil. In 2008, Texaco 
sold 7 million cubic meters of diesel, gasoline, ethanol, and 
natural gas for vehicles, which represented an approximately 
8% market share in Brazil. The combination with Texaco 
will create a nationwide fuels marketing business, with a 
network of more than five thousand service stations and 
approximately 22% market share, enhancing its positioning 
to grow and strengthening its competitiveness through the 
larger operational scale. The addition of Texaco should allow, 
for example, improved efficiency and competitiveness in 
the distribution and sales processes, dilution of advertising, 
marketing, and new product development expenses, and 
economies of scale in administrative functions. Additionally, 
the acquisition of Texaco leads to a geographical expansion in 
the sector, enabling the company to reach regions with fuel 
consumption growth above the national average, and brings 
new commercial opportunities arising from the nationwide 
coverage. Through these elements, Ultrapar aims to generate 
profitability in the combined business at least at the current 
levels of Ipiranga.

Ultrapar concluded in 2008 the acquisition of União Terminais 
from Unipar – União das Indústrias Petroquímicas S.A. for 
R$ 519 million, which includes net debt of R$ 32 million. This 
acquisition, that almost doubled the size of Ultracargo in terms 
of EBITDA, made Ultracargo the largest liquid bulk storage 
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At Ultracargo, the focus will be on continuing the 
planning and execution of the benefits from União 
Terminais’ acquisition, especially capturing operational 
synergies.

LPG, as a good of first necessity, has volumes resilient 
to variations in the economic growth, making Ultragaz 
less vulnerable to the negative effects of the crisis. At 
Ultragaz, we will be continuing with projects to improve 
operational efficiency through Ultralevel and Ultraflex, and 
the expansion in niche markets that have a rate of growth 
higher than the national average.

The year of 2008 crowned a major cycle of investments 
started in 2006, aiming at enabling the growth in 
Ultrapar’s businesses and in its levels of profitability in 
the years to come. During 2009, we will be focusing 
on capturing the benefits from the acquisitions and 
investments, through increased operational and 
financial scale and a widened range of products and 
services offered. Add to this the natural resilience of our 
businesses, the sound financial position and the focus 
on results, which have always been our characteristics, 
leaving us in a privileged position to move forward on the 
path of sustainable growth and value generation.

Ultrapar starts 2009 much stronger, sounder and more 
competitive, ready to capture the benefits from the 
expansion carried out over the last years. The size reached 
by Ultrapar through the acquisitions of Ipiranga, Texaco, 
and União Terminais and through the investments to 
increase Oxiteno’s production capacity and improve 
Ultragaz operational efficiency will allow the company to 
continue generating value. 

In the fuel distribution business, the integration of Texaco 
and the implementation of our management model in the 
business acquired should result in a significant increase in 
the level of earnings at the new Ipiranga. In addition, the 
increase in the vehicle fleet combined with improvements 
in legislation and inspection measures in the sector 
indicate a growth in the combined sales volume of 
gasoline, ethanol and NGV in 2009. 

At Oxiteno, the production expansion, which has come on 
stream in the last few months, will enable it to increase the 
specialty chemical production volume, basically through 
displacing imported products. In addition, the weaker 
Brazilian Real combined with the lower international oil 
prices contribute to a positive scenario for Oxiteno in the 
coming years.





Adoption	of	Law	11,638/07	and	Provisional	Measure	449/08
Ultrapar’s financial statements for the year ending December 
31, 2008 were prepared in accordance with the accounting 
directives set out in the Brazilian Corporate Law, being 
adopted for the first time in the fiscal year 2008 the alterations 
introduced	by	Law	11,638/07	and	Provisional	Measure	
449/08,	as	well	as	the	CVM	rules,	instructions	and	guidelines,	
which regulate them. The financial statements referring 
to the fiscal year ending December 31, 2007 are shown as 
previously released, without the changes introduced by 
the new legislation, except for the simple reclassification of 
certain accounts in the balance sheet in order to reflect the 
current financial statements format. In order to maintain 
comparability with financial statements in periods prior to the 
adoption of the accounting changes, we have highlighted 
in the performance analysis in the Earnings review chapter 
of this release the effects of the adoption of the new law on 
the respective lines, and present at the end of the section 
mentioned the statement of the effects of the new legislation 
on Ultrapar’s main accounts of the 2008 financial statements, 
compared to values that would have been obtained if these 
modifications had not existed. 

Effects of the acquisitions of Ipiranga and União Terminais
In April 2007 Ultrapar acquired the control of various 
companies in the Ipiranga Group, ending up with (i) the 
fuel and lubricants distribution businesses in the South and 
Southeast of Brazil and related activities, (ii) EMCA – Empresa 
Carioca de Produtos Químicos S.A., a producer of white 
mineral-based oils and special fluids, and (iii) a stake in the 
refining operations. The financial statements of Ultrapar 
consolidate all the businesses acquired from 2Q07. Except 
where otherwise mentioned, Ultrapar’s financial statements 
for periods prior to 2Q07 do not include the operations 
acquired. With the purpose of providing a comparison 

basis for analysis of the evolution in the performance of 
Ipiranga, unaudited financial statements for this company 
have been drawn up for periods prior to 2Q07 (“ Ipiranga 
Pro-forma figures”). With the exchange of the shares issued 
by RPR, DPPI and CBPI by those issued by Ultrapar in 4Q07, 
the correspondent portion of the minority interest in those 
companies was reduced and since October 2007 Ultrapar has 
been consolidating 100% of the earnings of those companies 
in	its	figures.	From	01/01/2008,	EMCA	has	been	consolidated	
into Oxiteno, reflecting the effective management 
responsibility for the business, and the financial statements 
of Oxiteno and Ipiranga, prior to this date, reflect the current 
consolidation retrospectively. The references to the term 
“Ipiranga” consequently refer to the fuels and lubricants 
distribution businesses acquired in the South and Southeast 
of Brazil and related activities. 

In June 2008, Ultrapar signed the sale and purchase 
agreement for the acquisition of 100% shares of União 
Terminais e Armazéns Gerais Ltda., a company involved in 
the storage and handling of bulk liquids, previously held 
by Unipar – União das Indústrias Petroquímicas S.A. with 
operations in the ports located in Santos (in the state of São 
Paulo), Rio de Janeiro and Paranaguá (in the state of Paraná). 
In October 2008, Ultrapar announced to the market that it had 
closed the purchase of the portion correspondent to the port 
terminals in Santos and Rio de Janeiro and in November 2008, 
the closing of the acquisition of the portion correspondent to 
the port terminal in Paranaguá. The total amount disbursed 
was R$ 487 million. Furthermore, Ultrapar assumed a net 
debt of R$ 32 million. The results of the businesses acquired 
were consolidated in Ultrapar’s financial statements after 
their respective closing dates. Ultrapar’s financial statements 
in periods prior to 4Q08 do not include the results of the 
businesses acquired.

ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE IN 2008 
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Considerations on the financial and operational information
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Independent audItors’ report

to
the Board of directors and shareholders
ultrapar participações s.a.
são paulo - sp

1. We have examined the accompanying balance sheet of 
ultrapar participações s.a. and the consolidated balance sheet 
of the Company and its subsidiaries as of december 31, 2008 
and the related statement of income, changes in shareholders’ 
equity, statement of cash flows and statement of added value 
for the year then ended, which are the responsibility of its 
management. our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements.

2. our examination was conducted in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in Brazil and included: 
(a) planning of the audit work, considering the materiality of 
the balances, the volume of transactions and the accounting 
systems and internal accounting controls of the Company 
and its subsidiaries; (b) verification, on a test basis, of the 
evidence and records which support the amounts and 
accounting information disclosed; and (c) evaluation of the 
most significant accounting policies and estimates adopted 
by Company’s management and its subsidiaries, as well as the 
presentation of the financial statements taken as a whole.

3. In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of ultrapar participações s.a. and the consolidated financial 
position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of december 
31, 2008, and the result of its operations, changes in its 
shareholders’ equity, statement of cash flows and statement 
of added value for the year then ended, in conformity with 
accounting practices adopted in Brazil.

4. We have examined the accompanying financial statements 
of the Company and the consolidated financial statements 
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 
december 31, 2007, including the balance sheet, statement 
of income, changes in shareholders’ equity, statement 
of changes in financial position and the supplementary 
information of cash flows and added value issuing an 
unqualified opinion, dated February 11, 2008. as mentioned 
in explanatory note 2, the accounting practices adopted in 
Brazil changed as from January 1, 2008. the accompanying 
december 31, 2007 financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil 
until december 31, 2007 and, as permitted by the technical 
pronouncement CpC 13 – Law 11,638/07 first adoption 
and provisional Measure 449/08, are not being restated for 
comparative purposes.

March 11, 2009

KpMG auditores Independentes
CrC 2sp014428/o-6 

anselmo neves Macedo
accountant
CrC 1sp160482/o-6

alexandre Heinermann 
accountant
CrC 1sp228175/o-0
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BaLanCe sHeets
as of december 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of reais)

     parent   Consolidated

assets note 2008 2007 2008 2007

Current assets     

Cash and banks  533 629 164,351 203,057

Financial investments 5 778,458 97,197 1,962,076 1,419,859

trade account receivables 6 - - 1,429,311 1,344,432

Inventories 7 - - 1,033,756 631,135

recoverable taxes  8 28,780 34,019 311,869 202,620

deferred income tax and social contribution 10.a 128 4,202 111,842 108,964

dividends receivable  98,279 170,571 - -

other receivables  869 1,752,673 103,605 1,772,440

prepaid expenses 2.b and 11 - - 19,000 11,508

Total current assets  907,047 2,059,291 5,135,810 5,694,015

Non-current assets     

Long-term assets     

 Financial investments 5 - - 7,193 120,832

 trade account receivables 6 - - 210,057 176,885

 related companies 9.a 77,034 41,413 5,640 12,865

 deferred income tax and social contribution 10.a 115 11,287 408,708 119,575

 recoverable taxes  2.d and 8 - - 42,959 65,015

 escrow deposits   193 193 56,053 31,779

 other receivables  - 20 491 8,317

 prepaid expenses 2.b and 11 - - 24,581 30,518

   77,342 52,913 755,682 565,786

Investments     

 subsidiaries  2.a and 12.a 4,765,499 4,256,743 - -

 affiliates  12.b - - 12,981 12,948

 others 2.c 59 60 21,000 38,510

Fixed assets  2.c, 2.d, 13 and 16.g - - 3,131,496 2,333,543

Intangible assets 2.a, 2.c and 14 246,163 449,942 594,595 543,989

deferred charges 2.a, 2.c and 15 - - 15,604 27,615

   5,011,721 4,706,745 3,775,676 2,956,605

Total non-current assets  5,089,063 4,759,658 4,531,358 3,522,391

Total assets  5,996,110 6,818,949 9,667,168 9,216,406

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. continued on next page >
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     parent   Consolidated

Liabilities note  2008 2007  2008 2007

Current liabilities

Loans and financing 2.b and 16 1,203,823 - 1,645,534 588,903

debentures 2.b and 16 - 1,218,679 - 1,228,067

Finance lease 16.g - - 12,581 -

suppliers  426 2,103 614,201 582,683

salaries and related charges  90 88 164,620 123,207

taxes payable  113 12,310 88,972 93,885

dividends payable 17.g 119,941 278,127 127,021 285,090

Income tax and social contribution payable  - - 17,418 26,680

deferred income tax and social contribution 10.a - - 14,706 123

post-employment benefits 23.b - - 8,768 8,768

provision for contingencies 22.a - - 32,521 14,875

other payables  1,372 2,946 21,378 55,050

Total current liabilities  1,325,765 1,514,253 2,747,720 3,007,331

Non-current liabilities     

Long-term liabilities     

 Financing 2.b and 16 - - 2,000,941 1,002,815

 debentures 16 - - - 350,000

 Finance lease 16.g - - 12,866 -

 related companies 9.a 1,825 689,955 4,422 4,723

 deferred income tax and social contribution 10.a - - 18,233 1,835

 provision for contingencies 22.a 4,918 4,759 103,530 111,979

 post-employment benefits 23.b - - 77,722 85,164

 other payables  - - 13,471 16,983

Total non-current liabilities  6,743 694,714 2,231,185 1,573,499

Minority interest  - - 38,187 34,791

Shareholders’ equity

share capital 17.a 3,696,773 3,696,773 3,696,773 3,696,773

Capital reserve 17.c 2,906 3,664 855 858

revaluation reserve 17.d 10,280 11,641 10,280 11,641

profit reserves 17.e and 17.f 1,078,914 925,423 1,078,914 925,423

treasury shares 17.b (127,332) (27,519) (138,807) (33,910)

Valuation adjustment 2, 3.c and 17.i (6,248) - (6,248) -

Cumulative translation adjustments 2, 3.n and 17.j 8,309 - 8,309 -

  2 and 17.h 4,663,602 4,609,982 4,650,076 4,600,785

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  5,996,110 6,818,949 9,667,168 9,216,406

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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InCoMe stateMents
Fiscal years ended december 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of reais, except net earnings per share)

     parent   Consolidated

  note 2008 2007 2008 2007

Gross revenue from sales and services 3.a - - 29,536,420 20,841,121

taxes on sales and services   - - (1,122,544) (805,346)

rebates, discounts and returns  - - (145,893) (114,470)

Net revenue from sales and services  - - 28,267,983 19,921,305

Cost of products and services sold 3.a - - (26,152,327) (18,224,238)

Gross income  - - 2,115,656 1,697,067

Income from investments in subsidiaries and affiliates     

equity in income of subsidiaries and affiliates 12.a and 12.b 332,720 315,004 11 576

Operating revenues (expenses)

selling and marketing   - - (584,163) (472,590)

General and administrative   (271) (243) (552,953) (522,175)

depreciation and amortization   (42,876) (34,032) (287,245) (228,438)

other net operating income  458 604 22,114 12,298

Operating income before financial income and

other revenues  290,031 281,333 713,420 486,738

net financial income 20 (79,033) (86,559) (165,993) (80,712)

pIs/CoFIns/CpMF/IoF/other charges on financial income    20 (586) (5,742) (2,841) (38,699)

other income 18 210,454 - 11,212 8,808

Operating income before social contribution and income tax  420,866 189,032 555,798 376,135

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. continued on next page >
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     parent   Consolidated

  note 2008 2007 2008 2007 

Social contribution and income tax     

Current 10.b (17,452) (19,459) (204,581) (207,798)

deferred charges 10.b (13,145) 12,320 12,689 86,681

tax incentives 10.b and 10.c - - 40,309 35,152

   (30,597) (7,139) (151,583) (85,965)

Income before minority interest and

employee statutory interest  390,269 181,893 404,215 290,170

employee statutory interest   - - (9,451) (7,318)

Minority interest  - - (4,495) (100,959)

Net income for the year 17.g 390,269 181,893 390,269 181,893

Net income per equity share

(annual weighted average) - R$  2.87 2.19

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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stateMents oF CHanGes In sHareHoLders’ 
equIty In tHe parent CoMpany
Fiscal years ended december 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of reais, except dividends per share)

     revaluation  profit reserves  Cumulative
   share Capital reserve in Legal retention unrealized Valuation translation retained treasury
  note capital reserve  subsidiaries reserve of profits  profits adjustment  adjustments  earnings shares total

Balance at December 31, 2006  946,034 3,026 13,009 90,967 796,118 96,145 - - - (4,589) 1,940,710

Capital increase through stock-for-stock merger 17.a 2,750,739 - - - - - - - - - 2,750,739

purchase of shares for treasury  - - - - - - - - - (25,203) (25,203)

sale of treasury shares  - 638 - - - - - - - 2,273 2,911

realization of revaluation reserve 17.d  - - (1,368) - - - -  1,368 - -

Income tax and social contribution on realization of revaluation

reserve of subsidiaries 17.d - - - - - - - - (195) - (195)

transfer to retained earnings  - - - - 1,173 - - - (1,173) - -

net income for the year  - - - - - - - - 181,893 - 181,893

            

appropriation of net income:             

 Legal reserve  - - - 9,095 - - - - (9,095) - -

 proposed dividends payable (r$ 1.777031 per share) 17.g - - - - - (96,145) - - (144,728) - (240,873)

 retained earnings 17.e - - - - 28,070 - - - (28,070) - -

            

Balance at December 31, 2007  3,696,773 3,664 11,641 100,062 825,361 - - - - (27,519) 4,609,982

Initial implementation of Law 11,638/07 2 - - - - - - - - (313) - (313)

purchase of shares for treasury  - - - - - - - - - (105,014) (105,014)

sale of treasury shares 17.b - (758) - - - - - - - 5,201 4,443

realization of revaluation reserve 17.d - - (1,361) - - - - - 1,361 - -

Income tax and social contribution on realization of revaluation

reserve of subsidiaries 17.d - - - - - - - - (57) - (57)

transfer to retained earnings  - - - - 991 - - - (991) - -

Valuation adjustments for financial instruments 3.c - - - - - - (6,248) - - - (6,248)

Currency translation of foreign subsidiaries 3.n - - - - - - - 8,309 - - 8,309

net income for the year  - - - - - - - - 390,269 - 390,269

appropriation of net income:            

 Legal reserve  - - - 19,513 - - - - (19,513) - -

 Interim dividends (r$ 0.89 per share) 17.g - - - - - - - - (119,006) - (119,006)

 proposed dividends payable (r$ 0.887031 per share) 17.g - - - - - - - - (118,763) - (118,763)

 retained earnings 17.e - - - - 132,987 - - - (132,987) - -

Balance at December 31, 2008  3,696,773 2,906 10,280 119,575 959,339 - (6,248) 8,309 - (127,332) 4,663,602

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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     revaluation  profit reserves  Cumulative
   share Capital reserve in Legal retention unrealized Valuation translation retained treasury
  note capital reserve  subsidiaries reserve of profits  profits adjustment  adjustments  earnings shares total

Balance at December 31, 2006  946,034 3,026 13,009 90,967 796,118 96,145 - - - (4,589) 1,940,710

Capital increase through stock-for-stock merger 17.a 2,750,739 - - - - - - - - - 2,750,739

purchase of shares for treasury  - - - - - - - - - (25,203) (25,203)

sale of treasury shares  - 638 - - - - - - - 2,273 2,911

realization of revaluation reserve 17.d  - - (1,368) - - - -  1,368 - -

Income tax and social contribution on realization of revaluation

reserve of subsidiaries 17.d - - - - - - - - (195) - (195)

transfer to retained earnings  - - - - 1,173 - - - (1,173) - -

net income for the year  - - - - - - - - 181,893 - 181,893

            

appropriation of net income:             

 Legal reserve  - - - 9,095 - - - - (9,095) - -

 proposed dividends payable (r$ 1.777031 per share) 17.g - - - - - (96,145) - - (144,728) - (240,873)

 retained earnings 17.e - - - - 28,070 - - - (28,070) - -

            

Balance at December 31, 2007  3,696,773 3,664 11,641 100,062 825,361 - - - - (27,519) 4,609,982

Initial implementation of Law 11,638/07 2 - - - - - - - - (313) - (313)

purchase of shares for treasury  - - - - - - - - - (105,014) (105,014)

sale of treasury shares 17.b - (758) - - - - - - - 5,201 4,443

realization of revaluation reserve 17.d - - (1,361) - - - - - 1,361 - -

Income tax and social contribution on realization of revaluation

reserve of subsidiaries 17.d - - - - - - - - (57) - (57)

transfer to retained earnings  - - - - 991 - - - (991) - -

Valuation adjustments for financial instruments 3.c - - - - - - (6,248) - - - (6,248)

Currency translation of foreign subsidiaries 3.n - - - - - - - 8,309 - - 8,309

net income for the year  - - - - - - - - 390,269 - 390,269

appropriation of net income:            

 Legal reserve  - - - 19,513 - - - - (19,513) - -

 Interim dividends (r$ 0.89 per share) 17.g - - - - - - - - (119,006) - (119,006)

 proposed dividends payable (r$ 0.887031 per share) 17.g - - - - - - - - (118,763) - (118,763)

 retained earnings 17.e - - - - 132,987 - - - (132,987) - -

Balance at December 31, 2008  3,696,773 2,906 10,280 119,575 959,339 - (6,248) 8,309 - (127,332) 4,663,602

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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stateMents oF CasH FLoWs - IndIreCt MetHod
Fiscal years ended december 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of reais)

      parent   Consolidated

   note 2008 2007 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities     

 Net income for the year  390,269 181,893 390,269 181,893

 Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash

 provided by operating activities     

  equity in income of subsidiaries and affiliates 12 (332,720) (315,004) (11) (576)

  depreciation and amortization  42,876 34,032 375,476 300,588

  pIs and CoFIns credits on depreciation  - - 5,084 2,994

  Interest, monetary and exchange rate changes  152,274 98,726 566,876 71,637

  deferred income tax and social contribution 10.b 13,145 (12,320) (12,689) (92,177)

  Minority interest in income  - - 4,495 100,959

  proceeds from sale of fixed assets  (210,454) - (20,790) (7,604)

  provision (release of provision) for loss on fixed assets  - - (1,900) (2,755)

  others  - - 1,586 938

 Dividends received from subsidiaries  172,549 10,606 - -

 (Increase) decrease in current assets     

  trade receivables 6 - - (80,022) (84,695)

  Inventories 7 - - (387,061) (64,340)

  recoverable taxes 8 5,239 (6,431) (100,309) (24,056)

  other receivables  119 (647) (82,337) (5,546)

  prepaid expenses 11 - (93) (6,222) 11,221

 Increase (decrease) in current liabilities     

  trade payables  (1,677) 1,739 26,887 130,609

  Wages and employee benefits  2 29 38,184 9,295

  taxes payable  (12,197) 12,276 (5,952) 45,094

  Income tax and social contribution  - - (16,340) 8,595

  other payables  (1,574) 2,947 (17,255) 22,892

 (Increase) decrease in long-term assets     

  accounts receivable 6 - - (40,222) (17,719)

  tax credits 8 - 18,739 20,332 (367)

  amounts in escrow  - - (22,491) (4,976)

  other receivables  20 (20) 7,824 (1,933)

  prepaid expenses 11 - 187 1,882 (10,500)

 Increase (decrease) in long-term liabilities     

  provision for contingencies  159 (4,630) 32,507 28,058

  other payables  - - (54,375) (4,981)

Net cash provided by operating activities  218,030 22,029 623,426 592,548

Cash flows from investment activities     

 Financial investments, net of redemptions  - - 33,992 509,165

 disposal (acquisition) of investments, net 12 61,557 (858,830) (432,370) (889,625)

 Capital contributions to subsidiaries 12 (1,101,828) - - -

 Capital reduction of subsidiaries 12 470,000 - - -

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. continued on next page >
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      parent   Consolidated

   note 2008 2007 2008 2007

 Cash of acquired subsidiaries  - - 11,364 166,691

 acquisition of fixed assets 13 - - (891,693) (658,847)

 Increase in intangible assets 14 - - (37,853) (6,242)

 Increase in deferred charges 15 - - (4,933) (63,377)

 Gain on sale of fixed assets  - - 45,046 33,823

Net cash provided by (used in) investment activities  (570,271) (858,830) (1,276,447) (908,412)

Cash flows from financing activities     

 Financing and debentures     

  Fund raising 16 2,400,000 889,000 3,607,728 1,941,845

  amortization 16 (2,567,139) (77,950) (3,761,011) (1,008,588)

 payment of financial lease 16 - - (10,476) -

 dividends paid  (395,955) (62,644) (398,927) (65,652)

 acquisition of minority interest  - - (18) (53)

 purchase of shares for treasury 17.b (105,014) (25,203) (105,014) (25,203)

 sale of treasury shares to subsidiaries  4,443 2,911 - -

 payment from petrobras and Braskem for delivery of 

     petrochemical and distribution assets  1,731,313 - 1,731,313 -

 related entities 9.a (34,242) (70,873) (5,711) 26,355

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  1,033,406 655,241 1,057,884 868,704

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and 

cash equivalents in foreign currency  - - 7,798 -

Increase (decrease) in cash, banks and 

short-term investments  681,165 (181,560) 412,661 552,840

Cash, banks and short-term investments at beginning of year  97,826 279,386 1,622,916 1,070,076

Initial adjustment in the definition of cash

and cash equivalents  - - (760,524) -

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 5 97,826 279,386 862,392 1,070,076

Cash, banks and short-term investments at end of year  778,991 97,826 1,275,053 1,622,916

Initial adjustment in the definition of cash and

cash equivalents  - - - (760,524)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5 778,991 97,826 1,275,053 862,392

Additional information     

 Interest paid on financing  52,419 77,950 180,273 160,502

 Income tax and social contribution paid for the year  6,401 - 126,558 70,645

Items not affecting cash for the period     

 Capital increase through stock-for-stock merger 4.iii - 2,750,739 - 2,750,739

 accounts receivable from stock-for-stock merger

 for petrobras and Braskem assets 4.iii  - (1,751,685) - (1,751,685)

 acquisition of investments through stock-for-stock merger 4.iii - 999,054 - 999,054

 debt of acquired subsidiaries  - 673,164 43,472 676,955

 Finance lease 16.g - - 15,475 -

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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stateMents oF VaLue added
Fiscal years ended december 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of reais, except percentages)

       parent     Consolidated

  note 2008 % 2007 % 2008 % 2007 %

Revenues         

Gross revenue from sales and services, except rents and royalties 3.a -  -  29,504,108  20,818,354 

rebates, discounts and returns  -  -  (145,893)  (114,470) 

allowance for doubtful accounts - release (creation)  -  -  7,203  4,140 

other income  210,454  -  11,212  8,808 

   210,454  -  29,376,630  20,716,832 

Materials purchased from third parties         

raw materials used 3.a -  -  (1,805,726)  (1,546,401) 

Cost of goods, products and services sold  -  -  (24,276,334)  (16,552,275) 

third-party materials, energy, services and others  (4,952)  (2,359)  (932,075)  (869,091) 

recovery (loss) of asset value  8,574  5,240  2,988  (682) 

   3,622  2,881  (27,011,147)  (18,968,449) 

Gross value added  214,076  2,881  2,365,483  1,748,383 

Deductions         

depreciation and amortization  (42,876)  (34,032)  (380,560)  (303,582) 

Net value added by the company  171,200  (31,151)  1,984,923  1,444,801 

Value added received in transfer         

equity in income of subsidiaries and affiliates 12.a and 12.b 332,720  315,004  11  576 

dividends and interest on equity at cost  30  31  2,796  1,764 

rents and royalties  -  -  32,312  22,767 

Financial revenues 20 82,648  12,683  257,243  163,330 

   415,398  327,718  292,362  188,437 

Total value added available for distribution  586,598 100 296,567 100 2,277,285 100 1,633,238 100

Distribution of value added         

Labor and benefits  2,899 1 2,114 1 699,918 31 645,168 40

taxes, fees and contributions  31,749 5 13,317 4 694,471 30 416,799 25

Financial expenses and rents  161,681 28 99,243 33 488,132 21 288,419 18

dividends and interest on equity  237,769 40 144,728 49 239,307 11 146,289 9

retained earnings  152,500 26 37,165 13 155,457 7 136,563 8

Value added distributed  586,598 100 296,567 100 2,277,285 100 1,633,238 100

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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       parent     Consolidated

  note 2008 % 2007 % 2008 % 2007 %

Revenues         

Gross revenue from sales and services, except rents and royalties 3.a -  -  29,504,108  20,818,354 

rebates, discounts and returns  -  -  (145,893)  (114,470) 

allowance for doubtful accounts - release (creation)  -  -  7,203  4,140 

other income  210,454  -  11,212  8,808 

   210,454  -  29,376,630  20,716,832 

Materials purchased from third parties         

raw materials used 3.a -  -  (1,805,726)  (1,546,401) 

Cost of goods, products and services sold  -  -  (24,276,334)  (16,552,275) 

third-party materials, energy, services and others  (4,952)  (2,359)  (932,075)  (869,091) 

recovery (loss) of asset value  8,574  5,240  2,988  (682) 

   3,622  2,881  (27,011,147)  (18,968,449) 

Gross value added  214,076  2,881  2,365,483  1,748,383 

Deductions         

depreciation and amortization  (42,876)  (34,032)  (380,560)  (303,582) 

Net value added by the company  171,200  (31,151)  1,984,923  1,444,801 

Value added received in transfer         

equity in income of subsidiaries and affiliates 12.a and 12.b 332,720  315,004  11  576 

dividends and interest on equity at cost  30  31  2,796  1,764 

rents and royalties  -  -  32,312  22,767 

Financial revenues 20 82,648  12,683  257,243  163,330 

   415,398  327,718  292,362  188,437 

Total value added available for distribution  586,598 100 296,567 100 2,277,285 100 1,633,238 100

Distribution of value added         

Labor and benefits  2,899 1 2,114 1 699,918 31 645,168 40

taxes, fees and contributions  31,749 5 13,317 4 694,471 30 416,799 25

Financial expenses and rents  161,681 28 99,243 33 488,132 21 288,419 18

dividends and interest on equity  237,769 40 144,728 49 239,307 11 146,289 9

retained earnings  152,500 26 37,165 13 155,457 7 136,563 8

Value added distributed  586,598 100 296,567 100 2,277,285 100 1,633,238 100

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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notes to tHe FInanCIaL stateMents
(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise stated)

1 operatIons 

ultrapar participações s.a. (“Company”), with headquarters in 
the City of são paulo, engages in the investment of its own 
capital in commercial and industrial activities and related 
businesses, including the subscription or acquisition of shares 
of other companies. 

through its subsidiaries, it operates in the segment of 
liquefied petroleum gas (LpG) distribution (“ultragaz”), 
light fuel & lubricant distribution, and related business in 
southern and southeastern Brazil (“Ipiranga”), production 
and marketing of chemicals (“oxiteno”), and provision of 
integrated logistics solution services for special bulk cargo 
(“ultracargo”). the Company also operates in the petroleum 
refining business through its investment in refinaria de 
petróleo riograndense s.a., formerly known as refinaria de 
petróleo Ipiranga s.a. (“refining”).

2 InItIaL IMpLeMentatIon oF LaW 11,638/07 and 
suMMary oF sIGnIFICant aCCountInG poLICy 
CHanGes

Law 11,638/07 was enacted on december 28, 2007 and 
provisional Measure 449/08 was issued on december 3, 

2008, both amending and repealing existing provisions 
and adding new provisions to Law 6404/76 (Brazilian 
Corporate Law) to adapt the accounting policies adopted 
in Brazil to the International Financial reporting standards 
(IFrs) issued by the International accounting standards 
Board (IasB). In order to regulate these changes, the 
Brazilian securities Commission (CVM) issued a set of 
resolutions during 2008, whose main effects on the 
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
are summarized below.

Resolution CVM 565 of December 17, 2008 – deals 
with the initial implementation of Law 11,638/07 
and Provisional Measure (MP) 449/08.
as permitted by this resolution, the Company decided 
to adopt January 1, 2008 as the date of transition. In 
addition, the Company and its subsidiaries started to 
use the equity method of accounting for the company 
Metalúrgica plus s/a. and consolidate the company 
serMa – associação dos usuários de equipamentos de 
processamento de dados e serviços Correlatos in their 
financial statements (see notes 4 and 12). Further, in 
compliance with resolution CVM 565/08, the Company 
reclassified the balance at december 31, 2007 to allow a 
better comparison with the fiscal year of 2008, as shown 
on the table below:

     parent company

   Balances at december 31, Balances at december 31,
   2007, as previously 2007 reclassified under
   reported Law 11,638/07

Investments in subsidiaries a) 4,706,685 4,256,743

Intangible assets a) - 449,942

debentures – current b) 1,219,332 1,218,679

prepaid expenses b) 653 -
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Resolution CVM 534 of January 29, 2008 – deals with 
effects of the changes in exchange rates and of the 
translation of financial statements.
the Company and its subsidiaries analyzed their investments 
in foreign entities and combined with the investor, those 
investees lacking autonomy and independent management, 
in accordance with item 41(a) of the resolution. Foreign 
subsidiaries with autonomy were booked as provided 
for in item 41(b) of the resolution, and the changes in 
exchange rates of the net investment in these subsidiaries 
were recorded as Cumulative translation adjustments in the 
investor’s shareholders’ equity. see note 3.n.

Resolution CVM 547 of August 13, 2008 – deals with 
the Statement of Cash Flows. 
the Company and its subsidiaries classified as cash 
equivalents, the short-term investments that are readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash and are subject 
to insignificant risk of change in value. the statement of 
cash flows shows the activity in the accounts: (i) Cash and 
banks and (ii) Financial investments considered as cash 
equivalents in the fiscal year. see notes 3.b and 5.

     Consolidated

   Balances at december 31, Balances at december 31,
   2007, as previously 2007 reclassified under
   reported Law 11,638/07

deferred charges a), c) 570,124 27,615

Intangible assets a), c) 66,894 543,989

prepaid expenses – current b) 13,195 11,508

prepaid expenses – non-current b) 36,929 30,518

Financing – current b) 589,937 588,903

debentures – current b) 1,228,720 1,228,067

Financing – non-current b) 1,009,226 1,002,815

Fixed assets c), d) 2,268,885 2,333,543

other investments c) 34,117 38,510

recoverable taxes – non-current d) 68,652 65,015

a) reclassification of goodwill, from deferred charges to intangible assets, in accordance with resolution CVM 553/08.

b) reclassification of transaction costs for issuance of bonds and securities, from prepaid expenses to a reduction of loans and financing, in accordance with resolution CVM 556/08.

c) reclassification of preoperating costs incurred in facilities of ultrasystem customers, implementation of systems, and acquisition of companies, from deferred charges to fixed assets, 

intangible assets, and investment in progress, respectively, in accordance with resolution CVM 553/08.

d) recognition of the adjustment to present value of ICMs credit balances on fixed assets, in accordance with resolution CVM 564/08.
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Resolution CVM 566 of December 17, 2008 – deals with 
recognition, measurement, and evidence of financial 
instruments.
the financial instruments of the Company and its subsidiaries 
were classified, according to their characteristics and the 
Company’s intention, into: (i) measured at fair value through 
income; (ii) held to maturity; (iii) available for sale; and (iv) 
loans and receivables. see notes 3.c, 5 and 21.

Resolution CVM 553 of November 12, 2008 – deals with 
intangible assets.
the Company and its subsidiaries reclassified to intangible 
assets the goodwill on the acquisitions of companies, which 
were previously shown as deferred charges in the financial 
statements. see notes 3.h, 3.i and 14.

Resolution CVM 554 of November 12, 2008 – deals with 
financial leases.
Certain financial lease contracts where substantially all the 
risks and benefits associated with the ownership of an asset 
are transferred to the Company and its subsidiaries were 
recorded in the financial statements as finance leases, net of 
tax effects. the items recognized as assets were depreciated 
at the depreciation rates applicable to each of the group 
of assets into which they were classified, and the financial 

charges under the leases were allocated over the contract 
terms, based on the amortized cost method. see notes 3.g 
16.g and 22.d.

Resolution CVM 556 of November 12, 2008 – deals with 
transaction costs and premiums on issuance of bonds 
and securities.
transaction costs and issue premiums associated with 
funding transactions by the Company and its subsidiaries 
were reclassified and added to the values of the respective 
funds raised, and the effective interest rate of each issuance 
was calculated. see note 16.a.

Resolution CVM 564 of December 17, 2008 – deals with 
adjustment to present value of assets and liabilities.
the Company’s subsidiaries recorded the adjustment to 
present value of ICMs credit balances on acquisition of fixed 
assets (CIap). the Company and its subsidiaries reviewed all 
other items of long-term and, where relevant, short-term 
assets and liabilities and did not identify the need to adjust 
these transactions to present value. see notes 3.q and 8.

the chart below shows the effects of the implementation of 
Law 11,638/07 and Mp 449/08 on consolidated net income 
and shareholders’ equity as of december 31, 2008:

     2008

  CVM net shareholders’
  resolution income equity

Values before the implementation of Law 11,638/07 and Mp 449/08  388,014 4,646,072

effects of the implementation of Law 11,638/07 and Mp 449/08:

 Finance leases 554 2,402 2,385

 Cost of funding 556 910 910

 Marking-to-market of currency and interest rate hedging instruments 566 7,309 716

 Marking-to-market of short-term investments available for sale 566 - 345

 equity in income of Metalplus  565 (22) (317)

 Cumulative translation adjustments 534 (8,344) (35)

total  2,255 4,004

Values in financial statements as of December 31, 2008  390,269 4,650,076
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3 presentatIon oF FInanCIaL stateMents and 
sIGnIFICant aCCountInG poLICIes

the individual and consolidated financial statements were 
prepared in conformity with the accounting policies adopted 
in Brazil, which include the Brazilian Corporate Law, the 
standards, Guidelines and Interpretations issued by the 
accounting standards Committee and the rules issued by the 
Brazilian securities Commission (CVM).

on March 11, 2009 the Board of directors authorized the 
conclusion of these financial statements.

a. recognition of income
Income is recognized on the accrual basis. revenues from 
sales and costs are recognized as income when all risks and 
benefits associated with the products are transferred to the 
purchaser. revenues from services provided and their costs 
are recognized as income when the services are performed.

b. Cash equivalents
Include short-term highly-liquid investments that are readily 
convertible into a known amount of cash and are subject 
to an insignificant risk of change in value. see note 5 for 
further detail on cash equivalents of the Company and its 
subsidiaries.

c. Financial instruments
In accordance with resolution CVM 566/08, the financial 
instruments of the Company and its subsidiaries were 
classified into the following categories:

•	 Measured	at	fair	value	through	income:	financial	assets	
held for trading, that is, purchased or created primarily for 
the purpose of sale or repurchase in the short term, and 
derivatives. Changes in fair value are recorded as income, 
and the balances are stated at fair value.

•	 Held	to	maturity:	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	
payments or determinable payments with fixed maturities 
for which the entity has the positive intent and ability to hold 
to maturity. the interest earned is recorded as income, and 
balances are stated at acquisition cost plus the interest earned.

•	 Available	for	sale:	non-derivative	financial	assets	that	are	
designated as available for sale or that were not classified 
into other categories. the interest earned is recorded 
as income, and the balances are stated at fair value. 
differences between fair value and acquisition cost plus 
the interest earned are recorded in a specific account of 
the shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses recorded in the 
shareholders’ equity are included in income, in case of 
prepayment.

•	 Loans	and	receivables:	non-derivative	financial	
instruments with fixed payments or determinable 
payments not quoted in active markets, except: (i) those 
which the entity intends to sell immediately or in the 
short term and which the entity classified as measured 
at fair value through income; (ii) those classified as 
available for sale; or (iii) those the holder of which 
cannot substantially recover its initial investment for 
reasons other than credit deterioration. the interest 
earned is recorded as income, and balances are stated at 
acquisition cost plus the interest earned.

Certain derivative financial instruments used to hedge 
against changes in interest rates were designated as cash 
flow hedge for purposes of measuring their fair value. 
the difference between the fair value of the financial 
instrument and its value plus interest earned is recognized 
as a Valuation adjustment in the shareholders’ equity, not 
affecting the income statement of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. Gains and losses recorded in the shareholders’ 
equity are included in income, in case of prepayment.

For further detail on financial instruments of the Company 
and its subsidiaries, see notes 5, 16, and 21.

d. Current and non-current assets
allowance for doubtful accounts is calculated based on 
estimated losses and is set at an amount deemed by 
Management to be sufficient to cover any loss on realization 
of accounts receivable.

Inventories are stated at the lower of average acquisition or 
production cost, and replacement cost or market value.
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the other assets are stated at the lower of cost and realizable 
value, including, if applicable, the interest earned, monetary 
changes and changes in exchange rates incurred or less a 
provision for loss and, if applicable, adjustment to present 
value (see note 3.q).

e. Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are valued by the equity method 
of accounting.

Investments in companies on which Management has a 
significant influence or in which it holds 20% or more of 
the voting stock, or that are part of a group under common 
control are also valued by the equity method of accounting 
(see note 12).

the other investments are stated at acquisition cost less 
provision for loss, unless the loss is considered temporary, 
and also include investments in progress.

f. Fixed assets
recorded at acquisition or construction cost, including 
financial charges incurred on fixed assets under 
construction, as well as significant maintenance costs 
resulting from scheduled plant outages. the Company will 
maintain the revaluation balances until their realization, 
but will not record new revaluations. such balances were 
included in the cost value of the property.

depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method, at the 
annual rates stated in note 13, over the useful/economic life 
of the property.

Leasehold improvements in service stations are depreciated 
over the shorter of the contract term and useful/economic 
life of the property.

g. Financial leases
Finance leases
Certain financial lease contracts transfer substantially all 
the risks and benefits associated with the ownership of an 

asset to the Company and its subsidiaries. these contracts 
are characterized as finance leases, and assets thereunder 
are stated at fair value or present value of the minimum 
payments under the relevant contracts. the items recognized 
as assets are depreciated at the depreciation rates applicable 
to each group of assets in accordance with note 13. Financial 
charges under the finance lease contracts are allocated to 
income over the contract term, based on the amortized cost 
and actual interest rate method (see note 16.g).

Operating leases
are lease transactions where the risks and benefits 
associated with the ownership of the asset are not 
transferred and where the purchase option at the end of 
the contract is equivalent to the market value of the leased 
asset. payments made under an operating lease contract 
are recognized as expenses in the income statement on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease contract, in 
accordance with note 22.d.

h. Intangible assets
Intangible assets include assets acquired by the Company 
and its subsidiaries from third parties, according to the 
following criteria (see note 14):

•	 Goodwill	is	carried	at	the	original	value	less	accumulated	
amortization as of december 31, 2008.

•	 Other	intangible	assets	acquired	from	third	parties	are	
measured at the total acquisition cost less accumulated 
amortization expenses.

the Company and its subsidiaries do not have intangible 
assets that were created internally or that have an indefinite 
useful life.

i. deferred charges
deferred charges include restructuring costs that will 
produce benefits in future years (see note 15). the Company 
and its subsidiaries decided to maintain the balances until 
they are fully amortized.
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j. Current and non-current liabilities
are stated at known or calculable amounts plus, if applicable, 
related charges, monetary changes and changes in exchange 
rates incurred until the date of the financial statements and, if 
applicable, adjustment to present value (see note 3.q).

k. Income tax and social contribution on profit
Current and deferred income tax (IrpJ) and social contribution 
(CsLL) are calculated based on the current rates of income tax 
and social contribution on profit, including the value of tax 
incentives, as stated in note 10.b.

l. provision for contingencies
the provision for contingencies is created for contingent risks 
with a “probable” chance of loss in the opinion of managers 
and internal and external legal counsel, and the values are 
recorded based on evaluation of the outcomes of the legal 
proceedings (see note 22.a).

m.  actuarial obligation for post-employment benefits
reserves for actuarial liabilities for post-employment benefits 
granted and to be granted to employees, retirees, and 
pensioners are based on an actuarial calculation prepared 
by an independent actuary, using the projected unit credit 
method, as described in note 23.b.

n. Basis for translating financial statements of foreign-based 
subsidiaries
assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries oxiteno México s.a. 
de C.V. and its subsidiaries, located in Mexico (functional 
currency: Mexican peso), and oxiteno andina, C.a., located 
in Venezuela (functional currency: Bolivar), denominated 
in currencies other than that of the Company (functional 
currency: real), are translated at the exchange rate in effect 
on the date of the financial statements. Gains and losses 
resulting from changes in these foreign investments are 
directly recognized in the shareholders’ equity as Cumulative 
translation adjustments and are recognized as income when 
these investments are disposed of. the amount recognized in 
the shareholders’ equity as cumulative translation adjustments 
in 2008 was r$ 8,309.

assets and liabilities of the other foreign subsidiaries, which do 
not have autonomy, are considered activities of their investor 
and are translated at the exchange rate in effect on the date of 
the financial statements. Gains and losses resulting from changes 
in these foreign investments are directly recognized as income. 
the gain recognized as income in 2008 amounted to r$ 30,428.

o. use of estimates
the preparation of financial statements requires the Company’s 
Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the values of assets and liabilities presented as of the date of 
the financial statements, as well as the values of revenues, 
costs and expenses for the fiscal years presented. although 
these estimates are based on the best information available 
to Management about present and future events, the actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

p. Impairment of assets
the Company reviews, at least annually, the carrying value 
of assets for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not 
be recoverable from the estimated future cash flows expected 
to result from its use or disposal. In cases where future expected 
cash flows are less than the carrying value, an impairment loss 
is recognized equal to an amount by which the carrying value 
exceeds the fair value of these assets. the factors considered by 
the Company in performing this assessment include current 
operating results, trends, and prospects, as well as the effects of 
obsolescence, demand, competition, and other economic factors.

no impairment was recorded in the consolidated financial 
statements as of december 31, 2008.

q. adjustment to present value
the subsidiaries booked the adjustment to present value of 
ICMs credit balances on fixed assets (CIap – see note 8). as of 
december 31, 2007, the balances of CIap were recorded at their 
nominal values. the Company and its subsidiaries reviewed all 
items classified as long-term and, where relevant, short-term 
assets and liabilities and did not identify the need to adjust 
other balances to present value.
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4 prInCIpLes oF ConsoLIdatIon and InVestMents In 
aFFILIates

the consolidated financial statements were prepared 
following the basic principles of consolidation established 
by the Brazilian Corporate Law and CVM rules, including the 
following direct and indirect subsidiaries:

    % interest in the share capital – dec. 31, 2008

   Location direct control Indirect control

Ultracargo - Operações Logísticas e Participações Ltda. Brazil 100 -

transultra. - armazenamento e transporte especializado Ltda. Brazil - 100

 petrolog serviços e armazéns Gerais Ltda. Brazil - 100

terminal químico de aratu s.a. – tequimar Brazil - 99

 união Vopak armazéns Gerais Ltda. Brazil - 50

Melamina ultra s.a. Indústria química Brazil - 99

Oxiteno S.A. Indústria e Comércio Brazil 100 -

oxiteno nordeste s.a. Indústria e Comércio Brazil - 99

 oxiteno argentina sociedad de responsabilidad Ltda. argentina - 99

oleoquímica Indústria e Comércio de produtos químicos Ltda. Brazil - 100

Barrington s.L. spain - 100

 oxiteno México s.a. de C.V. Mexico - 100

  oxiteno servicios Corporativos s.a. de C.V. Mexico - 100

  oxiteno servicios Industriales s.a. de C.V. Mexico - 100

  oxiteno usa LLC united states - 100

 oxiteno International Corp. Virgin Islands - 100

  oxiteno overseas Corp. Virgin Islands - 100

 oxiteno andina, C.a. Venezuela - 100

 oxiteno europe sprL Belgium - 100

u.a.t.s.p.e. empreendimentos e participações Ltda. Brazil - 100

 empresa Carioca de produtos químicos s.a. Brazil - 100

Companhia Brasileira de Petróleo Ipiranga (*) Brazil 100 -

am/pm Comestíveis Ltda. (*) Brazil - 100

 Centro de Conveniências Millennium Ltda. (*) Brazil - 100

Conveniência Ipiranga norte Ltda. Brazil - 100

Ipiranga trading Limited Virgin Islands - 100

tropical transportes Ipiranga Ltda. Brazil - 100

Ipiranga Imobiliária Ltda. Brazil - 100

Ipiranga Logística Ltda. Brazil - 100

Maxfácil participações s.a. (**) Brazil - 50

Isa-sul administração e participações Ltda. Brazil - 100

Comercial Farroupilha Ltda. Brazil - 100

Companhia ultragaz s.a. Brazil - 99

Bahiana distribuidora de Gás Ltda. Brazil - 100

utingás armazenadora s.a. Brazil - 56

LpG International Inc. Cayman Islands - 100

Imaven Imóveis Ltda. Brazil - 100

Refinaria de Petróleo Riograndense S.A. (***) Brazil 100 -

Sociedade Brasileira de Participações Ltda. (****) Brazil 100 -

SERMA - Ass. dos usuários equip. proc. de dados Brazil - 100
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    % interest in the share capital – dec. 31, 2007

   Location direct control Indirect control

Ultragaz Participações Ltda. Brazil 100 -

Companhia ultragaz s.a. Brazil - 99

Bahiana distribuidora de Gás Ltda. Brazil - 100

utingás armazenadora s.a. Brazil - 56

LpG International Inc. Cayman Islands - 100

Ultracargo - Operações Logísticas e Participações Ltda. Brazil 100 -

transultra - armazenamento e transporte especializado Ltda. Brazil - 100

 petrolog serviços e armazéns Gerais Ltda. Brazil - 100

terminal químico de aratu s.a. - tequimar Brazil - 99

Melamina ultra s.a. Indústria química Brazil - 99

Oxiteno S.A. Indústria e Comércio Brazil 100 -

oxiteno nordeste s.a. Indústria e Comércio Brazil - 99

 oxiteno argentina sociedad de responsabilidad Ltda. argentina - 99

oleoquímica Indústria e Comércio de produtos químicos Ltda. Brazil - 100

Barrington s.L. spain - 100

 oxiteno México s.a. de C.V. Mexico - 100

  oxiteno servicios Corporativos s.a. de C.V. Mexico - 100

  oxiteno servicios Industriales s.a. de C.V. Mexico - 100

  oxiteno usa LLC united states - 100

 oxiteno International Corp. Virgin Islands - 100

  oxiteno overseas Corp. Virgin Islands - 100

 oxiteno andina, C.a. Venezuela - 100

Imaven Imóveis Ltda. Brazil 100 -

UPB Consultoria e Assessoria S.A. Brazil 100 -

Ultracargo Terminais Ltda. Brazil 100 -

Distribuidora de Produtos de Petróleo Ipiranga S.A. Brazil 100 -

Isa-sul administração e participações Ltda. Brazil - 100

Comercial Farroupilha Ltda. Brazil - 100

sociedade Brasileira de participações Ltda. (****) Brazil - 100

Maxfácil participações s.a. (**) Brazil - 16

Companhia Brasileira de Petróleo Ipiranga (*) Brazil 100 -

am/pm Comestíveis Ltda. (*) Brazil - 100

 Centro de Conveniências Millennium Ltda. (*) Brazil - 100

empresa Carioca de produtos químicos s.a. Brazil - 100

Ipiranga Comercial Importadora e exportadora Ltda. Brazil - 100

Ipiranga trading Limited Virgin Islands - 100

tropical transportes Ipiranga Ltda. Brazil - 100

Ipiranga Imobiliária Ltda. Brazil - 100

Ipiranga Logística Ltda. Brazil - 100

Maxfácil participações s.a. (**) Brazil - 34

Refinaria de Petróleo Riograndense S.A. (***) Brazil 100 -

(*) Fuel and lubricant distribution business and related activities of these companies were divided between ultrapar (south and southeast) and petrobras (north, northeast, and 

Mid-West) until april 2008.

(**) Control shared by dppI (16%), CBpI (34%), and união de Bancos Brasileiros s.a. - unIBanCo (50%). From december 2008, the subsidiary CBpI acquired 50% of control in Maxfácil 

participações s.a. after merging dppI.

(***) according to “Material event” of March 19, 2007 and “Material event” of april 18, 2007, the control of assets related to oil refining operations held by refinaria de petróleo 

riograndense s.a. are equally shared by petrobras, ultrapar, and Braskem and were proportionally consolidated as specified in article 32 of Instruction CVM 247/96.

(****) on august 6, 2008, the indirect subsidiary Ipiranga administração de Bens Móveis Ltda. changed its name to sociedade Brasileira de participações Ltda. and became a direct 

subsidiary of the Company.
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on april 18, 2007, the Company, together with petróleo 
Brasileiro s.a. (“petrobras”) and Braskem s.a. (“Braskem”) 
acquired the control of the Ipiranga Group, according to the 
“Material event” disclosed on that date. under the Investment 
agreement signed by the three acquirers, the Company 
acted as a commission agent for the interests acquired 
by Braskem and petrobras and acquired for itself the fuel 
and lubricant distribution business and related activities 
located in the south and southeast and empresa Carioca 
de produtos químicos s.a., maintaining the Ipiranga brand. 
petrobras holds control of the fuel and lubricant distribution 
business located in the north, northeast, and Mid-West 
regions (“north distribution assets”), and Braskem holds 
control of the petrochemical assets represented by Ipiranga 
química s.a., Ipiranga petroquímica s.a. and by its interest in 
Copesul - Companhia petroquímica do sul (“petrochemical 
assets”).

the transaction was composed of 4 steps, namely:

(i) acquisition of shares from the families holding the 
controlling block of the Ipiranga Group (effected on april 
18, 2007);

(ii) tender offer, for the acquisition of common shares 
held by minority shareholders in Companhia Brasileira 
de petróleo Ipiranga (“CBpI”), in refinaria de petróleo 
riograndense s.a. (“rpr”) and in distribuidora de 
produtos de petróleo Ipiranga s.a. (“dppI”) (effected on 
october 22, 2007 for dppI and rpr and on november 8, 
2007 for CBpI);

(iii) exchange of the remaining shares of CBpI, rpr, and dppI 
for ultrapar shares (effected on december 18, 2007), 
which resulted in accounts receivable from Braskem and 
petrobras; and

(iv) separation of the assets acquired into the Company, 
petrobras, and Braskem (split and removal of the 
petrochemical assets of rpr, dppI, and CBpI on February 
2008, and split of CBpI and separation of the north 
distribution assets on april 2008), with the receipt of 
accounts receivable generated in step (iii).

the assets, liabilities and income of Ipiranga/refining have 
been reflected in the Company’s accounting information 
since april 2007.

since January 2008, empresa Carioca de produtos químicos 
s.a. (“eMCa”) is no longer a subsidiary of CBpI and is now 
held by u.a.t.s.p.e. empreendimentos e participações 
Ltda., controlled by oxiteno s.a. Indústria e Comércio, for 
allocation in the Company’s chemical business.

In May 2008, the subsidiary oxiteno s.a. Indústria e 
Comércio, through Barrington s.L., constituted oxiteno 
europe sprL, based in Brussels, as part of the subsidiary’s 
internationalization process.

In June 2008, the Company, through its subsidiary terminal 
químico de aratu s.a. – tequimar (“tequimar”), entered 
into a sale and purchase agreement for 100% of the 
capital of união terminais e armazéns Gerais Ltda. (“união 
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terminais”), a company that has port terminals for storage 
and handling of bulk liquids in santos, rio de Janeiro, and 
paranaguá (the last through its interest of 50% in união 
Vopak armazéns Gerais Ltda.). the Company disclosed a 
“Material event” on June 6, 2008 containing information on 
the transaction. In october 2008, the Company announced 
to the market the closing of the purchase of the terminals 
in santos and rio de Janeiro. In november 2008, the 
Company announced the completion of the acquisition 
of paranaguá terminal. the total amount disbursed was 
r$ 487 million, and tequimar assumed the net debt 
of união terminais in the amount of r$ 32 million. the 
goodwill breaks down into r$ 326,638 based on expected 
future profitability and r$ 75,408 based on the difference 
between the market value and the carrying value of the 
assets. In december 2008, for corporate simplification and 
capture of operational synergies, união terminais was 
merged into tequimar.

In august 2008, the Company, through the subsidiary 
sociedade Brasileira de participações Ltda., entered 
into a purchase agreement with Chevron Latin america 
Marketing LLC and Chevron amazonas LLC (collectively, 
“Chevron”) for the purchase of 100% of the shares issued 
by Chevron Brasil Ltda. and in sociedade anônima de Óleo 
Galena signal, subsidiaries of Chevron that hold texaco fuel 
distribution business in Brazil (“texaco”). the acquisition 
value totaled r$ 1,161 million, subject to adjustments to 
working capital and net debt at closing. the subsidiary 
deposited us$ 38 million to Chevron, which corresponded 

to r$ 62 million on the date of disbursement. the payment 
of the rest of the acquisition is denominated in reais and, 
therefore, is not subject to changes in exchange rates. the 
Company disclosed a “Material event” on august 14, 2008 
containing information on the transaction.

In october 2008, the companies Isa-sul administração e 
participações Ltda. and am/pm Comestíveis Ltda. were 
split off, and the split portion, represented by real estate, 
was transferred to the company Imaven Imóveis Ltda. 
Consolidating the same business into a single company 
was aimed at obtaining administrative and economic gains.

In november 2008, the name of Ipiranga Comércio 
Importadora e exportadora Ltda. was changed to 
Conveniência Ipiranga norte Ltda.

In november 2008, in order to simplify the corporate 
structure, eliminate duplicated structures, enhance logistics 
efficiency and capture synergies, CBpI merged ultragaz 
participações s.a. (formerly known as ultragaz participações 
Ltda.) and dppI, thus consolidating all fuel and LpG 
distribution business.

Investments of one company in the other, balances of asset 
and liability accounts and revenues and expenses were 
eliminated, as well as the effects of significant transactions 
conducted between the companies. the interest of 
minority shareholders in the subsidiaries is indicated in the 
financial statements.
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In accordance with resolution CVM 566/08, the financial 
assets of the Company and its subsidiaries were classified, 
according to their characteristics and the Company’s 
intention, into: (i) measured at fair value through income; 
(ii) held to maturity; (iii) available for sale; and (iv) loans and 
receivables, as shown on the table below.

   Consolidated

  2008

Measured at fair value through income 1,148,615

Held to maturity 7,193

available for sale 672,802

Loans and receivables 140,659

  1,969,269

For the preparation of the Company’s statements of cash flows, 
cash and cash equivalents mean the balances of the accounts: 
(i) Cash and banks and (ii) short-term investments classified 
as measured at fair value through income, excluding currency 
and interest rate hedging instruments, as shown below:

  ` Consolidated

  2008 2007

Cash and banks 164,351 203,057

short-term investments measured

at fair value through income

(except currency and interest rate

hedging instruments) 1,110,702 659,335

  1,275,053 862,392

    parent   Consolidated

   2008 2007  2008 2007

Financial investments

In local currency

 Fixed-income securities and funds  778,458 97,197  1,366,022 567,983

 austrian notes  - -  - 424,213

In foreign currency

 Linked notes (a)  - -  140,659 128,337

 structured deposit (b)  - -  - 440,920

 Fixed-income securities and funds  - -  424,675 64,039

Income from currency and interest hedging instruments (c)  - -  37,913 (84,801)

Total financial investments  778,458 97,197  1,969,269 1,540,691

Current  778,458 97,197  1,962,076 1,419,859

non-current  - -  7,193 120,832

(a) represents us$ 60 million in linked notes (“Linked notes”) to notes issued by the subsidiary Companhia ultragaz s.a. in the foreign market in 1997 (“original notes”). In april 2006, 

the subsidiary oxiteno overseas Corp., the then owner of the original notes, sold such notes to a foreign financial institution. simultaneously, the subsidiary purchased the Linked 

notes from that financial institution. such transaction enables a financial gain to the subsidiary corresponding to the difference between the interest rate paid on Linked notes and 

original notes, as remarked in note 16.c. this financial instrument was classified as loans and receivables for measurement purposes (see note 3.c).

(b) short-term investment of the subsidiary oxiteno overseas Corp., with return in either u.s. dollars or reais, depending on the u.s. dollar exchange rate on the maturity date.

(c) accumulated gains or losses, net of income tax (see note 21).

5 FInanCIaL assets

Financial investments with first-rate banks are substantially 
represented by money invested: (i) in Brazil, in certificates of 
deposit of first-rate financial institutions linked to the Interbank 

Certificate of deposit (CdI) and in Federal government bonds; 
(ii) abroad, in certificates of deposits of first-rate financial 
institutions and in short-term investment funds with a 
portfolio composed of bonds issued by the u.s. Government; 
and (iii) currency and interest rate hedging instruments.
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6 trade reCeIVaBLes (ConsoLIdated)

  2008 2007

domestic customers 1,294,905 1,249,196

Customer financing - Ipiranga 351,323 298,947

Foreign customers 106,141 125,231

(-) advances on negotiable

instruments issued (53,223) (89,933)

(-) allowance for doubtful accounts (59,778) (62,124)

  1,639,368 1,521,317

Current 1,429,311 1,344,432

non-current 210,057 176,885

Customer financing is provided for renovation and 
upgrading of service stations, purchase of products, 
and development of the fuel and lubricant distribution 
market.

Movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts are as 
follows:

Balance for 2007 62,124

additions  16,784

Write-offs (19,130)

Balance for 2008 59,778

    

7 InVentorIes (ConsoLIdated)

     2008    2007

   provision net  provision net
  Cost for loss balance Cost for loss balance

Finished goods 333,054 (16,704) 316,350 143,666 (4,268) 139,398

Work in process 1,351 - 1,351 1,288 - 1,288

raw materials 248,150 (22) 248,128 104,764 (58) 104,706

Liquefied petroleum gas (LpG) 29,535 - 29,535 24,221 - 24,221

Fuels, lubricants and greases 333,675 (876) 332,799 264,961 (370) 264,591

Consumable materials and bottles 

for resale 36,466 (1,373) 35,093 33,742 (2,632) 31,110

advances to suppliers 55,711 - 55,711 65,821 - 65,821

properties for resale 14,789 - 14,789 - - -

  1,052,731 (18,975) 1,033,756 638,463 (7,328) 631,135

Movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts are as 
follows:

Balance for 2007 7,328

addition 11,647

Balance for 2008 18,975
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8 reCoVeraBLe taxes

are substantially represented by credit balances of tax on 
Goods and services (ICMs), Contribution to social security 
Funding (CoFIns), social Integration plan (pIs), and Income 
tax and social Contribution.
    parent   Consolidated

   2008 2007  2007 2008

IrpJ and CsLL  28,698 33,957  112,755 104,994

ICMs  - -  174,088 167,672

adjustment to present value of ICMs on fixed 

assets - CIap (see notes 2.d and 3.q)  - -  (5,511) (3,637)

provision for ICMs losses (*)  - -  (42,313) (46,886)

pIs and CoFIns  21 21  76,561 31,307

Value-added tax (IVa) on the subsidiaries oxiteno

Mexico s.a. de C.V. and oxiteno andina, C.a.  - -  13,303 4,011

IpI   - -  22,208 8,649

others  61 41  3,737 1,525

Total  28,780 34,019  354,828 267,635

Current  28,780 34,019  311,869 202,620

non-current  - -  42,959 65,015

(*) the provision relates to credit balances that the subsidiaries estimate to be unable to offset in the future.

Movements in the provision for ICMs losses are as follows:

Balance for 2007 46,886

reversal of provision (3,531)

Write-offs (1,042)

Balance for 2008 42,313

the balance of ICMs includes credits of the Camaçari – Ba site 
of the subsidiary oxiteno nordeste s.a. Indústria e Comércio, 
in the amount of r$ 68,544 as of december 31, 2008 (r$ 
76,845 in 2007), which were approved and released by the tax 
authorities for sale/transfer. the provision for loss of credits 
of the site was established based on the maximum discount 
expected in their sale. IpI, pIs and CoFIns credits are used to 
offset other federal taxes.
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9 reLated partIes

a. related companies
    parent

    Loans

   assets Liabilities

Companhia ultragaz s.a.  27,529 -

oleoquímica Indústria e Comércio de produtos químicos Ltda.  49,145 -

oxiteno s.a. Indústria e Comércio  360 -

transultra - armazenamento e transporte especializado Ltda.  - 1,389

Melamina ultra s.a. Indústria química  - 436

Total as of December 31, 2008  77,034 1,825

Total as of December 31, 2007  41,413 689,955

       Consolidated

     Loans  Commercial transactions

  assets Liabilities receivable payable

química da Bahia Indústria e Comércio s.a. - 3,391 - -

petroquímica união s.a. - - - 4,174

oxicap Indústria de Gases Ltda. 5,305 - - 847

Liquigás distribuidora s.a. - - 194 -

petróleo Brasileiro s.a. - petrobras - - - 184,074

Copagaz distribuidora de Gás Ltda. - - 421 -

Braskem s.a. - - - 17,096

sHV Gás Brasil Ltda. - - 149 -

plenogás - distribuidora de Gás s.a. - 1,031 - -

others 335 - 65 -

Total as of December 31, 2008 5,640 4,422 829 206,191

Total as of December 31, 2007 12,865 4,723 16,928 219,989

      Consolidated

    transactions  Financial
   sales purchases  income

petroquímica união s.a.  2,398 139,792  -

Liquigás distribuidora s.a.  3,606 -  -

petróleo Brasileiro s.a. - petrobras  27,045 18,853,468  -

Copagaz distribuidora de Gás Ltda.  2,145 -  -

Braskem s.a.  5,700 697,879  -

sHV Gás Brasil Ltda.  1,689 -  -

refinaria de petróleo riograndense s.a. (*)  84 162,460  -

others  679 12,188  -

Total as of December 31, 2008  43,346 19,865,787  -

Total as of December 31, 2007  35,324 14,444,732  1,524

(*) relates to the non-eliminated portion of the transactions between rpr and CBpI, since rpr is proportionally consolidated and CBpI is fully consolidated.
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purchase and sale transactions relate substantially to the 
purchase of raw materials, inputs, transportation and storage 
services based on arm’s length market prices and terms 
with customers and suppliers with comparable operational 
performance. Borrowing agreements are for an indeterminate 
period and do not contain interest clauses. In the opinion of 
the Company’s Management, transactions with related parties 
are not subject to settlement risk, which is why no allowance 
for doubtful accounts or collaterals are provided. Collaterals 
provided by the Company in borrowings and financing of 
subsidiaries and affiliates are mentioned in note 16.f. the 
transactions of the Company and its subsidiaries related to 
post-employment benefits are described in note 23.

b. Key Management personnel - Compensation (Consolidated)
In 2008, the Company and its subsidiaries recorded expenses 
for compensation of its key personnel (Company’s directors 
and designated officers) in the amount of r$ 21,825 (r$ 
17,377 in 2007). out of this total, r$ 18,320 relates to 
short-term compensation (r$ 16,433 in 2007), r$ 1,366 to 
compensation in stock (r$ 944 in 2007), and r$ 2,139 to post-
employment benefits.

c. stock plan (Consolidated)
at a special General Meeting held on november 26, 
2003, a benefit plan was approved for managers of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, which provides: (i) initial 
award of beneficial ownership of shares issued by the 
Company held in treasury by the subsidiaries at which 
the beneficiary managers are employed; and (ii) transfer 
of title to the shares within five to ten years after the 
initial award, subject to continuation of employment 
of the beneficiary manager with the Company and its 
subsidiaries. the total amount awarded to executives as of 
december 31, 2008, including tax charges, was r$ 24,040 
(r$ 16,279 in 2007). such amount is being amortized 
over a period of five to ten years after the award, and 
amortization for the period ended december 31, 2008 in 
the amount of r$ 1,720 (r$ 1,260 in 2007) was recorded as 
operating expense for the year. the values of the awards 
were determined on the date of award based on the 
market value of these shares on BM&FBovespa.

the chart below summarizes the information on the 
shares awarded to executives of the Company:

    total  accumulated
  restricted  Market compensation accumulated compensation
  shares value of costs, compensation costs not
date of award awarded shares (in r$) including taxes costs recorded recorded

october 7, 2008 174,000 39.97 9,593 (114) 9,479

december 12, 2007 40,000 64.70 3,763 (582) 3,181

november 9, 2006 51,800 46.50 3,322 (720) 2,602

december 14, 2005 23,400 32.83 1,156 (366) 790

october 4, 2004 41,975 40.78 2,441 (1,058) 1,383

december 17, 2003 59,800 30.32 3,765 (1,945) 1,820

  390,975  24,040 (4,785) 19,255
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10 InCoMe tax and soCIaL ContrIButIon

a. deferred income tax and social contribution
the Company and its subsidiaries recognize tax credits and 
debits, which are not subject to limitation periods, resulting 

from tax losses, temporary additions, negative tax bases 
and revaluation of fixed assets, among others. Credits are 
sustained by the continued profitability of their operations. 
deferred income tax and social contribution are recorded 
under the following categories:

    parent   Consolidated

  2008 2007 2008 2007

Assets - Deferred income tax and social contribution on:    

provision for loss of assets - - 25,845 26,437

provisions for contingencies 115 4,116 58,996 48,256

provision for post-employment benefit (see note 23.b) - - 23,684 26,753

provision for interest on equity - - - 45,107

provision for differences between cash and accrual basis - - 176 29,419

provision for goodwill paid on investments (*) - - 320,451 -

other provisions 128 86 26,500 17,828

tax losses and negative tax base for the social contribution to offset - 11,287 64,898 34,739

Total 243 15,489 520,550 228,539

Current 128 4,202 111,842 108,964

non-current 115 11,287 408,708 119,575

Liabilities - Deferred income tax and social contribution on:    

revaluation of fixed assets - - 520 611

accelerated depreciation - - 145 168

provision for adjustments between cash and accrual basis - - 29,020 -

temporary differences of foreign subsidiaries - - 1,225 1,179

Implementation of Law 11,638/07 (**) - - 2,029 -

Total - - 32,939 1,958

Current - - 14,706 123

non-current - - 18,233 1,835

(*) relate to income tax and social contribution as specified in Instruction CVM 319/99, resulting from the corporate reorganization occurred in the fiscal year of 2008 involving the 

subsidiaries ultragaz participações s.a., CBpI, and dppI, see notes 4 and 14.

(**) the Company and its subsidiaries adopted the transition tax regime (rtt) provided by Mp 449/08.
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the estimated recovery of deferred tax assets relating to 
income tax and social contribution is stated as follows:

  parent Consolidated

up to 1 year 128 111,842

From 1 to 2 years - 94,476

From 2 to 3 years - 77,220

From 3 to 4 years 115 130,009

From 5 to 7 years - 83,016

From 8 to 10 years - 23,987

  243 520,550

b. reconciliation of income tax and social contribution 
on income
Income tax and social contribution taxes are reconciled 
to the official tax rates as follows:
    parent   Consolidated

  2008 2007 2008 2007

earnings before taxation and equity in income of

affiliates, after employee profit sharing 88,146 (125,972) 546,336 368,241

official tax rates - % 34 34 34 34

Income tax and social contribution at the official tax rates (29,970) 42,830 (185,754) (125,202)

adjustments to the actual rate:

operating provisions and nondeductible expenses/nontaxable revenues (627) (4,714) (11,603) (5,543)

adjustment to estimated income - - 9,833 9,606

Interest on equity - (45,255) - -

Workers Meal program (pat) - - 357 1,679

other adjustments - - (4,725) (1,657)

Income tax and social contribution before tax incentives (30,597) (7,139) (191,892) (121,117)

tax incentives - adene - - 40,309 35,152

Income tax and social contribution in the income statement (30,597) (7,139) (151,583) (85,965)

Current (17,452) (19,459) (204,581) (207,798)

deferred (13,145) 12,320 12,689 86,681

tax incentives - adene - - 40,309 35,152
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c. tax exemption
the following subsidiaries are entitled to partial or total 
exemption from IrpJ under the government’s program for 
development of northeastern Brazil:

subsidiary units Incentive - % expiration

nordeste s.a. Indústria e Comércio Camaçari plant 75 2016

Bahiana distribuidora de Gás Ltda. Mataripe base 75 2013

  suape base (*) 100 2007

  aracaju base (**) 12.5 2013

  Caucaia base 75 2012

terminal químico de aratu s.a. – tequimar aratu terminal 75 2012

  suape terminal 75 2015

(*) tax exemption of the suape base expired in december 2007, and a request was filed with the agency for the development of the northeast (adene), responsible for managing 

this incentive plan, asking for 75% tax relief until 2017. If this 75% relief is not granted, the subsidiary will file another request with adene for 12.5% relief until 2013, to which it is 

entitled because it is located in an incentive area and is considered a priority economic activity for the development of the region.

(**) due to the upgrade of the aracaju base, the agency for the development of the northeast (adene) approved an increase in the income tax relief from 25% to 75% until 2017, 

through a report issued on december 19, 2008. on January 20, 2009, the tax benefit report was submitted to the Federal revenue service for approval within 120 days. If this 75% 

benefit is not approved, the subsidiary will continue to be entitled to a 12.5% relief until 2013.

11 prepaId expenses (ConsoLIdated)

  2008 2007

rents 23,313 31,304

advertising and publicity 3,053 185

Insurance premiums 5,723 1,567

purchases of meal and transportation tickets 3,925 3,376

taxes and other prepaid expenses 7,567 5,594

  43,581 42,026

Current 19,000 11,508

non-current 24,581 30,518

12 InVestMents

a. subsidiaries (parent company)
      2008

  ultracargo –
  operações  Companhia refinaria de sociedade
  Logísticas e oxiteno s.a. Brasileira de petróleo Brasileira de
  participações Indústria e petróleo riograndense participações
  Ltda. (i) Comércio (i) Ipiranga (i) (ii) s.a. (i) (ii) Ltda. (i)

number of shares or units held 9,323,829 35,102,127 105,952,000 296,000 62,150,000

shareholders’ equity adjusted for

intercompany unrealized profits - r$ 619,415 1,542,594 2,543,837 (20,285) 79,938

net income for the year after adjustment

for unrealized profits - r$ 1,872 82,570 252,451 (26,211) 17,788
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           2008  2007

   ultracargo -
   operações   sociedade distribuidora Companhia refinaria
  ultragaz Logísticas e Imaven oxiteno s.a. Brasileira de de produtos Brasileira de petróleo
  participações participações Imóveis Indústria e participações de petróleo de petróleo riograndense
  s.a. (i) Ltda. (i) Ltda. (i) Comércio (i) Ltda. (i) Ipiranga s.a. (i) Ipiranga (i) (ii) s.a. (i) (ii) total total

Movements in investments

at beginning of year 421,491 208,402 50,693 1,539,378 - 922,752 839,525 274,502 4,256,743 2,025,485

Implementation of Law 11,638/07 (iii) - - - 2,061 - - (313) - 1,748 -

purchase of shares - - - - - - - - - 310,918

equity in income of affiliates 76,587 1,872 4,250 82,570 17,788 27,913 147,951 (26,211) 332,720 315,004

dividends and interest on  equity (gross) - - - (19,840) - - (78,439) - (98,279) (190,170)

Capital increase (reduction) - - - (470,000) - - - - (470,000) 43,210

Capital contribution in cash 222,112 409,141  408,425 62,150 - - - 1,101,828 -

tax liabilities on equity - method revaluation reserve (52) - - - - - (5) - (57) (195)

sale of interest - - (54,943) - - - - - (54,943) -

Merger and corporate reorganization (iv) (720,138) - - - - (950,665) 1,635,118 (268,576) (304,261) 1,752,491

At end of year - 619,415 - 1,542,594 79,938 - 2,543,837 (20,285) 4,765,499 4,256,743

(i) Financial statements audited by our independent auditors.

(ii) the information relates to business owned by ultrapar.

(iii) relates substantially to accumulated currency translation adjustments and revaluation adjustments, which were reflected directly in the shareholders’ equity of the subsidiaries 

and, therefore, did not affect the equity in income of such subsidiaries.

(iv) Includes acquisition to avoid cross holdings upon the stock-for-stock merger (see note 4.iii).

b. affiliated companies (consolidated)

      2008

     química da
  transportadora  oxicap Bahia Indústria plenogás
  sulbrasileira de Metalúrgica Indústria de e Comércio distribuidora
  Gás s.a. (i) plus s.a. (v) Gases Ltda. (v) s.a. (v) de Gás s/a. (v)

number of shares or units held 20,125,000 3,000 156 1,493,120 1,384,308

shareholders’ equity - r$ 29,632 (114) 7,752 7,270 (1,922)

net income (loss) for the period - r$ 140 (181) 572 (290) 193

Interest in the capital - % 25 33 25 50 33
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           2008  2007

   ultracargo -
   operações   sociedade distribuidora Companhia refinaria
  ultragaz Logísticas e Imaven oxiteno s.a. Brasileira de de produtos Brasileira de petróleo
  participações participações Imóveis Indústria e participações de petróleo de petróleo riograndense
  s.a. (i) Ltda. (i) Ltda. (i) Comércio (i) Ltda. (i) Ipiranga s.a. (i) Ipiranga (i) (ii) s.a. (i) (ii) total total

Movements in investments

at beginning of year 421,491 208,402 50,693 1,539,378 - 922,752 839,525 274,502 4,256,743 2,025,485

Implementation of Law 11,638/07 (iii) - - - 2,061 - - (313) - 1,748 -

purchase of shares - - - - - - - - - 310,918

equity in income of affiliates 76,587 1,872 4,250 82,570 17,788 27,913 147,951 (26,211) 332,720 315,004

dividends and interest on  equity (gross) - - - (19,840) - - (78,439) - (98,279) (190,170)

Capital increase (reduction) - - - (470,000) - - - - (470,000) 43,210

Capital contribution in cash 222,112 409,141  408,425 62,150 - - - 1,101,828 -

tax liabilities on equity - method revaluation reserve (52) - - - - - (5) - (57) (195)

sale of interest - - (54,943) - - - - - (54,943) -

Merger and corporate reorganization (iv) (720,138) - - - - (950,665) 1,635,118 (268,576) (304,261) 1,752,491

At end of year - 619,415 - 1,542,594 79,938 - 2,543,837 (20,285) 4,765,499 4,256,743

       2008  2007

    química da
  transportadora oxicap Bahia Indústria
  sulbrasileira de Indústria de e Comércio Metalúrgica
  Gás s.a. (i) Gases Ltda. (v) s.a. (v) plus s.a. (v) total total

Movements in investments

Balance at beginning of year 7,373 1,795 3,780 - 12,948 5,289

 Initial implementation of 

 Law 11,638/07 - - - 22 22 -

 acquisition of Ipiranga - - - - - 9,499

 Write-off of goodwill  - - - - - (2,274)

 return of advance for future 

 capital increase - - - - - (142)

 equity in income of affiliates 35 143 (145) (22) 11 576

Balance at end of year 7,408 1,938 3,635 - 12,981 12,948

(v) Financial statements audited by other independent auditors.

In the consolidated financial statements, the investment 
of the subsidiary oxiteno s.a. Indústria e Comércio in the 
affiliate oxicap Indústria de Gases Ltda. is valued by the equity 

method of accounting based on its financial statements as of 
november 30, 2008, while the other affiliates are valued based 
on the financial statements as of december 31, 2008.
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13 FIxed assets (ConsoLIdated)

   average annual     2008  2007

  depreciation  accumulated provision
  rate - % Cost depreciation for loss net net

Lands - 192,477 - (197) 192,280 179,594

Buildings 4 778,855 (315,481) - 463,374 333,208

Leasehold improvements 6 224,072 (90,467) - 133,605 123,059

Machinery and equipment 10 2,230,644 (799,972) (1,591) 1,429,081 602,589

Light fuel/lubricant distribution

equipment and facilities 10 911,228 (522,674) - 388,554 301,358

LpG tanks and bottles 10 314,995 (188,114) - 126,881 109,089

Vehicles 21 241,814 (176,235) - 65,579 56,539

Furniture and utensils 10 70,156 (39,598) - 30,558 26,620

Construction in progress - 184,019 - - 184,019 490,716

advances to suppliers - 76,085 - - 76,085 78,567

Imports in progress - 3,432 - - 3,432 1,964

Computer equipment 20 158,482 (120,442) - 38,040 28,146

others - 8 - - 8 2,094

   5,386,267 (2,252,983) (1,788) 3,131,496 2,333,543

Movements in the provision for losses on fixed assets are as 
follows:

Balance for 2007 1,892
Write-offs (104)

Balance for 2008 1,788

Construction in progress relates substantially to: (i) expansions 
and renovations in industrial facilities and (ii) construction and 
upgrade of service stations and fuel distribution bases.

advances to suppliers of fixed assets relate basically 
to toll manufacturing of equipment for expansion of 
plants.

as permitted by Law 11,638/07 and resolution 
CVM 565/08, the Company decided to maintain the 
revaluation balances until their realization, through 
depreciation or write-off, and they became part of the 
cost value of the goods. as of december 31, 2008, the 
revaluation balance of fixed assets was r$ 22,824 (r$ 
25,366 in 2007).
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14 IntanGIBLe assets (ConsoLIdated)

  average annual     2008  2007

  amortization  accumulated provision  
  rate - % Cost amortization for losses net net

Goodwill  - 599,787 (103,046) - 496,741 462,796

software 20 196,255 (130,563) - 65,692 47,117

technology 20 18,140 (3,660) - 14,480 15,277

Commercial property rights 3 16,334 (2,770) - 13,564 14,113

Market rights 20 16,656 (13,045) - 3,611 4,204

others 10 1,765 (176) (1,082) 507 482

   848,937 (253,260) (1,082) 594,595 543,989

Movements in intangible assets in 2008 are as follows:

     Commercial
     property Market
  Goodwill software technology rights rights others total

Balance at december

31, 2007 462,796 47,117 15,277 14,113 4,204 482 543,989

Consolidation of 

serMa (see note 2) - 10,736 - - - - 10,736

additions 342,445 29,081 - - 1,161 18 372,705

Write-offs - (147) - - - (2) (149)

amortization (62,142) (21,095) (797) (549) (1,754) (30) (86,367)

provision for losses - - - - - 39 39

deferred IrpJ/CsLL (246,358) - - - - - (246,358)

Balance at December 

31, 2008 496,741 65,692 14,480 13,564 3,611 507 594,595

average annual

amortization rate - % - 20 20 3 20 10 
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15 deFerred CHarGes (ConsoLIdated)

  average annual    2008  2007

  amortization  accumulated
  rate - % Cost amortization   net net

restructuring costs 26 25,911 (10,307) 15,604 26,200

others - - - - 1,415

   25,911 (10,307) 15,604 27,615

In the income for the year, the amount of r$ 86,367 was 
recorded as amortization of intangible assets, of which r$ 
81,977 was classified as expenses and the rest was allocated 
to production and service cost.

Goodwill from acquisition of companies was amortized as of 
december 31, 2008, when its amortization ends, and the net 
remaining balance is tested for impairment annually.

the Company has the following balances of goodwill as of 
december 31, 2008, net of tax effects:

Goodwill on the acquisition of: 

Ipiranga 276,724

união terminais 211,089

others 8,928

  496,741

software includes user licenses and costs for the 
implementation of the various systems used by the Company 
and its subsidiaries, such as: integrated management and 
control, financial management, foreign trade, industrial 
automation, operational transportation and storage 
management, accounting information and other systems.

the Company records as technology certain rights held by 
the subsidiaries oxiteno s.a. Indústria e Comércio, oxiteno 
nordeste s.a. Indústria e Comércio, and oleoquímica Indústria 

e Comércio de produtos químicos Ltda. such licenses 
cover the production of ethylene oxide, ethylene glycols, 
ethanolamines, glycol ethers, ethoxylates, solvents, fatty 
acids from vegetable oils, fatty alcohols, and specialty 
chemicals, which products are supplied to various 
industries.

Commercial property rights include those described below:

•	 On	July	11,	2002,	the	subsidiary	Tequimar	executed	
an agreement with CodeBa – Companhia das docas 
do estado da Bahia, which allows exporting from the 
area in which the aratu terminal is located for 20 years, 
renewable for a like period. the price paid by tequimar 
was r$ 12,000, which is being amortized over the period 
from august 2002 to July 2042.

•	 In	addition,	the	subsidiary	Tequimar	has	a	lease	contract	
for an area adjacent to the port of santos for 20 years 
from december 2002, renewable for a like period, which 
allows the construction, operation, and use of a terminal 
for liquid bulk unloading, tank storage, handling, and 
distribution. the price paid by tequimar was r$ 4,334, 
which is being amortized over the period from august 
2005 to december 2022.

research & development expenses amounted to r$ 19,058 
in the income for the year ended december 31, 2008 (r$ 
23,467 in the income for 2007).

restructuring costs relate to the LpG distribution 
business, namely: (i) costs for expansion projects 
involving new regions of activity and (ii) costs for 
restructuring the home distribution network to increase 

the contribution margin and expand the bottled gas 
business through new dealers. Costs will be maintained 
in this group until they are fully amortized, which will 
occur in december 2013.
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16 FInanCInG, deBentures and FInanCe Lease - 
ConsoLIdated

a. Composition
     annual
     financial
     charges
description 2008 2007 Index/Currency 2008 - % Maturity

Foreign currency:

notes in the foreign market (b) 577,365 436,737 us$ +7.2 2015

aCC/prepayment of exports 184,240 135,266 us$ +3.6 to 9.0 <251 days

notes in the foreign market (c) 140,322 106,226 us$ +9.0 2020

syndicated loan (c) 139,976 106,333 us$ + LIBor (vii) +1.2 2011

Financial institutions 48,952 31,274 us$ + LIBor (vii) +1.1 to 2.1 2009 to 2011

Bndes 46,481 16,018 us$ +5.7 to 8.9 2010 to 2015

Financial institutions 19,758 23,004 Mx$ + tIIe (i) +1.0 to 2.0 2009 to 2014

Financial institutions 6,017 - Bs (ii) +19.0 to 28.0 2013

FInIMp - união terminais/rpr 4,787 13,226 us$ +7.0 to 7.8 2009 to 2012

Bndes 3,485 5,999 uMBndes (iii) +6.7 to 9.2 2009 to 2011

notes in the foreign market (d) - 106,830 us$ +9.9 2008

Subtotal 1,171,383 980,913   

Local currency:

promissory notes (e) 1,203,823 - CdI +3.6 2009

Banco do Brasil 516,663 21,583 CdI 91.0 to 95.0 2009 to 2010

Bndes 401,830 256,012 tJLp (iv) +1.5 to 4.8 2009 to 2018

Working capital loan - MaxFácil 108,373 102,218 CdI 100.0 2010

Banco do nordeste do Brasil 103,519 103,558 Fne (vi) 8.5 to 10.0 2018

FInep 60,447 61,572 tJLp (iv) -2.0 to +5.0 2009 to 2014

FInaMe 39,097 63,050 tJLp (iv) +2.0 to 5.1 2009 to 2013

Working capital loan - união terminais/rpr 37,223 - CdI 105.0 to 130.0 2009 to 2010

postfixed finance lease (g) 24,422 - CdI +0.3 to 1.6 2009 to 2011

prefixed finance lease (g) 1,025 - r$ +13.0 to 15.5 2010 to 2013

others 4,117 297 CdI +0.3 to 0.5 2009 to 2011

Bndes - 2,515 IGp-M (v) +6.5 2008

debentures - 1,218,679 CdI 102.5 2008

debentures - 359,388 CdI 103.8 2011

Subtotal 2,500,539 2,188,872   

Total of financing, debentures

and finance lease 3,671,922 3,169,785   

Current 1,658,115 1,816,970   

non-current 2,013,807 1,352,815   

(i) Mx$ = Mexican peso; tIIe = Mexican interbank balance interest rate.

(ii) Bs = Venezuelan Bolivar.

(iii) uMBndes = monetary unit of Bndes (Banco nacional de desenvolvimento econômico e social) is a “basket of currencies” representing the composition of foreign currency debt 

obligations of Bndes. as of december 2008, 93% of this composition reflected the u.s. dollar.

(iv) tJLp = set by the national Monetary Council, tJLp is the basic financing cost of Bndes.

(v) IGp-M = General Market price Index, calculated by Fundação Getúlio Vargas.

(vi) Fne = northeast Constitutional Financing Fund.

(vii) LIBor = London Interbank offered rate.
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•	 Restriction	on	transfer	of	all	or	substantially	all	assets	of	the	
Company and its subsidiaries.

•	 Restriction	on	encumbrance	of	assets	exceeding	US$	150	
million or 15% of the value of the consolidated tangible 
assets.

the restrictions imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries 
are usual in transactions of this kind and have not limited their 
ability to conduct their business to date.

c. notes in the foreign market
In June 1997, the subsidiary Companhia ultragaz s.a. issued 
us$ 60 million in notes in the foreign market (original 
notes), with maturity in 2005, and in June 2005 obtained the 
extension of the maturity of these notes for June 2020, with 
put/call option in June 2008, which was not exercised by the 
subsidiary and financial institutions. the next put/call option 
will be on June 2011.

In June 2005, the subsidiary oxiteno overseas Corp. acquired 
all the original notes issued by Companhia ultragaz s.a. with 
funds from a syndicated loan in the amount of us$ 60 million 
with maturity in June 2008 and financial charge of 5.05% 
p.a.. In June 2008, the syndicated loan was renewed under 
the same conditions, but the financial charges have been 
changed to LIBor + 1.25% p.a.. the syndicated loan is secured 
by the Company and oxiteno s.a. Indústria e Comércio.

as a result of the issuance of the syndicated loan, some 
obligations other than those in note 16.b must be maintained 
by the Company:

•	 Maintenance	of	a	financial	index,	determined	by	the	ratio	
between net debt and consolidated earnings Before 
Interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (eBItda), at 
less than or equal to 3.5.

•	 Maintenance	of	a	financial	index,	determined	by	the	
ratio between consolidated eBItda and consolidated net 
financial expenses, higher than or equal to 1.5.

the long-term amounts break down as follows by year of 
maturity:

  2008 2007

From 1 to 2 years 751,336 281,443

From 2 to 3 years 263,327 203,103

From 3 to 4 years 105,647 181,217

From 4 to 5 years 78,739 54,768

More than 5 years 814,758 632,284

  2,013,807 1,352,815

as provided in resolution CVM 556/08, transaction costs and 
issue premiums associated with fund raising by the Company 
and its subsidiaries were added to their financial liabilities, and 
the effective interest rate of each fund raised was calculated. 
such changes had no significant effect on the financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

b. notes in the foreign market
In december 2005, the subsidiary LpG International Inc. issued 
us$ 250 million in notes in the foreign market, with maturity 
in december 2015 and financial charge of 7.25% p.a., paid 
semiannually, with the first payment due June 2006. the 
issue price was 98.75% of the face value of the note, which 
represented a total return of 7.429% p.a. for the investor at the 
time of issuance. the notes were secured by the Company 
and oxiteno s.a. Indústria e Comércio.

as a result of the issuance of notes in the foreign market, 
the Company and its subsidiaries, as mentioned above, are 
subject to certain commitments, including:

•	 Limitation	of	transactions	with	shareholders	owning	more	
than 5% of any class of stock of the Company that are not 
as favorable to the Company as available in the market.

•	 Required	resolution	of	the	Board	of	Directors	for	
transactions with related parties in an amount exceeding 
us$ 15 million (except for transactions of the Company 
with subsidiaries and between subsidiaries).
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the restrictions imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries 
are usual in transactions of this kind and have not limited their 
ability to conduct their business to date.

In april 2006, the subsidiary oxiteno overseas Corp. sold 
the original notes issued by Companhia ultragaz s.a. 
to a financial institution. simultaneously, the subsidiary 
acquired from that financial institution notes linked to the 
original notes (the Linked notes), as described in note 5, 
thus obtaining an additional return on this investment. the 
transaction matures in 2020, and both the subsidiary and the 
financial institution may prepay it. In case of insolvency of the 
financial institution, Companhia ultragaz s.a. would have to 
settle the original notes, but oxiteno overeseas Corp. would 
continue to be the creditor of the Linked notes.

d. notes in the foreign market
In august 2003, the subsidiary CBpI issued us$ 135 million in 
notes in the foreign market. In august 2005, when the interest 
was increased from 7.875% p.a. to 9.875% p.a., a portion of 
the redemption options was exercised for these notes, in the 
amount of us$ 1.3 million or r$ 3.1 million. In the fiscal year 
of 2006, there was a partial redemption in the amount of 
us$ 79.6 million or r$ 164.9 million. In July 2008, these notes 
matured and were consequently settled.

e. promissory notes
In december 2008, the Company prepaid the first issuance 
of 120 Commercial promissory notes in the amount of 
r$ 1,200,000 and issued 120 new registered Commercial 
promissory notes in the amount of r$ 1,200,000, with the 
following characteristics:

Face value of each: r$ 10,000,000.00 

Final maturity: december 18, 2009 

payment of the face value: Lump sum at final maturity 

Interest: 100% CdI + 3.60% p.a. 

payment of interest: Lump sum at final maturity 

f. Collateral
a portion of the financing is secured by liens on fixed assets 
and shares of investees, in addition to promissory notes and 
guarantees provided by the Company and its subsidiaries, as 
shown on the table below:

  2008 2007

portion of the financing secured by:

Fixed assets 66,680 63,017

shares of affiliates and guarantees

of minority shareholders - 2,514

  66,680 65,531

the other loans are secured by guarantees issued by the 
Company and by the future export flow of its subsidiaries. the 
Company is responsible for guarantees and sureties provided 
to subsidiaries in the amount of r$ 1,440,451 as of december 
31, 2008 (r$ 986,174 in 2007).

some subsidiaries issued collaterals to financial institutions 
in connection with the amounts owed by some of their 
customers to such institutions (vendor financing). If a 
subsidiary is required to make any payment under these 
collaterals, the subsidiary may recover the amount paid 
directly from its customers through commercial collection. 
the maximum amount of future payments related to these 
collaterals is r$ 18,786 as of december 31, 2008 (r$ 21,609 in 
2007), with maturities of up to 212 days. as of december 31, 
2008, the Company and its subsidiaries did not have losses or 
recorded any liabilities in connection with these collaterals.

some financing agreements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries have cross default clauses that require them to 
pay the debt assumed in case of default of other debts equal 
to or greater than us$ 10 million. as of december 31, 2008, 
there was no event of default of the debts of the Company 
and its subsidiaries.
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17 sHareHoLders’ equIty

a. share capital
the Company is a publicly traded company listed on 
the são paulo and new york stock exchanges, with a 
subscribed and paid-in capital represented by 136,095,999 
shares without par value, including 49,429,897 common 
and 86,666,102 preferred shares.

as of december 31, 2008, 13,445,233 preferred shares 
were outstanding abroad in the form of american 
depositary receipts (adrs).

preferred shares are nonconvertible into common shares, 
nonvoting, and give their holders priority in capital 
redemption, without premium, upon liquidation of the 
Company.

at the beginning of 2000, the Company, granted tag-
along rights under a shareholders’ agreement, which 
gives non-controlling shareholders the right to the same 
conditions as negotiated by the controlling shareholders 
in case of transfer of the control of the Company. In 2004, 
these rights were incorporated into the Bylaws of the 
Company.

the Company is authorized to increase the capital without 
amendment to the Bylaws, by resolution of the Board 
of directors, up to the limit of r$ 4,500,000 through the 
issuance of common or preferred shares, regardless of the 
current number of shares, subject to the limit of 2/3 of 
preferred shares in the total shares issued.

b. treasury shares
the Company acquired shares issued by itself at market 
prices without capital reduction, to be held in treasury 
and to be subsequently disposed of or cancelled, in 
accordance with Instructions CVM 10 of February 14, 1980 
and 268 of november 13, 1997.

g. Finance leases 
the subsidiaries CBpI, serma, and tequimar have finance lease 
contracts primarily related to fuel distribution equipment, 
such as tanks, pumps, VnG compressors, computer 
equipment and vehicles. these contracts have terms between 
36 and 60 months.

the subsidiaries have the option to purchase the assets at 
a price substantially lower than the fair price on the date of 
option, and Management intends to exercise such option. no 
restrictions are imposed on these agreements.

the amounts of the fixed assets, net of depreciation, and of 
the liabilities corresponding to such equipment, recorded 
in the financial statements as of december 31, 2008, are 
shown below:

  Fuel Computer
  distribution equipment
  equipment and vehicles

Fixed assets net of depreciation 25,407 3,670

Financing 23,303 2,144

Current 11,335 1,246

non-current 11,968 898

the future disbursements (installments), assumed under these 
contracts, total approximately:

  Fuel Computer
  distribution equipment
  equipment and vehicles

up to 1 year 11,642 1,367

More than 1 year 12,239 1,107

  23,881 2,474

the above installments include the amounts of Iss payable on 
the monthly installments.



ULTRAPAR

133 >

e. retention of profits reserve
used for investments contemplated in a capital budget, 
mainly for expansion, productivity, and quality, acquisitions 
and new investments. Formed in accordance with article 196 
of the Brazilian Corporate Law, it includes both the portion of 
net income for the year and the realization of the revaluation 
reserve, and in 2008, the portion of initial adjustments to Law 
11,638/07 and Mp 449/08.

f. unrealized profits reserve
Formed in accordance with article 197 of the Brazilian 
Corporate Law, based on the equity in income of affiliates 
earned by the Company. Its realization normally occurs upon 
receipt of dividends, disposal and write-off of investments.

g. dividends and allocation of net income for the year in the 
parent company
the shareholders are entitled under the Bylaws to a 
minimum annual dividend of 50% of the adjusted net 
income, calculated in accordance with the Brazilian 
Corporate Law.

the proposed dividends reflected in the financial statements 
of the Company, subject to approval of shareholders at a 
General Meeting, are as follows:

  2008

net income for the year 390,269

Legal reserve (19,513)

retained earnings (132,987)

Dividends payable 237,769

Interim dividends (r$ 0.89 per share) (119,006)

Proposed dividends payable

(R$ 0.887031 per share) (118,763)

during 2008, 1,759,100 preferred shares were acquired at an 
average cost of r$ 59.70 per share, under the stock repurchase 
program approved at the Board of directors’ Meeting held 
on august 2, 2006 and extended at the Board of directors’ 
Meeting held on august 8, 2007.

as of december 31, 2008, the financial statements of the 
parent company totaled 2,201,272 preferred shares and 6,617 
common shares held in treasury, acquired at an average 
cost of r$ 57.79 and r$ 19.30 per share, respectively. In the 
consolidated financial statements, 2,592,247 preferred shares 
and 6,617 common shares are held in treasury, acquired at an 
average cost of r$ 54.22 and r$ 19.30 per share, respectively.

the price of preferred shares issued by the Company as of 
december 31, 2008 on BM&FBovespa was r$ 50.82.

c. Capital reserve
the capital reserve reflects the premium of the transfer of 
shares at market price to be held in treasury in the Company’s 
subsidiaries, at an average price of r$ 41.55 per share. such 
shares were used to award beneficial ownership to executives 
of these subsidiaries, as mentioned in note 9.c.

d. revaluation reserve
the revaluation reserve reflects the revaluation of assets of 
subsidiaries and is based on depreciation, write-off, or disposal 
of the revalued assets of the subsidiaries, and also based on 
the tax effects of the provisions created by these subsidiaries.

In some cases, tax charges on the equity-method revaluation 
reserve of certain subsidiaries are recognized as the reserve 
is realized, as they preceded the issuance of resolution CVM 
183/95.
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h. reconciliation between parent company and consolidated 
shareholders’ equity

  2008 2007

parent company

shareholders’ equity 4,663,602 4,609,982

treasury shares held by

subsidiaries – net of realization (11,475) (6,391)

Capital reserve from sale of

treasury shares to subsidiaries

– net of realization (2,051) (2,806)

Consolidated sharehzolders’ 

equity 4,650,076 4,600,785

i. Valuation adjustment
the differences between the fair value and adjusted cost (i) 
of financial investments classified as available for sale and (ii) 
of financial instruments designated as a cash flow hedge are 
directly recognized in the shareholders’ equity as Valuation 
adjustment. Gains and losses recorded in the shareholders’ 
equity are included in income, in the case of prepayment.

j. Cumulative translation adjustments
the change in exchange rates on foreign investments 
denominated in a currency other than the currency of the 
Company is directly recognized in the shareholders’ equity. 
this accumulated effect is reflected in income for the year 
as a gain or loss only in case of disposal or write-off of the 
investment.

18 otHer InCoMe

a. parent company
In 2008, other income relates to gain on corporate 
reorganization involving the subsidiaries ultragaz 
participações s.a., CBpI, and dppI, as described in note 
4, which are eliminated in the equity in income of these 
subsidiaries, in accordance with Instruction CVM 319/99.

b. Consolidated
other income is primarily composed of r$ 11,212 
(revenue) (r$ 12,651 (revenue) in 2007) of proceeds 
from the sale of fixed assets, especially LpG bottles, land, 
vehicles, and tank wagons. they include the gain on the 
disposal of all interest held by the subsidiary oxiteno s.a. 
Indústria e Comércio in petroquímica união s.a., which 
occurred in 2008.

19 seGMent InForMatIon

the company operates four main business segments: gas 
distribution, fuel distribution, chemicals, and logistics. the 
gas distribution segment distributes LpG to residential, 
commercial, and industrial consumers, especially in the 
south, southeast, and northeast regions of Brazil. the 
fuel distribution segment operates the distribution of 
fuels and lubricants and related activities in the south 
and southeast regions of Brazil. the chemicals segment 
produces ethylene oxide and its derivatives, which 
are the raw materials for the textile, food, cosmetics 
& detergent, agrochemical, paint & varnish, and other 
industries. the logistics segment provides transportation 
and storage services, especially in the southeast, and 
northeast regions of Brazil. the segments shown in 
the financial statements are strategic business units 
supplying different products and services. Inter-segment 
sales are at prices similar to those that would be charged 
to third parties.
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21 rIsKs and FInanCIaL InstruMents 
(ConsoLIdated)

Risk management and financial instruments - 
Governance
the main risk factors to which the Company and its 
subsidiaries are exposed reflect strategic/operational 
and economic/financial aspects. operational/strategic 
risks (including, but not limited to, demand behavior, 
competition, technological innovation, and material 
changes in the industry structure) are addressed by the 
Company’s management model. economic/financial 
risks primarily reflect default of customers, behavior 
of macroeconomic variables, such as exchange and 
interest rates, as well as the characteristics of the financial 
instruments used by the Company and its subsidiaries and 
by their counterparties. these risks are managed through 
control policies, specific strategies, and establishment of 
limits.

the Company has a conservative policy for the 
management of assets, financial instruments and 
financial risks approved by its Board of directors (“policy”). 
In accordance with the policy, the main objectives of 
financial management is to preserve the value and 
liquidity of financial assets and ensure financial resources 
for the proper conduct of business, including expansions. 
the main financial risks considered in the policy are 
risks associated with currencies, interest rates, credit 

on the table above, the column “others” is composed primarily 
of the parent company ultrapar participações s.a. and the 
investment in the refining business.

20 FInanCIaL InCoMe (ConsoLIdated)

  2008 2007

Financial revenues:

Interest on financial investments 232,100 145,063

Interest from customers 22,518 19,181

other revenues 2,625 (914)

  257,243 163,330

Financial expenses:

Interest on financing (304,106) (97,278)

Interest on debentures (22,087) (123,892)

Interest on finance lease (2,862) -

amortization of costs for issuance

of bonds and securities (610) -

Bank charges (21,108) (18,700)

Monetary changes and changes in

exchange rates, net of income

from hedging instruments (46,346) 10,579

pIs/CoFIns/CpMF/IoF/

other charges (2,841) (38,699)

provisions updating and other 

expenses (26,117) (14,751)

  (426,077) (282,741)

Financial income (168,834) (119,411)

the main financial information on each segment of the 
Company can be stated as follows (excluding inter-segment 
transactions):

        2008  2007

  ultragaz oxiteno ultracargo Ipiranga others Consolidated Consolidated

net revenue 3,336,818 1,926,126 237,364 22,676,369 91,306 28,267,983 19,921,305

operating earnings before

financial revenues (expenses),

other revenues and equity in

income of affiliates 87,872 154,204 7,299 515,710 (51,676) 713,409 486,162

total assets 1,081,832 3,308,841 862,466 3,256,605 1,157,424 9,667,168 9,216,406
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and selection of financial instruments. Governance of the 
management of financial risks and financial instruments 
follows the segregation of duties below:

•	 Implementation	of	the	management	of	financial	assets,	
instruments and risks is the responsibility of the Financial 
area, through its treasury, with the assistance of the tax 
and accounting areas.

•	 Supervision	and	monitoring	of	compliance	with	the	
principles, guidelines and standards of the policy is the 
responsibility of the risk and Investment Committee, 
set up more than 10 years ago and composed 
of members of the Company’s executive Board 
(“Committee”). the Committee holds regular meetings 
and is in charge, among other responsibilities, of 
discussing and monitoring the financial strategies, 
existing exposures, and significant transactions 
involving investment, fund raising, or risk mitigation. 
the Committee monitors the risk standards established 
by the policy through a monitoring map on a monthly 
basis.

•	 Changes	in	the	Policy	or	revisions	of	its	standards	are	
subject to the approval of the Company’s Board of 
directors.

•	 Continuous	enhancement	of	the	Policy	is	the	joint	
responsibility of the Board of directors, the Committee, 
and the Financial area.

Currency risk
Most transactions of the Company and its subsidiaries 
are located in Brazil and, therefore, the reference currency 
for currency risk management is the real. Currency 
risk management is guided by neutrality of currency 
exposures and considers the transactional, accounting, and 
operational risks of the Company and its subsidiaries and 
their exposure to changes in exchange rates. the Company 
considers as its main currency exposures the assets and 
liabilities in foreign currency and the short-term flow of net 
sales in foreign currency of oxiteno.

the subsidiaries of the Company use exchange rate 
hedging instruments (especially between the real and the 
u.s. dollar) available in the financial market to protect their 
assets, liabilities, receipts and disbursements in foreign 
currency, in order to reduce the effects of changes in 
exchange rates on its results and cash flows in reais within 
the exposure limits under its policy. such foreign exchange 
hedging instruments have amounts, periods, and rates 
substantially equivalent to those of assets, liabilities, receipts 
and disbursements in foreign currency to which they are 
related. assets and liabilities in foreign currency are stated 
below, translated into reais as of december 31, 2008 and 
december 31, 2007:

assets and liabilities in foreign currency

(amounts in millions of reais) 2008 2007

Assets in foreign currency  

Financial investments in

foreign currency 565.3 633.3

Investments in foreign subsidiaries 111.9 55.9

Foreign trade receivables,

net of advances on export contract 

and provision for loss 52.0 35.1

Foreign currency cash and cash 

equivalents 9.7 8.0

others (1) 89.1 -

  828.0 732.3

Liabilities in foreign currency

Financing in foreign currency 1,171.4 980.9

accounts payable for imports,

net of advances to 

foreign suppliers 10.0 14.5

  1,181.4 995.4

Currency hedging instruments (2) 242.0 221.5

net asset (liability) position (111.4) (41.6)

(1) deposit made to Chevron for the acquisition of texaco in Brazil, as described in note 4.

(2) Measured at fair value in 2008 and notional value plus interest earned in 2007.

Based on the net liability position of r$ 111.4 million in foreign 
currency shown above, we estimate that a 10% devaluation of 
the real would produce a financial expense of r$ 11.1 million.
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Customer credit risk - such risks are managed by each 
business unit through specific criteria for acceptance of 
customers and credit rating and are additionally mitigated 
by diversification of sales. a oxiteno s.a. Indústria e 
Comércio and its subsidiaries maintained, as of december 
31, 2008, r$ 2,263 (r$ 2,197 in 2007), the subsidiaries 
Bahiana distribuidora de Gás Ltda. and Companhia ultragaz 
s.a. maintained, r$ 9,007 (r$ 16,735 in 2007), Ipiranga/
refining maintained, r$ 46,960 (r$ 42,735 in 2007), and 
the subsidiaries of ultracargo operações Logísticas e 
participações Ltda. maintained, r$ 1,548 (r$ 313 in 2007) as 
a provision for potential loss on their accounts and assets 
receivables.

Selection and use of financial instruments
In selecting financial investments and hedging instruments, 
an analysis is conducted to estimate rates of return, risks 
involved, liquidity, calculation methodology for the carrying 
value and fair value, and documentation applicable to the 
financial instruments. the financial instruments used to 
manage the financial resources of the Company and its 
subsidiaries are intended to preserve value and liquidity.

the policy contemplates the use of derivative financial 
instruments only to cover identified risks and in amounts 
consistent with the risk (limited to 100% of the identified 
risk). the risks identified in the policy are described in the 
above sections of this note 21 and, therefore, are subject 
to risk management. In accordance with the policy, the 
Company and its subsidiaries can use forward contracts, 
swaps, options, and futures contracts to manage identified 
risks. Leveraged derivative instruments or instruments 
with a margin call are not permitted. Because the use of 
derivative financial instruments is limited to the coverage 
of identified risks, the Company and its subsidiaries use the 
term “hedging instruments” to refer to derivative financial 
instruments.

as mentioned in the section risk management and 
financial instruments – Governance of this note 
21, the Committee monitors compliance with the 
risk standards established by the policy through a 
risk monitoring map, including the use of hedging 
instruments, on a monthly basis.

Interest rate risk
the Company and its subsidiaries adopt conservative policies 
for fund raising and use of financial resources and capital cost 
minimization. the financial investments of the Company and 
its subsidiaries are primarily held in transactions linked to the 
interest rate for Interbank Certificate of deposit (CdI), as set 
forth in note 5. Fund raising primarily results from financing 
from Bndes and other development agencies, promissory 
notes and funds raised in foreign currency, as shown in note 16.

the Company does not actively manage risks associated with 
changes in the level of interest rates and attempts to maintain 
its financial interest assets and liabilities at floating rates. as 
of december 31, 2008, the Company and its subsidiaries did 
not have derivative financial instruments for interest rate risk 
management linked to domestic loans.

Credit risks
the financial instruments that would expose the Company 
and its subsidiaries to credit risks of the counterparty are 
basically represented by cash and cash equivalents, financial 
investments, and accounts receivable.

Credit risk of financial institutions - such risk results from 
the inability of financial institutions to comply with their 
financial obligations to the Company and its subsidiaries due 
to insolvency. the Company and its subsidiaries regularly 
conduct a credit review of the institutions with which they 
hold cash and cash equivalents, financial investments, and 
hedging instruments through various methodologies that 
assess liquidity, solvency, leverage, portfolio quality, etc. Cash 
and cash equivalents, financial investments, and hedging 
instruments are held only with institutions with a solid credit 
history, chosen for safety and soundness. the volumes of cash 
and cash equivalents, financial investments, and hedging 
instruments are subject to maximum limits by institution and, 
therefore, require diversification of counterparty.

Government credit risk - the Company and its subsidiaries 
have financial investments in federal government bonds of 
Brazil and countries rated aaa or aaa by specialized credit 
rating agencies. the volumes of financial investments are 
subject to maximum limits by country and, therefore, require 
diversification of counterparty.
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the table below summarizes the position of hedging 
instruments adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries:
      amounts payable or receivable
     Initial notional amount *  Fair value  for the period (dec. 31, 2008)

        amount amount
  Counterparty Maturity 2008 2007 2008 2007 receivable payable

Swap contracts

a – Exchange rate swaps receivable in U.S. dollars Bradesco, Citibank, Goldman sachs, HsBC, Itaú, santander/real, uBs pactual Jan 2009 to Jun 2011      

receivables in u.s. dollars   123.5 170.0 291.6 316.4 291.6 -

payables in CdI interest rate   123.5 156.0 236.4 380.6 - 236.4

payables in Mexican pesos   - 14.0 - 25.1 - -

Total result   - - 55.2 (89.3) 291.6 236.4

        

b – Exchange rate swaps payable in U.S. dollars Bradesco, HsBC, Itaú santander /real Jan 2009 to Mar 2009      

payables in CdI interest rates   18.3 41.3 44.1 74.5 44.1 -

receivables in u.s. dollars   18.3 41.3 42.9 73.1 - 42.9

Total result   - - 1.2 1.4 44.1 42.9

        

c – Interest rate swaps Itaú Jun 2011      

receivables in LIBor interest rate in u.s. dollars   60.0 - 133.8 - 133.8 -

payables in fixed interest rate in u.s. dollars   60.0 - 140.5 - - 140.5

Total result   - - (6.7) - 133.8 140.5

Total gross result   - - 49.7 (87.9) 469.5 419.8

Income tax   - - (11.8) (0.3) (11.8) -

Total net result   - - 37.9  (88.2) 457.7 419.8

* In usd millions

all transactions mentioned above were properly registered 
with CetIp s.a., except for the interest rate swap, which is an 
over-the-counter contract governed by Isda (International 
swap dealers association, Inc.) executed with the 
counterparty Banco Itaú BBa s.a. – nassau Branch.

Hedging instruments existing as of december 31, 2008 
are described below, according to their category, risk, and 
protection strategy:

Hedging against foreign exchange exposure of liabilities in 
foreign currency - the purpose of these contracts is to offset 
the effect of the change in exchange rates of a debt in u.s. 
dollars by converting it into a debt in reais linked to CdI. as 
of december 31, 2008, the Company and its subsidiaries had 
outstanding swap contracts totaling us$ 123.5 million in 
notional amount, with an asset position at us$ + 5.19% p.a. 
and liability position at 98.55% of CdI.

Hedging against foreign exchange exposure of operations 
- the purpose of these contracts is to make the exchange 
rate of the turnover of the subsidiaries of oxiteno s.a. 
Indústria e Comércio and oxiteno nordeste s.a. Indústria 
e Comercial equal to the exchange rate of the cost of 
their raw materials. as of december 31, 2008, these swap 
contracts totaled us$ 18.3 million and, on average, had an 
asset position at 59.78% of CdI and liability position at us$ 
+ 0.0% p.a..

Hedging against floating interest rate in foreign currency - 
the purpose of this contract is to convert the interest rate 
on the syndicated loan in the principal of us$ 60 million 
from floating into fixed. as of december 31, 2008, the 
subsidiary oxiteno overseas Corp. had a swap contract 
with a notional amount of us$ 60 million, with an asset 
position at us$ + LIBor + 1.25% p.a. and a liability position 
at us$ + 4.93% p.a..
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the table below summarizes the position of hedging 
instruments adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries:
      amounts payable or receivable
     Initial notional amount *  Fair value  for the period (dec. 31, 2008)

        amount amount
  Counterparty Maturity 2008 2007 2008 2007 receivable payable

Swap contracts

a – Exchange rate swaps receivable in U.S. dollars Bradesco, Citibank, Goldman sachs, HsBC, Itaú, santander/real, uBs pactual Jan 2009 to Jun 2011      

receivables in u.s. dollars   123.5 170.0 291.6 316.4 291.6 -

payables in CdI interest rate   123.5 156.0 236.4 380.6 - 236.4

payables in Mexican pesos   - 14.0 - 25.1 - -

Total result   - - 55.2 (89.3) 291.6 236.4

        

b – Exchange rate swaps payable in U.S. dollars Bradesco, HsBC, Itaú santander /real Jan 2009 to Mar 2009      

payables in CdI interest rates   18.3 41.3 44.1 74.5 44.1 -

receivables in u.s. dollars   18.3 41.3 42.9 73.1 - 42.9

Total result   - - 1.2 1.4 44.1 42.9

        

c – Interest rate swaps Itaú Jun 2011      

receivables in LIBor interest rate in u.s. dollars   60.0 - 133.8 - 133.8 -

payables in fixed interest rate in u.s. dollars   60.0 - 140.5 - - 140.5

Total result   - - (6.7) - 133.8 140.5

Total gross result   - - 49.7 (87.9) 469.5 419.8

Income tax   - - (11.8) (0.3) (11.8) -

Total net result   - - 37.9  (88.2) 457.7 419.8

* In usd millions

Fair value of financial instruments
the fair values and the carrying values of the financial 
instruments, including currency and interest rate hedging 
instruments, as of december 31, 2008 and december 31, 2007 
are stated below:
    2008   2007

  Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Fair value and currying value of financial instruments value value value value

Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 164,351 164,351 203,057 203,057

Currency and interest hedging instruments 37,913 37,913 (84,801) (88,244)

Financial investments 1,931,356 1,931,356 1,625,492 1,645,359

  2,133,620 2,133,620 1,743,748 1,760,172

Financial liabilities:    

Financing 3,646,475 3,601,195 1,591,718 1,616,399

debentures - - 1,578,067 1,578,623

Finance lease 25,447 25,447 - -

  3,671,922 3,626,642 3,169,785 3,195,022

Investments:    

permanent investments in other companies 3,094 3,094 34,117 47,411
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considerable judgment and estimates to obtain a value 
deemed appropriate to each situation. Consequently, the 
estimates presented do not necessary indicate the amounts 
that may be realized in the current market.

Sensitivity analysis
the Company and its subsidiaries use derivative financial 
instruments only to hedge against identified risks and in 
amounts consistent with the risk (limited to 100% of the 
identified risk). thus, for purposes of sensitivity analysis 
of market risks associated with financial instruments, the 
Company analyzes the hedging instrument and the hedged 
item together, as shown on the charts below.

For the sensitivity analysis of foreign exchange hedging 
instruments, Management adopted as a likely scenario 
the real/u.s. dollar exchange rates at maturity of each 
swap, projected by dollar futures contracts quoted on 
BM&FBovespa as of december 31, 2008. as a reference, the 
exchange rate for the last maturity of foreign exchange 
hedging instruments is r$ 2.8 in the likely scenario. 
scenarios II and III were estimated with a 25% and 50% 
additional devaluation, respectively, of the real in the likely 
scenario.

Based on the balances of the hedging instruments and 
hedged items as of december 31, 2008, the exchange 
rates were replaced, and the changes between the new 
balance in reais and the balance in reais as of december 
31, 2008 were calculated in each of the three scenarios. the 
table below shows the change in the values of the main 
derivative instruments and their hedged items, considering 
the changes in the exchange rate in the different scenarios:

  risk scenario I (likely) scenario II scenario III

Currency swaps receivable in U.S. dollars

(1) dollar / real swaps dollar appreciation 55,861 223,884 627,009

(2) debts in dollars  (55,853) (223,852) (626,920)

(1) + (2) Net Effect 8 32 89

Currency swaps payable in U.S. dollars    

(3) real / dollar swaps dollar devaluation (8,493) (34,041) (95,334)

(4) Gross margin of oxiteno  8,487 34,014 95,260

(3) + (4) Net Effect (6) (27) (74)

the fair value of financial instruments, including currency and 
interest hedging instruments, was determined as follows:

•	 The	fair	values	of	cash	on	current	account	are	identical	to	
the carrying values.

•	 Financial	investments	in	investment	funds	are	valued	at	
the value of the fund unit as of the date of the financial 
statements, which correspond to their fair value.

•	 Financial	investments	in	CDBs	and	similar	investments	
offer daily liquidity through repurchase in the yield curve 
and, therefore, the Company believes their fair value 
corresponds to their carrying value.

•	 The	fair	value	of	other	financial	investments	and	financing	
was determined using calculation methodologies 
commonly used for marking-to-market, which consist 
of calculating future cash flows associated with each 
instrument adopted and adjusting them to present value 
at the market rates as of december 31, 2008 and december 
31, 2007. For some cases where there is no active 
market for the financial instrument, the Company and 
its subsidiaries used quotes provided by the transaction 
counterparties.

•	 In	2007,	the	fair	value	of	permanent	investments	in	other	
companies, represented by the shares of petroquímica 
união s.a. disposed of in 2008, was calculated based on the 
price of such shares quoted on BM&FBovespa.

the interpretation of market information on the choice 
of calculation methodologies for the fair value requires 
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For the sensitivity analysis of the interest rate hedging 
instrument, the Company used the future LIBor curve (BBa 
– British Banker’s association) as of december 31, 2008 at 
maturity of the swap and of the syndicated loan (hedged item), 
which occurs in 2011, in order to define the likely scenario. 
scenarios II and III were estimated with a 25% and 50% 
deterioration, respectively, in the estimate of the likely LIBor.

  risk scenario I (likely) scenario II scenario III

Interest rate swap (in dollars)    

(1) LIBor / fixed rate swap Increase in LIBor (2,430) (1,199) 32

(2) LIBor debt  2,441 1,204 (32)

(1) + (2) Net Effect 11 5 -

Based on the three interest rate scenarios, Management 
estimated the values of its loan and of the hedging 
instrument by calculating the future cash flows associated 
with each instrument adopted according to the projected 
scenarios and adjusting them to present value by the rate in 
effect on december 31, 2008. the result is stated on the table 
below:

22 ContInGenCIes and CoMMItMents (ConsoLIdated)

a. Civil, tax and labor proceedings
In 1990, the union of Workers in petrochemical plants, of 
which the employees of the subsidiaries oxiteno nordeste 
s.a. Indústria e Comércio and empresa Carioca de produtos 
químicos s.a. are members, filed an action against the 
subsidiaries to enforce adjustments established under a 
collective labor agreement, in lieu of the salary policies 
actually implemented. at the same time, the employers’ 
association proposed a collective bargaining for interpretation 
and clarification of Clause Four of the agreement. Based on 
the opinion of its legal counsel, who reviewed the latest 
decision of the Federal supreme Court (stF) in the collective 
bargaining and the position of the individual action of the 
subsidiary oxiteno nordeste s.a. Indústria e Comércio, 
Management of the subsidiaries did not deem it necessary to 
record a provision as of december 31, 2008.

subsidiary Companhia ultragaz s.a. is facing an administrative 
case pending before the administrative Council for economic 
defense (Cade) for alleged anticompetitive practice in cities 
in the triângulo Mineiro region in 2001. recently, the Cade 
entered a decision against Companhia ultragaz s.a. imposing 
a penalty of 1% of the annual gross revenue for 2001 (which 
was r$ 1,475 million), excluding taxes and adjusted by 
IpCa-e. this administrative decision has not yet become 
final and can still be appealed administratively. If the adverse 
decision is administratively upheld, then its execution may 
be stayed and the merits reconsidered in court. Based on the 
above elements and on the opinion of its legal counsel, the 
subsidiary’s Management did not record a provision.

subsidiary Companhia ultragaz s.a. is the defendant in 
legal proceedings for damages arising from an explosion 
in 1996 in a shopping mall located in the City of osasco, 
state of são paulo. such proceedings involve: (i) individual 
proceedings brought by victims of the explosion seeking 
compensation for loss of income and pain and suffering (ii) 
request for compensation for expenses of the shopping mall 
administrator and its insurer; and (iii) class action seeking 
economic and non-economic damages for all victims 
injured and dead. the subsidiary believes that it produced 
evidence that the defective gas pipelines in the shopping 
mall caused the accident, and ultragaz’s local LpG storage 
facilities did not contribute to the explosion. out of the 62 
actions decided to date, 61 were favorable, of which 25 are 
already shelved; only 1 was adverse in the second instance, 
which can still be appealed, and if such decision is upheld, 
the value is r$ 17. there are 3 actions yet to be decided. 
the subsidiary has insurance coverage for these legal 
proceedings, and the value not insured is r$ 16,524. the 
Company did not record any provision for this value because 
it considers the chances of realization of this contingency as 
essentially remote.

the Company and its subsidiaries obtained injunctions to 
pay pIs and CoFIns contributions without the changes 
introduced by Law 9718/98 in its original version. the 
ongoing questioning refers to the levy of theses taxes on 
sources other than revenues. In 2005, the stF decided 
the question in favor of the taxpayer. although it has set a 
precedent, the effect of this decision does not automatically 
apply to all companies, since they must await judgment 
of their own legal lawsuits. In the first half of 2007, the 
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treasury Bonds (Btn) for 1990 (Law 8200/91) and maintain 
a provision of r$ 14,575 (r$ 13,571 in 2007) to cover any 
contingencies if they lose such actions. 

on december 29, 2006, the subsidiaries oxiteno s.a. 
Indústria e Comércio, oxiteno nordeste s.a. Indústria 
e Comércio, Companhia ultragaz s.a. and transultra 
armazenamento e transporte especializado Ltda. filed for 
an injuction seeking the deduction of ICMs from the pIs 
and CoFIns tax basis. oxiteno nordeste s.a. Indústria e 
Comércio obtained an injuction and is paying the disputed 
amounts into judicial deposits, as well as recording the 
respective provision in the amount of r$ 24,255 (r$ 10,655 
in 2007). the other subsidiaries did not obtain an injunction 
and are awaiting the outcome of an appeal lodged with 
tribunal regional Federal (trF) for the 3rd region. on 
august 19, 2008, the subsidiaries Companhia Brasileira de 
petróleo Ipiranga, refinaria de petróleo riograndense s.a., 
tropical transportes Ipiranga Ltda. and empresa Carioca 
de produtos químicos s.a. also filed for injuctions seeking 
the same benefit, and are awaiting the judgment of these 
lawsuits.

the Company and some of its subsidiaries have filed 
actions with a motion for injunction against the application 
of the law restricting offset of tax losses (IrpJ) and negative 
tax bases (CsLL) determined as of december 31, 1994 to 
30% of the income for the year. as a result of the position of 
the Federal supreme Court (sFt) and based on the opinion 
of its legal counsel, a provision was recorded for this 
contingency in the amount of r$ 6,804 (r$ 6,624 in 2007).

In 2007, based on recent jurisprudence, the position of its 
legal counsel, and the increase in the amounts involved in 
transactions, the Company and its subsidiaries began to 
record a provision for pIs and CoFIns on credits of interest 
on capital. the total amount accrued as of december 31, 
2008 is r$ 21,943 (r$ 20,665 in 2007).

regarding Ipiranga/refining, the main additional 
contingencies provided for, relate to: (i) requirement for the 
reversal of ICMs credits on transportation services taken 
during the freight reimbursement system established by 
the dnC (currently anp – national petroleum, natural 
Gas and Biofuel agency), r$ 7,256; (b) requirement for 

Company and its subsidiaries reversed previously recorded 
accruals in the amount of r$ 12,759, net of attorney’s fees. 
the Company has other subsidiaries whose lawsuits have not 
yet been decided. If all ongoing lawsuits are finally decided 
in favor of the subsidiaries, the Company estimates that the 
total positive effect on income before income tax and social 
contribution will reach r$ 32,801, net of attorney’s fees.

Based on the favorable jurisprudence and the opinion of its 
legal counsel, the subsidiaries oxiteno nordeste s.a. Indústria 
e Comércio and oxiteno s.a. Indústria e Comércio filed, on 
september 16 and october 1, 2008, respectively, lawsuits to 
obtain preliminary injunctions to exclude export revenues 
from the tax base for social Contribution on profit; such 
preliminary injunctions were denied, and the subsidiaries 
await the outcome of the appeals lodged.

subsidiary utingás armazenadora s.a. is defending itself 
against notices of assessment of service tax (Iss) issued by 
the Municipal Government of santo andré. the position 
of the subsidiary’s legal counsel is that the risk is low since 
a significant portion of the administrative decisions was 
favorable to the subsidiary. the thesis defended by the 
subsidiary is supported by the opinion of a renowned tax 
specialist. the unprovided for contingency, adjusted as of 
december 31, 2008, is r$ 46,916 (r$ 42,861 in 2007).

on october 7, 2005, the subsidiaries Companhia ultragraz s.a. 
and Bahiana distribuidora de Gás Ltda. filed for and obtained 
an injunction to offset pIs and CoFIns credits against other 
taxes administered by the Federal revenue service, notably 
IrpJ and CsLL. the decision was confirmed by a trial court 
judgment on May 16, 2008. under the injunction obtained, 
the subsidiaries have been making judicial deposits for 
these debits in the accumulated amount of r$ 117,679 as of 
december 31, 2008 (r$ 81,207 in 2007) and have recorded a 
corresponding liability.

subsidiaries Companhia ultragaz s.a., utingás armazenadora 
s.a., terminal químico de aratu s.a. - tequimar, transultra 
- armazenamento e transporte especializado Ltda. and 
ultracargo operações Logísticas e participações Ltda. have 
filed actions with a motion for injunction seeking full and 
immediate utilization of the supplementary monetary 
adjustment based on the Consumer price Index (IpC)/national 
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the reversal of ICMs credits, in the state of Minas Gerais, 
on interstate outflows carried under article 33 of ICMs 
Convention 66/88, which allowed maintenance of credits and 
was suspended by an injunction issued by the stF, r$ 28,367; 
(c) assessments for deduction of unconditional discounts from 
the tax base for ICMs due to tax substitution, in the state of 
Minas Gerais, r$ 16,268; (d) litigation on clauses of contracts 
with customers; and (e) claims made by former employees 
and subcontractors on salary allowances.

the main tax contingences of Ipiranga/refining that were 
considered to pose a possible risk of loss relate to ICMs and 
total r$ 147,627, and based on this position, have not been 
provided for in the financial statements, consisting primarily of: 
(a) requirement for the reversal of credits resulting from excess 
taxation on acquisition of products in the petroleum refinery 
under the tax substitution regime; (b) requirement for the 
ICMs on acquisition of basic oils; (c) assessments in the state of 
rio de Janeiro requiring reversal of ICMs credits on interstate 
outflows made under article 33 of ICMs Convention 66/88, 
which allowed maintenance of credits and was suspended by 
an injunction issued by the stF; (d) requirement for the reversal 
of presumed credit on interstate transfers of hydrated fuel 
ethanol in the state of santa Catarina; (e) notices of assessment 

issued in Minas Gerais for alleged miscalculation of the tax 
base for ICMs, since the amount of the tax itself on interstate 
transactions with petroleum byproducts to end consumer was 
not included in such tax base; and (f ) notice of assessment 
regarding transactions for return of anhydrous ethanol loan.

In addition, the subsidiary CBpI and its subsidiaries have tax 
assessments concerning non-homologation of IpI credits 
originated in acquisitions of products whose subsequent 
sales had no taxation. the amount of the unprovided for 
contingency, adjusted as of december 31, 2008, is r$ 40,430 
(r$ 31,186 in 2007).

the Company and its subsidiaries have other pending 
administrative and legal proceedings, which were estimated 
by their legal counsel as possible and/or remote risk, and 
the related potential losses were not provided for by the 
Company and its subsidiaries based on these opinions. the 
Company and its subsidiaries also have litigations for recovery 
of taxes and contributions, which were not recorded in the 
financial statements due to their contingent nature.

Movements in provisions, net of amounts in escrow, are as 
follows:

provisions Balance in 2007 additions Write-offs adjustments Balance in 2008

IrpJ and CsLL 105,605 26,899 (171) 11,324 143,657

pIs and CoFIns 33,570 12,148 (535) 3,595 48,778

ICMs 61,103 293 (865) 2,156 62,687

Inss 2,355 5,931 (746) 561 8,101

Civil litigation 4,505 11 (595) 28 3,949

Labor litigation 13,838 65 (2,551) 18 11,370

others 2,035 2,871 - 726 5,632

(-) amounts in escrow (96,157) (41,183) 1,093 (11,876) (148,123)

Total 126,854 7,035 (4,370) 6,532 136,051

b. Contracts
subsidiary terminal químico de aratu s.a. – tequimar has 
agreements with CodeBa and Complexo Industrial portuário 
Governador eraldo Gueiros in connection with its port 
facilities in aratu and suape, respectively. such agreements 
set a minimum value for cargo movement of 1,000,000 tons 
per year in aratu by 2022 and 250,000 tons per year in suape 
effective through 2027. If the annual movement is less than 

the minimum required, then the subsidiary will have to 
pay the difference between the actual movement and the 
minimum required by the agreements, using the port rates in 
effect at the date established for payment. as of december 31, 
2008, such charges were r$ 4.93 and r$ 3.97 per ton for aratu 
and suape, respectively. the subsidiary has met the minimum 
cargo movement requirements since the beginning of the 
agreements.
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   Minimum purchase commitment  accumulated demand (actual)

  2008 2007 2008 2007

In tons of ethylene 173,005 (*) 180,000 173,049 197,242

(*) adjusted for the maintenance stoppages carried out by Braskem in the period.

subsidiary oxiteno nordeste s.a. Indústria e Comércio has 
a supply agreement with Braskem s.a. setting a minimum 
value for annual consumption of ethylene and establishing 
conditions for the supply of ethylene until 2021. the minimum 
purchase commitment and the actual demand in the fiscal 

on august 1, 2008, the subsidiary oxiteno s.a. Indústria 
e Comércio signed an ethylene supply agreement with 
petroquímica união s.a., valid until 2023, which establishes 
and regulates the conditions for supply of ethylene to oxiteno 
based on the international market for this product. the 
minimum purchase is 19,800 tons of ethylene semiannually. 
In case of breach of the minimum purchase commitment, 
the subsidiary agrees to pay a penalty of 30% of the current 
ethylene price, to the extent of the shortfall.

c. Insurance coverage in subsidiaries
the Company maintains appropriate insurance policies to 
cover several risks to which it is exposed, including asset 
insurance against losses caused by fire, lightning, explosion of 
any kind, gale, aircraft crash, and electric damage, and other 
risks, covering the bases and other branches of all subsidiaries, 
except refining, which maintains its own insurance. the 
maximum compensation value, including Loss of profits, 
based on the risk analysis of maximum loss possible at a 
certain site is us$ 852 million.

the General responsibility Insurance program covers the 
Company and its subsidiaries with a maximum aggregate 
coverage of us$ 400 million against losses caused to third parties 
as a result of accidents related to commercial and industrial 
operations and/or distribution and sales of products and services.

Group Life and personal accident, Health, national and 
International transportation and all risks insurance policies 
are also maintained.

the coverages and limits of the insurance policies maintained 
are based on a careful study of risks and losses conducted 
by local insurance advisors, and the type of insurance is 
considered by Management to be sufficient to cover potential 
losses based on the nature of the business conducted by the 
companies.

d. operating lease contracts
the subsidiaries tropical, sociedade Brasileira de 
participações and serma have operating lease contracts 
for the use of fuel transportation equipment (trucks) and 
computer equipment.

these contracts have terms between 12 and 36 months. 
the subsidiaries have the option to purchase the assets 
at a price equal to the fair price on the date of option, 
and Management does not intend to exercise such 
option.

the future disbursements (installments), assumed under these 
contracts, total approximately:

  2008

up to 1 year 739
More than 1 year 742

  1,481

the total payments of operating lease recognized as expenses 
for the period was r$ 2,219 in 2008.

years ended december 2008 and 2007, expressed in tons of 
ethylene, are shown below. In case of breach of the minimum 
purchase commitment, the subsidiary agrees to pay a penalty 
of 40% of the current ethylene price, to the extent of the 
shortfall.
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23 eMpLoyee BeneFIts and prIVate pensIon pLan 
(ConsoLIdated)

a. uLtrapreV – associação de previdência Complementar
In august 2001, the Company and its subsidiaries (except 
subsidiaries acquired from the Ipiranga Group) began 
to offer a defined-contribution pension plan to its 
employees, which is managed by ultraprev - associação 
de previdência Complementar. under the plan, the basic 
contribution of each participating employee is calculated 
by multiplying a percentage ranging from 0% to 11%, 
which is annually defined by the participant based on his/
her salary. the sponsor companies match the amount 
of the basic contribution paid by the participant. as the 
participants retire, they choose to receive monthly either: 
(i) a percentage, ranging from 0.5% to 1.0%, of the fund 
accumulated for the participant with ultraprev; or (ii) a fixed 
monthly amount that will exhaust the fund accumulated 
for the participant within a period ranging from 5 to 25 
years. thus, the Company and its subsidiaries do not assume 
responsibility for guaranteeing amounts and periods of 
pension benefits. as of december 31, 2008, the Company 
and its subsidiaries contributed r$ 5,421 (r$ 3,469 in 
2007) to ultraprev, which amount is recorded as expense 
in the income statement for the year. the total number 
of employees participating in the plan as of december 
31, 2008 was 7,153 active participants and 19 retired 
participants. In addition, ultraprev had 1 active participant 
and 30 former employees receiving benefits under the 
previous plan whose reserves are fully constituted.

In september 2008, participation of the companies eMCa, 
dppI, CBpI and their subsidiaries in the ultraprev plan was 
approved. thus, from that date, the companies started to 
make contributions to ultraprev and requested the removal 
of sponsorship from Fundação Francisco Martins Bastos.

b. post-employment benefits
Ipiranga/refining recognized a provision for post-
employment benefits related to seniority bonus, payment 
of severance pay Fund, and health and life insurance plan 
for eligible retirees (“fringe benefits”).

Ipiranga/refining’s net liabilities for such benefits recorded 
as of december 31, 2008 are r$ 86,490 (r$ 93,932 in 2007), 
of which r$ 8,768 (r$ 8,768 in 2007) are recorded as current 
liabilities and r$ 77,722 (r$ 85,164 in 2007) as long-term 
liabilities.

the amounts related to such benefits were determined based 
on a valuation conducted by an independent actuary and 
are recorded in the financial statements in accordance with 
resolution CVM 371/2000.

significant actuarial assumptions adopted include:

economic Factors
•	 Discount	rate	for	the	actuarial	obligation	at	present	value	-	

10.24% per annum;
•	 Expected	long-term	rate	of	return	on	assets	-	10.24%	per	

annum;
•	 Average	projected	salary	growth	rate	-	6.08%	per	annum;
•	 Inflation	rate	(long	term)	-	4.0%	per	annum;
•	 Growth	rate	of	medical	services	-	8.16%	per	annum.

demographic factors
•	 Mortality	Table	-	AT	1983	Basic	decreased	by	10%	(*);
•	 Disabled	Mortality	Table	-	RRB	1983;
•	 Disability	Table	-	RRB	1944	modified;
•	 Inflation	rate	(long	term)	-	4.0%	per	annum;
•	 Growth	rate	of	medical	services	-	8.16%	per	annum.

(*) Cso-80 mortality table was used for the life insurance benefit.

24 suBsequent eVent 

on March 6, 2009, subsidiary CBpI contracted a bank credit 
note with Caixa econômica Federal - CeF, in the total amount 
of r$ 500,000,000.00 (five hundred million of reais), with 
a cost of 120% of CdI, for the period of 36 (thirty and six) 
months, with prepayment without penalty, and no principal 
amortization in the first 24 (twenty and four) months, during 
which quarterly interests payments apply, and with monthly 
amortization of principal and interests in the last 12 (twelve) 
months.
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the Fiscal Council (audit Comitee) of ultrapar 
participações s.a., in compliance with legal and statutory 
requirements, has duly examined the Management 
report and Financial statements (company and 
consolidated figures) referring to the fiscal year ended 
december 31, 2008. Based on the examinations carried 
out and taking into account the unqualified report 

issued by the independent auditor KpMG auditores 
Independentes, dated March 11, 2009, the Fiscal Council 
opines that the aforementioned documents, as well as 
the capital budget for 2009 and the proposal for the 
destination of earnings in the period, including the 
distribution of dividends, are in a satisfactory condition 
to be approved at the ordinary General Meeting.

são paulo, March 11, 2009

Flavio César Maia Luz
Member

raul Murgel Braga
Member

Wolfgang eberhard rohrbach
Member

edson pena Júnior
Member

Mario probst
Member

report oF FIsCaL CounCIL oF uLtrapar partICIpações s.a.





Corporate InForMatIon

Ultrapar Participações S.A.
BM&FBovespa: uGpa4 / nyse: uGp

Investor Relations Department
av Brigadeiro Luís antônio 1343 8º andar
são paulo sp 01317-910
phone + 55 11 3177 7014 Fax + 55 11 3177 6107
e-mail: invest@ultra.com.br
www.ultra.com.br

Share Custodian Bank
Banco Itaú s.a.
superintendência de serviços de ações e debêntures
av engenheiro armando de arruda pereira 707 9º andar
são paulo sp 04344-902
phone + 55 11 5029 7780

ADR Depositary
the Bank of new york Mellon
shareholder relations
p.o. Box 11258
Church street station
new york, ny 10286-1258
phone + 1 888 Bny adrs (+ 1 888 269 2377)
phone for international callers 1 201 680 6825
e-mail: shareowner-svcs@bankofny.com

Independent Auditors
KpMG auditores Independentes
rua dr renato paes de Barros 33
são paulo sp 04530-904
phone + 55 11 2183 3000

CredIts – annuaL report 2008

Project Coordination
Investor relations department

Consultancy and Copywriting
FsB Comunicações

Art Direction and Graphic Design Project
designea

Photographs
ana ottoni

Illustration
designea

Translation from Original Portuguese into 
English
Master traduções

Acknowledgments
our deepest thanks to all ultrapar’s employees 
who collaborated in the edition of this 
annual report, especially to those who kindly 
contributed with their photos.

Corporate InForMatIon / CredIts

148 >






